World Maritime University

The Maritime Commons: Digital Repository of the World Maritime University

World Maritime University Ph.D. Dissertations

Dissertations

2023

Assessing the need for harmonized marine debris monitoring and equity to support participation in the Global Plastics Treaty negotiations by Caribbean SIDS

Kristal Ambrose World Maritime University

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.wmu.se/phd_dissertations

Part of the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

This Thesis is brought to you courtesy of Maritime Commons. Open Access items may be downloaded for noncommercial, fair use academic purposes. No items may be hosted on another server or web site without express written permission from the World Maritime University. For more information, please contact library@wmu.se.

Contextual Barriers Facing Caribbean SIDS in the Global Governance of Plastic Pollution

Assessing the need for harmonised marine debris monitoring and contextual equity to support participation in the global plastics treaty negotiations by Caribbean SIDS

WMU RESEARCH REPORT SERIES

No. 27, August 2023

SERIES EDITORS: Maximo Q. Mejia, Jr. Jens-Uwe Schröder-Hinrichs

The aim of the WMU Research Report Series is to publish PhD dissertations, essays, monographs, articles, policy papers, occasional papers, and reports to promote academic research and publication among resident colleagues at the World Maritime University as well as other scholars associated with it. Publications in this series will be published in moderately priced limited editions.

Short excerpts from this publication may be reproduced without authorization, on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation, application should be made to -

The Editors, WMU Research Report Series World Maritime University P.O. Box 500 201 24 Malmö Sweden



Contextual Barriers facing Caribbean SIDS in the Global Governance of Plastic Pollution

Assessing the need for harmonised marine debris monitoring and contextual equity to support participation in the global plastics treaty negotiations by Caribbean SIDS

Kristal Kristene Ambrose The Bahamas

A dissertation submitted to the World Maritime University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Maritime Affairs

> WMU RESEARCH REPORT SERIES No. 27, August 2023

> > WMU Publications

Cover photo by (UNEP; Artist: Benjamin von Wong)

Copyright pp. 1-74 (Kristal Ambrose)

Paper 1 © The Author

Paper 2 © The Authors

Paper 3 © The Authors

Paper 4 [©] by the Author (In Review)

Paper 5 [©] by the Author (Accepted)

The views expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the view or policy of his/her/their employer(s,) organisation(s), WMU Publications, or the World Maritime University. WMU Publications and the Series Editors, while exercising the greatest care in this publication, do not hold themselves responsible for the consequences arising from any inaccuracies therein.

All rights reserved. Except for quotation of short passages for the purposes of criticism and review, no part of this publication may be reproduced without full attribution to the author(s) or the prior written permission of the Publisher.

ISBN 978-91-987473-0-0

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.21677/phd230601

Published in Sweden in 2023 by

WMU PUBLICATIONS PO Box 500 201 24 Malmö, Sweden

Suggested Citation: Ambrose, K. K. (2023). Contextual Barriers facing Caribbean SIDS in the Global Governance of Plastic Pollution: Assessing the need for harmonised marine debris monitoring and contextual equity to support participation in the global plastics treaty negotiations by Caribbean SIDS WMU Publications: Malmö, Sweden.

Dedication

I'd like to dedicate this PhD to those whom I've loved dearly and have unfortunately lost during this PhD journey. The Late Walter 'Ben' Bohl, who awarded me my very first academic scholarship and believed in me with unwavering faith. My Grandfather, the late Cornelius Wilworth Ambrose, who always reminded me who I am, 'An Ambrose', to always take care of myself and to never forget where I came from, always encouraging me to pursue knowledge, "no one can take that away what's in your head". My dearest friend and mentor, the late Cindy Klok-Simmons who encouraged me to pursue my passion at all costs and live life in love and gratitude. My dear friend, the late Keniesha Frankia Delancy, whose enduring love, support, friendship and beautiful smile brought endless joy and laughter to my life on Eleuthera. Lastly, my uncle Ellis, a.k.a Big Youth, I'll stay 'true-true' to who God says I am. Rest well.

To every Bahamian child with a dream, yes you can.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	8
Abstract	10
Abbreviations	12
List of figures	14
List of tables	15
List of papers included in this dissertation	16
1 Research overview	17
1.1 Research rationale	17
1.2 Research contribution	18
2 Introduction	22
2.1 Marine plastic pollution and the need for global intervention	25
2.1.1 Global impacts of plastic pollution	25
2.1.2 The global plastics treaty negotiations	26
2.2 Caribbean SIDS	27
2.3 Marine plastic, Caribbean SIDS and the need for harmonised marine debris monitoring to support policy development	28
3 Theoretical underpinnings and research aims, objectives and questions	30
3.1 Contextual equity in environmental decision making	31
3.2 Collective action, Regime Theory and	
the Governance Analytical Framework	32
3.3 Research aims	36
3.4 Research objectives and questions	36
4 Methodology	37
4.1 Methodology overview	37
4.2 Literature review	37
4.2.1 Document analysis	38
4.3 Microplastics beach survey	39
4.4 Event ethnography and participant observation 4.4.1 Data analysis	41 42

5 Results and discussion45
5.1 Which barriers exist and what needs to be considered to support harmonised monitoring for marine plastic debris, including microplastics, in the marine environment of Caribbean SIDS?
Who are the dominant actors conducting marine debris monitoring within Caribbean SIDS?
5.2 What barriers do Caribbean SIDS face to achieving equitable participation in the INC process, and which key drivers are needed to overcome them?
5.3 How does CARICOM function as a regional coordination mechanism for Caribbean SIDS in multilateral environmental agreements and what are the implications for the INC process?
5.4 Synthesis and application of theoretical framework and research outcomes
6 Conclusions, limitations and future perspectives61
7 References
8 Publications
Appendix77
Appendix 1: Consent forms for participants
Appendix 2: Interview questions for INC-180
Appendix 3: Interview questions for CARICOM Secretariat82

Acknowledgements

And God is able to make all grace abound toward you; that ye, always having all sufficiency in all things, may abound to every good work

2 Corinthians 9:8

Glory be to God and my Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ for the gift of grace that has seen me through this PhD journey. What a journey it has been! From changing my research topic countless times to producing all of my PhD outputs in 90 days (pressure!), it was truly God's grace that not only sustained me but led me to the tailor made PhD programme of my dreams. Pursuing this degree has not been without its sacrifices, as I had to pause my organisation, Bahamas Plastic Movement and take time away from my beloved students for two of the three years of my academic pursuit. Though far from easy, it has been worth the journey as I'll be able to return home having grown spiritually, physically, emotionally and academically; ready to pick up the mantle again and lead the charge towards a Bahamas free of plastic debris.

I would be remiss without acknowledging the love and support of my family, who have always supported me and my academic journeys to date. Especially my parents Bobby and Lanette Ambrose and my siblings Jennie, Lesha and Bob. To my dear friends all around the world, especially in The Bahamas and on the island of Eleuthera and Briland, much love to you all for your unwavering faith and support. To my students, big shout out to the #plasticwarrior crew! I love and miss you all dearly and I am so grateful for all of your support and well-wishes during my time away. I look forward to returning home so that we can do it big like we always do! To my Closing the Circle PhD cohort, my goodness, what a blessing it is to be a part of such an historic team; four powerful Black women from the Caribbean dominating the ocean science space in one place! I've never seen a thing like it. Kristie, Tricia and Roxanne, you all inspire me tremendously through your intelligence, leadership, mothering spirits and genuine support, that you've offered to me and each other. God bless you all. I'm grateful we get to cross the finish line together. Dr H! Also known as Dr Kahlil Hassanali, thank you is an understatement. Somehow you allowed me to rope you into all of my academic and life problems, vet you offered the best guidance. You inspired and shaped the trajectory of my PhD research in a monumental way and your peer leadership and advising has been invaluable, thank you. Extra special thanks goes to dear friends and colleagues, Renis, Deniece, Jose, Sarah, Luciana, Zaidy, Andrei, Peyman, Ajay, Bikram, Natalia, Marie, Adrianna, Adonis, and Anas. Big ups to the Caribbean Crew Carlita, Deron, Randy, Jace, Charles, Kaylon and Mrs. Maria, our Caribbean Godmother who kept us fed. Thank you to my fellow Bahamians Larez and Juli, my bro Michael "Mike Dawg" Bowleg and Lindy Knowles, who have supported me every step of

the way and my dear friend Breanne Whylly for her love, support, prayers and faith in my success.

My sincerest gratitude is extended to my dearest supervisors Professor Aleke Stofen-O'Brien and Professor Clive Schofield who helped me to navigate the joys and perils of this degree by offering enduring love, support and guidance. I truly appreciate you both. To our WMU President Dr Cleopatra Doumbia-Henry, thank you for being such a great role model and for honouring and acknowledging me in the many loving and supportive ways that you did. Professor Ronan Long, thank you so much for championing for me and seeing my capabilities even when I couldn't. Special thanks is extended to Professor Michael Manuel for his invaluable guidance. To the World Maritime University (WMU)-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute dream team—Elnaz, Jill (former), Flora, Flavia, Mercedes, Linda (Former), Dorothee-where would I be without your love and orchestration, thank you! To my PAC members—Professor Francis Neat and Professor Johan Hollander—thank you for your support and guidance offered. Big shout out to the World Bistro for the most exquisite meals and the best team around. Gratitude is also extended to all the study participants who graciously supported this work and to Professor Tony Walker who has served as a dear friend, mentor, collaborator and former supervisor. To my Hillsong Church family and community, thank you for covering me in your prayers and for all of your well wishes, especially Daniel, Abigail, Shari, Casper, George, Modi, Rodrigo, Jessica and many others.

Last but not least, I would like to acknowledge the generous funding provided by The Nippon Foundation to establish the WMU-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute's 'Closing the Circle Programme: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning' in the Eastern Caribbean. Thank you for making my dreams a reality and supporting capacity building for the Caribbean region.

Abstract

This research addresses the challenge of marine plastic pollution with particular reference to Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS). Marine plastic pollution is of particular significance to these states since they suffer from a disproportionate incidence of plastic pollution on their coasts. In line with the region's need to protect its marine environment and subsequently its economy from the grave impacts of plastic pollution, this work assesses marine debris monitoring within Caribbean SIDS, and the barriers faced and considerations needed for unified monitoring efforts that support policy development. Additionally, the research examines microplastics on the beaches of Caribbean SIDS, and highlights concerns over scientific research on this issue being conducted by and often retained by extraregional research teams and institutions.

The research further recognises that the United Nations (UN) member states are currently engaged in historic negotiations to develop an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) to end plastic pollution, including in the marine environment. It is hoped and anticipated that this ambitious process of intergovernmental negotiations will lead to an ILBI, informally known as the "global plastics treaty" (note that ILBI and global plastics treaty are used interchangeably henceforth). It is intended that this instrument will comprehensively address the full life cycle of plastics from production to disposal. The ILBI is set to be achieved through five Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC) meetings to negotiate the specifics of the treaty between 2022 and 2024. Caribbean SIDS are disproportionately affected by the transboundary nature of plastic pollution and face challenges in equitably participating in the global plastics treaty negotiations.

Through the lens of collective action to support the development of the global plastics treaty, this thesis explores the gaps and limitations experienced by Caribbean SIDS in their ability to coordinate and participate in the negotiations and also explores their ability to ascertain localised scientific data that supports negotiating positions. This work assesses key barriers hindering the equitable participation of Caribbean SIDS in the INC meetings in real time, and proposes applicable solutions. Additionally, it contributes novel information to discourse on contextual equity in environmental decision making by providing a framework to identify key factors needed by Caribbean SIDS to foster equity throughout the entirety of the INC process. Moreover, this work illustrates the importance of how relevant scientific research, equitable processes for participation in environmental agreements can bolster efficacy for Caribbean SIDS participating in the global plastic treaty negotiations.

This thesis applies both natural and social science methodologies, along with event ethnography, participant observations, extensive reading of primary, secondary and grey literature, document analysis, interviews, informal conversations, webinars and participation in the INC-1 meeting.

Keywords: Caribbean, Small Island Developing States, Global Plastics Treaty, Marine Debris Monitoring, Negotiations, Equity, United Nations, CARICOM, Capacity Building

Abbreviations

ACS	Association of Caribbean States
AO	Atlantic Ocean
AOSIS	Association of Small Island States
BB	Bahamas Bank
BBNJ	Biodiversity of areas Beyond National Jurisdiction Agreement
CARICOM	Caribbean Community
COP 15	15th Conference of the Parties United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity
COP 27	27th United Nations Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
ES	Exuma Sound
GAF	Governance analytical framework
GDP	Gross domestic product
GRULAC	Group of Latin America and Caribbean Countries
HOG	Heads of government
ILBI	International legally binding instrument
INC	Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee
INC-1	First Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee Meeting
LOP	List of Participants
MEA	Multilateral environmental agreement
NGO	Non-governmental organization
OECS	Organization of Eastern Caribbean States
OECS	Organization of Eastern Caribbean States
OEWG	Open Ended Working Group
OEWG-1	First Open Ended Working Group Meeting
POPS	Persistent Organic Pollutants
RAP-MaLi	Regional Action Plan on Marine Litter

SICA	Central American Integration System
SIDS	Small island developing states
UN	United Nations
UNCBD	United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity
UNEA	United Nations Environment Assembly
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNEP-CEP	United Nations Environment Programme – Caribbean Environment Programme
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
WCR	Wider Caribbean Region

List of figures

Figure 1 Areas of need for Caribbean SIDS at	
varying negotiation access points	20
Figure 2 Map of Caribbean SIDS and CARICOM member states	24
Figure 3 INC meetings timeline	26
Figure 4 Conceptual Framework for assessing the barriers facing Caribbean SIDS in the collective action of building a regime for plastic pollution	22
Figure 5 Governance Analytical Framework	33
Figure 6 Governance Analytical Framework for Caribbean SIDS participating in INC-1	35
Figure 7 Microplastic and mesoplastic debris survey area	40
Figure 8 Marine debris monitoring protocols used within the Wider Caribbean Region, including Caribbean SIDS	48
Figure 9 Framework for key drivers needed for achieving equity in preparation, participation and future implementation of a global plastics treaty for Caribbean SIDS	53
Figure 10 Commonalities in contextual barriers faced within thematic areas of research and relevant phases of the MEA negotiation phases	59
Figure 11 Injection of research tiers and capacity building into MEA negotiation process	63

List of tables

Table 1 Semi-structured interview study participants	.42
Table 2 Code categories identified from semi-structured interviews with participants of OEWG-1 and INC-1. The codes are presented in alphabetical order along with their frequency	.43
Table 3 Code categories identified from semi-structured interview with CARICOM Secretariat. The codes are presented in alphabetical order along with their frequency.	44
Table 4 Interlinkages between research objectives, questions and papers	.46

List of papers included in this dissertation

Paper 1:

Ambrose, K. K. (2021). Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region: Identifying strategic pathways forward. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 171, 112767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112767

Paper 2:

Ambrose, K.K. and Walker, T.R. (2023). Identifying opportunities for harmonised microplastics and mesoplastics monitoring for Caribbean Small Island Developing States using a spatiotemporal assessment of beaches in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 115140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2023.115140

Paper 3:

Stöfen-O'Brien, A., Ambrose, K. K., Alleyne, K. S., Lovell, T. A. and Graham, R. E. (2022). Parachute science through a regional lens: marine litter research in the Caribbean Small Island Developing States and the challenge of extra-regional research. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 174, 113291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.113291

Paper 4:

Ambrose, K.K. (2023). Assessing and Addressing Contextual Equity: A Framework for Key Drivers Needed by Caribbean Small Island Developing States to Achieve Contextual Equity in the Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations (In review). Frontiers in Marine Science

Paper 5:

Ambrose, K.K. (2023). The Caribbean Community (CARICOM) as the Coordination Mechanism For Caribbean Small Island Developing States Participating in The Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations? (Accepted). Ocean Yearbook

1 Research overview

1.1 Research rationale

Initially, this research focused solely on the need for adequate, coordinated, monitoring methodologies for marine debris in the Wider Caribbean Region (WCR) to support management strategies for marine debris on Caribbean beaches. Experiencing the first hand effects of marine plastic pollution on the shorelines of The Bahamas served as a driving force of this work. This led to the realisation that monitoring was an under-appreciated dimension of addressing the problem of plastic pollution. However, in light of the historic and progressive step towards the development of a legally binding instrument to govern global plastic pollution, the candidate's research focus shifted, due to the significance that this process may have for Caribbean SIDS. Given the limited resources and capacity to address marine plastic pollution among Caribbean SIDS, the choice was made to understand the key barriers hindering their equitable participation in the INC meetings from a contextual perspective. Within this context, the idea of contextual needs is defined by the set of circumstances needed to participate in a particular event or situation, Here, it can be observed that monitoring of marine debris remains crucial to informing the negotiating positions of delegates to the INCs from Caribbean SIDS.

Bearing in mind United Nation Environment Assembly (UNEA) Resolution 5/14, this research was further shaped by its recognition of the need to strengthen scientific, technical and technological knowledge with regard to plastic pollution, including in the marine environment, on methodologies for monitoring. As such, this research uses science as an entry point to assess the science-policy interface required by Caribbean SIDS to formulate their negotiating positions for the development of the global plastics treaty. Further, it creates a pathway to explore possible contextual barriers affecting Caribbean SIDS participation early on in the INC negotiation process. Though it is intended that the treaty will address the full life cycle of plastics from production to disposal, the monitoring aspect of this research focuses on the existing marine pollution, which is an indicator for leakages and failure in the plastic pollution management system. However, the outcomes of this research remain applicable to monitoring needs outside the marine environment. For example, it calls attention to the need for monitoring that encompasses plastic production, use and disposal within Caribbean SIDS. As monitoring and evaluation

play a key role in both the development and measurement of success for a treaty, understanding the limitations and challenges faced by various actors involved in the treaty formulation process must be considered as part of the pursuit of global governance for plastic pollution.

1.2 Research contribution

During the fifth session of the UN Environment Assembly (UNEA) (UNEA-5.2) (March 2022), United Nations member states, including all Caribbean SIDS, adopted Resolution 5/14 *End plastic pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument* (ILBI) (UNEA 5/14), which is intended to combat plastic pollution with a global and legally binding plastics treaty by 2024 (Bergman et. al, 2022; WWF, 2022, UNEP, 2022). Informally known as the "Global Plastics Treaty", this instrument is designed to comprehensively address the full life cycle of plastic, potentially from production to disposal (UNEP, 2022; WWF, 2022).

The need to protect the marine environment from sea-based and land-based sources of pollution, including plastic, has been long recognised by Caribbean SIDS that are parties to international instruments aimed at mitigating its effects. For example, nearly 95 per cent of Caribbean SIDS have ratified Annex V of the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL), which is intended to eliminate and reduce the amount of refuse and waste being discharged into the sea from ships (IMO, 1978; Ecolex, 2023; Serra-Gonçalves et al., 2023). Similarly, the Cartagena Convention, a regional legal agreement for the protection of the Caribbean Sea, was adopted in 1983 with technical agreements including, but not limited to, protocols for combating oil spills in the WCR and pollution from land-based sources and activities (UNEP, 2023a). All Caribbean SIDS ratified either parts or all protocols of the Cartagena Convention (UNEP, 2023a).

However, despite this State practice with regard to intergovernmental agreements related to preventing pollution of the marine environment, there is limited literature engaging with the crucial issue of how actors from Caribbean SIDS prepare for and participate in these multilateral environmental agreement negotiations. To some degree, an academic discourse on Caribbean SIDS engagement and participation in the Biodiversity of areas Beyond National Jurisdiction Agreement (BBNJ) has emerged, albeit from a very small pool of researchers (Hassanali, 2022a; Hassanali; 2022b). Consequently, a significant research gap exists, particularly with regard to detailed understanding of the drivers required by Caribbean SIDS to support effective preparation, participation and future implementation of an ILBI.

Bearing this research lacunae in mind, and recognising the potential implications for plastic pollution, especially marine plastic pollution, to be managed through an

ILBI, this research primarily addresses Caribbean SIDS' preparation for and participation in the ongoing INC negotiations to develop an ILBI on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment. During these negotiations Caribbean SIDS have the opportunity to shape the development of this new global treaty. In particular, this negotiations process offers a chance for Caribbean SIDS to address specific challenges they face due to plastic pollution in an effort to derive the benefits of improved environmental governance of plastic pollution at national and regional levels (Hassanali, 2022b; UNEP, 2023b). This may arguably also affect the effectiveness of these agreements.

The present research is both timely and urgent in character. It is intended to provide a new academic and knowledge contribution to this little studied and researched academic field. The research will also contribute to general equity questions in international relations and law. Chasek (1997), defined and summarised the six phases of multilateral environmental agreement (MEA) negotiations into:

- a) **Precipants** serve as events that bring a particular environmental problem to the attention of the international community. In this case UNEA 5.2, which produced Resolution 5/14
- b) **Issue definition,** where government delegates and/or scientists and other technical experts work together to define the nature of the problem
- c) **Statement of initial positions**, where governments state their initial positions with regard to the environmental problem at hand, its causes and effects, and possible solutions, and start to form coalitions
- d) **Drafting/formula building**, where delegates begin to forge consensus on the nature and provisions of the basic agreement.
- e) **Final bargaining and details**, where governments work out the final, often contentious, details of the agreement.
- f) **Ratification/implementation**, which takes place after the agreement has been adopted.

Through an examination of the phases of the MEA process as outlined by Chasek (1997), this work is intended to strategically identify areas of need at specific access points within the negotiations where Caribbean SIDS may experience challenges to equitable participation, based on the requirements of each negotiation phase (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Areas of need for Caribbean SIDS at varying negotiation access points (Source: the author; Chasek, 1997)

The novelty of this work is that it provides an analysis of the state of marine debris monitoring within Caribbean SIDS, summarised in **Paper's 1, 2 and 3.** Additionally, it provides a foundational framework, included in **Paper 4**, which allows for the observation, documentation, assessment and measurement of the current state and trajectory of Caribbean SIDS participating in the INCs. Lastly, in **Paper 5** it examines the role of CARICOM as a potential coordination mechanism for Caribbean SIDS preparing for the INCs. Moreover, this research approach can be applied to various MEA processes for both developed and developing countries. Similarly, the nature of this framework may be applied to the ongoing INC process to test research outcomes to verify its influence on either improving, reducing or eliminating barriers facing Caribbean SIDS in MEA processes. Based on Hufty (2008), requirements for scientific research to be utilised to support governance must have a defined objective and propose a methodology. The criteria below detail the character and contributions of this research (Hufty, 2008):

- a) Added value: provides data on experiences and challenges facing Caribbean delegates, relevant stakeholders and regional organizations participating in the INCs while offering pathways for overcoming the barriers faced
- b) Scientific character: The work is verifiable through the peer reviewed methodologies applied and theoretical underpinnings which allow for the work to be tested and reproduced through the multidisciplinary approach adopted, which encompasses social science and natural science, coupled with elements drawn from political science and international relations and law.

c) **Operationality:** The methodology applied in this work developed a course of action that identified problems while also offering opportunities for the methodology to be utilised, modified and/or expanded by non-specialists.

2 Introduction

Plastic's pervasive existence as a pollutant has become a cause of global concern due to its ubiquitous character but, in particular, as a result of its adverse effects on marine organisms, ecosystems, economies and human health (Derraik, 2002; Kershaw, 2016; Villarubia-Gómez et al., 2018). Within Caribbean SIDS, the impact of plastic pollution on the marine environment is relatively understudied and the research that does occur on this issue is predominantly conducted by extra-regional scientists and organisations, and seldomly shared with the governments of Caribbean SIDS (Stofen-O'Brien et al., 2022).

Caribbean SIDS comprise 16 countries, [here defined as including Antigua and Barbuda, The Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Cuba, Dominica, the Dominican Republic, Grenada, Guyana, Haiti, Jamaica, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, and Trinidad and Tobago] (Figure 2). These countries experience similarities in their ecology, culture and economic reliance on tourism and ocean-based industries (United Nations, 2021; Diez et al., 2019; Stofen-O'Brien et al., 2022). For example, tourism accounts for 70-80 per cent of the gross domestic product (GDP) of most Caribbean SIDS, with projections expected to increase, further driving up pressures on the marine environment while maintaining expectations of clean, healthy oceans to support revenue generation (Diez et al., 2019).

Caribbean SIDS are disproportionately affected by marine debris as a consequence of the transboundary nature of the problem, meaning that they receive far more marine debris than they produce or consume (Lachmann et al., 2017). It has been observed that this challenge requires interventions at global, regional and local levels to support management in the region (Lachmann et al., 2017; Ambrose et al., 2019). For example, at a fundamental level, there is currently no coordinated and harmonised approach to marine debris monitoring that could form a baseline understanding of the pathways, sources and distribution of marine debris in the region. Such an approach could support management efforts by providing the scientific base to inform the formulation of policies (Lovett et al., 2007). However, Caribbean SIDS currently lack adequate harmonised and standardised scientific protocols for unified marine debris monitoring in their marine environment (Ambrose, 2021). Increasing trends in the production of plastics and the pollution of the marine environment have led to a unified call by states, civil society, academia, policy makers and non-governmental organisations (NGOs), among others, for the development of a global plastics treaty to address plastic pollution (Eriksen et al, 2014; Geyer et al., 2017; UNEP 2022; WWF, 2022). The global plastics treaty negotiations, to create an ILBI to end plastic pollution, including in the marine environment began in November 2022 (UNEP, 2022).

Caribbean SIDS face multiple, inter-related challenges that tend to reduce their opportunities to equitably participate in multilateral environmental decision-making processes, such as the global plastics treaty negotiations, due to their varying capabilities and resources, inclusive of financial and human capacity (Campbell et al., 2021; Hassanali, 2022a). Capacity building is often proposed as the answer in this context. (Harden-Davies et al., 2022a; Hassanali, 2022a; Hassanli, 2022b). Here, it is important to note that capacity building is a broad term, the definition of which requires framing based on the context in which it is used in (Harden-Davies et al., 2022a). Generally, it can be defined as "the process by which individuals and organisations obtain, strengthen, and maintain the capabilities to set and achieve their own development objectives over time" (UNESCO-IOC 2021; Harden-Davies et al., 2022a). Perpetual gaps in capacity can limit or constrain the Caribbean SIDS from realising their full potential to support global goals and policy development for plastic pollution (Polejack and Coelho, 2021; UNESCO-IOC 2021; Harden-Davies et al., 2022a). Here, capacity is defined as the required capabilities Caribbean SIDS must possess to participate in the plastic treaty negotiations-and subsequently its implementation—effectively and equitably.

Themes of equity are commonplace in environmental negotiations and can aid in identifying fair compromises given the collective interests and capacities of all players (Ashton and Wang, 2003). Such negotiations tend to prioritise distributive equity, which considers the distribution of costs, risks and benefits of the particular environmental issue or issues being discussed, while overlooking procedural equity. The latter concept concerns the involvement of all stakeholders-including indigenous communities and marginalised groups such as women and youth-and their right to participate in the decision-making process (McDermott et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2014; Law et al., 2018; Hass et al., 2019; Campbell et al., 2021; Ruoso and Plant, 2021). In contrast, contextual equity, which is the focus of this work with respect to equity issues, refers to equity in access and calls attention to pre-existing imbalances in the form of financial resources, political power, human capacity, and negotiating skills, issues which tend to create an unlevel playing field for participants in the decision-making process (Martin et al., 2014; Law et al., 2017; Hass et al., 2019). This arm of equity has received little attention or research priority as most equity arguments are focused on distributive or procedural equity (Friedman et al., 2018). Yet, contextual equity serves as the gateway to achieving all dimensions of equity within environmental decision making (Hass et al., 2019).

With limited information on how Caribbean SIDS prepare and participate in MEA negotiations, this study fills a significant lacunae in knowledge by aiming to identify, understand and develop a framework of key drivers needed to support equitable participation for Caribbean SIDS in the development of a global plastics treaty. This work also addresses the role of science through marine debris monitoring of macro and microplastics on beaches within Caribbean SIDS; equity, through the identification of barriers impeding equitable participation in the negotiations, and the role of a coordination mechanism for Caribbean SIDS to bolstering equitable participation.



Figure 2 Map of Caribbean SIDS and CARICOM member states (Source: the author)

2.1 Marine plastic pollution and the need for global intervention

2.1.1 Global impacts of plastic pollution

Marine debris is predominantly composed of plastic pollution (Derraik, 2002). Consequently this form of pollution is hereafter referred to as marine plastics or marine litter. Marine plastics have been classified as one of the most ubiquitous and rapidly growing pollutants along all marine environments of the world (Beamount et al., 2019; Pierdomenico et al., 2019; Buitrago et al., 2020). The harmful effects of marine plastics, notably on marine organisms and human health, have been far reaching and have generated substantial global attention (Gall & Thompson, 2015). Of particular concern from a marine environmental perspective, with respect to interactions between marine debris and marine organisms, 92 per cent involved plastic (Gall & Thompson, 2015), negatively affecting 2,110 species, including 40 per cent of mammal species, 100 per cent of sea turtles, and 46 per cent of bird species (Worm et al., 2017; Litterbase, 2018, Ambrose et al., 2019).

An estimated 4.8-12.7 million tonnes of plastics entered the oceans in 2010, mainly from rapidly developing coastal countries (Jambeck et al., 2015; Gever et al., 2017). Once afloat in the ocean, buoyant plastic debris further accumulates into oceanic zones known as subtropical gyres (Lebreton et al., 2012; Eriksen et al., 2013). Eriksen et al., (2014), measured 5.25 trillion particles afloat in all five subtropical gyres. More recently, it has been calculated that globally this number has reached 170 trillion plastic particles, mainly microplastics (<5mm) (Eriksen et al., 2023). Microplastics, categorised as primary (purposely produced industrialised plastic pellets or microbeads) or secondary (ultraviolet (UV) fragmentation and degradation of larger plastics in the environment), contain chemicals incorporated during its production along with persistent organic pollutants (POPS) that are absorbed from the seawater (Andrady, 2011; GESAMP, 2015). As this presents avenues for harmful toxins to enter the marine and human food web through plastic ingestion, scientists are concerned with understanding the implications of marine plastics for human and marine health (Andrady, 2011, Xanthos and Walker, 2017). Further, marine plastic pollution also has economic effects, through costs associated with loss and damages, including costs in terms of public health, clean up and losses in tourism revenues which have been estimated to be US\$13 billion per year (Ravnaud, 2014; Hardesty et al., 2015; Xanthos and Walker, 2017). The amalgamation of the ecological, economic and human health effects of marine plastic pollution has driven the contemporary need for urgent action and solutions at the global level.

2.1.2 The global plastics treaty negotiations

During the fifth session of the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA) (UNEA 5.2), in March 2022, Resolution 5/14 End Plastic Pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) (UNEA 5/14) was adopted by 175 United Nations member states. The resolution proposed that an INC be convened to develop the text of an ILBI on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment (Stöfen-O'Brien, 2022). Unofficially—but frequently—termed the "global plastics treaty", the ILBI is intended to inclusively address the full life cycle of plastic from production to disposal through five INC sessions intended to build the specifics of the treaty between 2022 and 2024 (UNEP, 2022, WWF, 2022).



Figure 3 INC meetings timeline (Source: Geneva Environment Network)

The landmark decision through UNEA 5/14 to develop an ILBI to end plastic pollution, including in the marine environment, has the potential to fill the global governance gaps that arise from the fragmented character of structures for global management of plastic pollution. It is especially notable that accountability is currently absent in relation to the effects of transboundary marine plastics (Hugo, 2018). Resolution 5/14 established an ad-hoc open ended working group (OEWG) and INC meetings, composed of United Nations member states, to host five INC sessions to negotiate on material and procedural obligations contained in the treaty, with negotiations set to conclude in a meeting of plenipotentiaries in early 2025

(UNEP, 2022; WWF, 2022; UNEA 5/14) (Fig. 3). The Resolution indicates that participation in the OEWGs and the INCs should be open to all member states of the United States and members of its specialised agencies, regional economic integration organisations, as well as relevant stakeholders (UNEA 5/14, 2022).

In principle, all United Nations member states, inclusive of SIDS, have the right to access the negotiating forum to have their voices and positions heard. However, international environmental negotiations and current United Nations structures have been deemed highly inequitable by scholars, who have pointed out that its institutional architecture systematically obstructs progress towards the development and implementation of international environmental policies (Schroeder et al., 2012; Heyward, 2007). This includes a certain degree of inequity in environmental treaty making, where developed countries are more equipped than less-developed states to negotiate more favourable outcomes due to the considerable disparities in resources and power dynamics (Takamura, 2003; Penetrante, 2011; Heyward, 2007). This study engages with the inequities faced by Caribbean SIDS in the context of negotiations towards a global plastics treaty by assessing how equity is experienced through their participation in the first Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee Meeting (INC-1). Further, the research identifies the need for harmonised marine debris monitoring to support decision making in addition to the key drivers needed to support the equitable participation of Caribbean SIDS in the development of the global plastics treaty.

2.2 Caribbean SIDS

SIDS are a distinct group of countries representing the geographical areas of the Caribbean, the Atlantic, the Indian Ocean and the Pacific, who experience unique social, economic and environmental vulnerabilities and challenges (United Nations, 2021; United Nations, 2023). Based on their predominantly remote geography, SIDS face varying challenges in their reliance on imports of goods and services and their vulnerability to economic effects that may be associated with ecosystem damages, biodiversity loss and climate change impacts (United Nations, 2023).

The Caribbean Sea is considered to be the most geographically and oceanographically secluded tropical ocean on the planet, and is an important global hotspot of marine biodiversity within its Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem (CLME) (Jackson et al., 2014; Diez et al., 2019; Kanhai et al., 2022). The Caribbean states have long been recognised as being particularly at risk to climate change, and within recent times have experienced increases in the effects of plastic pollution (Lachmann et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2020).

2.3 Marine plastic, Caribbean SIDS and the need for harmonised marine debris monitoring to support policy development

Marine plastic debris, also referred to as marine litter henceforth, is transported to and accumulates on Caribbean coastlines by way of the great Ocean Conveyor current and currents associated with the North Atlantic subtropical gyre (Law et al., 2010; Ambrose et al., 2019; Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute, 2020; Clayton et al., 2020). Caribbean SIDS' adjacency to currents and subtropical gyres—coupled with limited waste management infrastructure and the substantial dependence of these states on imported goods—creates a multifaceted pollution problem, necessarily requiring multifaceted responses and solutions (Starkey, 2017; Ambrose et al., 2019).

This creates an increasing threat as marine macroplastics (>25mm), mesoplastics (5-25mm) and microplastics (<5mm), afloat at the sea surface are deposited on shorelines, which capture most of the floating material (Lebreton et al., 2019). These materials are naturally sorted within coastal environments, converting beaches in Caribbean SIDS to sinks for marine plastics with concentrations nearly three times the global average, given the transboundary nature of plastic debris (Diez et al., 2019). For island nations such as Caribbean SIDS which, as noted above, are heavily reliant on ocean-based tourism, excessive streams of marine plastics threaten to compromise over 37 tourism dependent economies (Diez et al., 2019). Indeed, this has already translated into an estimated annual economic deficit of US\$350-870 million across the region (Diez et al., 2019).

Developing a standardised marine debris monitoring programme for Caribbean SIDS, is a critical step for building regional scientific capacity to develop and evaluate management and policy interventions, including the global plastics treaty (Lovett et al., 2007). Current monitoring efforts for marine plastic debris on beaches in Caribbean SIDS do not accurately reflect the urgency of the threats associated with marine plastic pollution. This creates disparities in unified information, which is required to address these issues at national, regional and global scales (Serra-Gonçalves et al, 2019). For instance, regional instruments like the Cartagena Convention (1983)-developed to reduce land-based sources of marine pollution, including plastics—have been adopted to mitigate the effects of marine debris within Caribbean SIDS. However, this instrument lacks a basis for ongoing marine debris monitoring (UNEP, 2020). Similarly, the 2014 Regional Action Plan for Marine Litter (RAPMaLi) for the WCR was developed in response to the increased concerns of marine debris, and listed marine debris monitoring and research as a primary action category but only offered examples of individual monitoring events with limited opportunities for replication or regional expansion (UNEP-CEP, 2014). SIDS are a focal point for the application of important global ocean targets such as the United Nations Decade of Ocean Science, which include identification and monitoring of ocean and land-based pollution sources (Ryabinin et al., 2019). This strategic focus can support the initiation and implementation of sustainable monitoring data gathering systems that can support informed science-based decision making (Ryabinin et al., 2019).

The creation of empirical monitoring data sets for marine plastic debris in Caribbean SIDS can drive management and policy implementation using data that are comparable and robust in terms of various research elements. However, as outlined in Paper 1 of this study, this requires standardisation of sampling methodology and reporting metrics to broaden the understanding of marine plastic dispersal, accumulation, composition and abundance on beaches within Caribbean SIDS with an intent to utilise data to support national, regional and global management of marine plastic pollution. (Vetger et al., 2014; Serra-Gonçalves, et al., 2019; Ambrose, 2021).

3 Theoretical underpinnings and research aims, objectives and questions

The detrimental effects of plastic pollution create a multifaceted governance problem, requiring collective action at global, regional and national levels to develop effective management strategies (Cho, 2005). The formulation of a global plastics treaty agreement is the beginning of a regime that encompasses the development of a MEA among United Nations member states with the aim of addressing this problem and regulating global actions that address plastic pollution (Haggard and Simmons, 1987). This research is theoretically underpinned by the multidisciplinary aspects of Collective Action Theory, Regime Theory and a Governance Analytical Framework (GAF), which encompass elements of governance, social science and international law. Together, these are intertwined to frame and analyse the state of global collective action on plastic pollution while investigating and unveiling barriers inhibiting Caribbean SIDS from equitably participating in these actions.

This study is framed by the definition of governance, understood as the processes of interactions between the actors involved in a collective issue that lead to the development of a regime (Hufty, 2008). In this context, this work is using the collective action process for building the global plastics treaty as its focus and governance frame. This framework will aid in distinguishing between generalisations of inequities facing Caribbean SIDS within collective decision making for the environment by identifying exactly what they are and the areas in which they occur within the MEA process (Schroder et al., 2012; Hassanali, 2022a). The study is underpinned by empirical observations made and data collected on Caribbean SIDS' participation in the collective decision-making process on plastic pollution during INC-1.

3.1 Contextual equity in environmental decision making

Broadly defined as fair or just, equity is a moral ideal that accounts for meeting the unique needs of individuals or groups to achieve a particular goal or to eliminate barriers that restrict equal opportunities (Heyward 2007, Law et al., 2017). Within environmental decision making, there are various dimensions to equity that facilitate inclusion, access to resources and distribution of environmental benefits and burdens (McDermott et al., 2012). Four dimensions of equity within environmental decision making have been identified and conceptualised in the literature with each playing an intrinsic role in the development, negotiation and implementation of an ILBI. Each dimension of equity has been summarized below based on the following literature:-Young 2011; McDermott et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2014; Law et al., 2017; Hass et al., 2019; Dawson et al., 2018; Campbell et al., 2021; UNEP, 2021; and Ruoso and Plant, 2021.

Procedural equity is concerned with the involvement of all stakeholders, including indigenous communities and marginalised groups such as women and youth, and their right to participate in the decision-making process. *Recognitional* equity accounts for the inclusion of diverse and traditional knowledge, values and norms of various stakeholders and their application and integration into the design and implementation of an ILBI. *Distributive* equity considers the distribution of costs, risks and benefits among stakeholders within environmental decision making, while *contextual* equity refers to equity in access and accounts for how pre-existing political, social, cultural and historical factors may hinder various groups from equitably participating in environmental decision-making processes.

As outlined by Heyward (2007), a key principle of equity within environmental decision making specific to the actors—in this case United Nations member states involved in the decision-making process—is the principle of capacity. The concept of capacity as it relates to equity within environmental decision making recognises the considerable differences in countries' capabilities to address global environmental issues on the basis of:

- a) **Economic situation and resource availability:** addressing an environmental problem on the basis of economic and resource capabilities
- b) **Basic needs:** addressing an environmental issue on the basis that the basic needs of developing countries are a primary concern
- c) **Domestic constraints:** actors' capacity to address an environmental issue while taking into account domestic constraints on action
- d) **Opportunities:** actors' capacity to address environmental issues should take into account the relative availability of cost-effective opportunities to do so

Varying factors, such as wealth, science and technology, skills and information, infrastructure and competing domestic pressures and interests can impede a country's ability to participate in and/or implement an MEA (Heyward, 2007). The issue of capacity is directly linked to the dimension of contextual equity, which provides the theoretical underpinnings for this research. The exploration of contextual equity and contextual factors and its interaction within environmental decision making is particularly relevant, as understanding prevailing structural conditions within a society is crucial for the outcome of political interventions (Friedman et al., 2018; Law et al., 2018; Hass et al., 2019). For Caribbean SIDS participating in the INC process, it is crucial to understand factors that enable or constrain their achievement of equity by evaluating their experiences with contextual equity during the initial phases of the INCs (Law et al., 2017).

3.2 Collective action, Regime Theory and the Governance Analytical Framework

Collective action has been defined as a shared interest by a group of people involving a common action that favours the pursuit of a shared interest (Ostrom, 2010). For example, in the context of the present study, this can be understood as collective action aimed at protecting the oceans from plastic pollution (Ostrom, 2010; Graham et al., 2019). This approach demands recognition of the interaction between interested groups and the opportunities afforded to them, in addition to examining the role of organisational structures and how they facilitate behaviours that promote collective action (Flanigan et al., 2006). It also seeks to understand how individuals or actors with shared interests coordinate their efforts with a view to attaining a common goal that is dependent on the efforts of other individuals (Flanigan et al., 2006).

This study also uses a conceptual framework adapted from Ayre (2017)—collective action for adaptive governance—and applies elements of Hufty's (2008) GAF. Accordingly, this work conceptualises collective action for plastic pollution based on the requirement of relevant scientific research: for example, assessing the state of Caribbean SIDS scientific capacity for conducting harmonised monitoring. Here, science has a dual function, which is to inform and measure a plan of action. (Figure 4). In this case, the key actors are United Nations member states participating in the INC negotiations towards agreement and implementation of the ILBI to end plastic pollution.



Figure 4 Conceptual Framework for assessing the barriers facing Caribbean SIDS in the collective action of building a regime for plastic pollution

(Source: the author; adapted from Hufty (2008), Governance Analytical Framework and Ayre and Nettle (2017), Conceptual Framework for Collective Action)

Regime theory seeks to explain the dynamics between states and the norms, rules and decision-making processes in which actors' expectations are merged within a given area of international relations (Bradford, 2007). The utilisation of regime theory with regard to the development of the global plastics treaty focuses on agenda setting, regime design and regime operation (Young, 1999). This work is intended to examine what can be referred to as the 'outer boundaries' of establishing an equitable regime, in this case the global plastic treaty, by assessing which barriers impede the preparations for and participation in the development of the regime as faced by Caribbean SIDS. As such, this work will not focus on the inner workings of the treaty, such as its content and obligations, but instead will identify factors inhibiting participation in its formulation. Here, dimensions of regime theory are combined with aspects of the GAF developed by Hufty (2008). As governance processes for participating in forums such as the INCs vary between actors, for example, between developed and developing states (Takamura, 2003; Penetrante, 2011; Heyward, 2007), the GAF provides a methodological analysis that systematises the complexities within the processes for formulating and implementing collective decisions (Hufty, 2008; Allen et al., 2021; Díaz-Castro et al., 2022). The GAF consists of five analytical categories: the problem; the actors; the nodal points; the norms; and the processes (Hufty, 2008). (Fig. 5)

- a) Actors are those involved in the collective decision-making process, conditioned by their nature, power, interests, ideas and history.
- b) **Nodal points** represent the interaction of all identified problems, actors, processes and norms required
- c) **Norms** express the multi-level aspect of governance as expressed through a collective decision made on behalf of actors to take collective action on an issue
- d) Processes are successions of states through which a regime passes



Figure 5 Governance Analytical Framework. (Source: Hufty, 2008) For the present research, the inequities facing Caribbean SIDS in their participation in the INC decision-making forum have been identified as the governance problem. Further, in accordance with the above-mentioned approach of Hufty (2008):

- A. United Nations member states are the actors;
- B. the INC negotiations are a nodal point;
- C. the recognition of the need for collective action on plastic pollution under UNEA 5/14 is the norm; and,
- D. the finalisation, ratification and implementation of the global plastics treaty is the process (Fig. 4).

Data gathered to support this research will be applied to the GAF to assess the interactions between the identified problem and the analytical categories to identify solutions needed and specific areas requiring intervention (Figure 6).



Figure 6 Governance Analytical Framework for Caribbean SIDS participating in INC-1 (Source: the author; Adapted from Hufty, 2008)
3.3 Research aims

This research aims:

- a) To assess the current state of marine plastic monitoring for beaches in the WCR and critically analyse the barriers to establishing harmonised marine plastic monitoring in the WCR across scales
- b) To understand and develop a framework of key drivers and enabling factors needed to support equitable participation for Caribbean SIDS in the development of an ILBI on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment

3.4 Research objectives and questions

Research objectives

- 1. Analyse gaps and data collection methods for macro, meso and microplastics in the marine environment to support preparation and participation for INCs for the global plastics treaty agreement
- 2. Analyse barriers to achieving and key drivers needed to achieve equitable participation and preparation in the INCs by Caribbean SIDS
- 3. Assess CARICOM's role as a coordination mechanism within and among Caribbean SIDS to support preparation and participation in the INC

Research questions

1. What barriers exist and what considerations are needed to support harmonised monitoring for marine plastic debris, including microplastics in the marine environment of Caribbean SIDS? (*Paper 1 and 2*)

Who are the dominant actors conducting marine debris monitoring within Caribbean SIDS? (*Paper 3*)

- 2. What barriers do Caribbean SIDS face to achieving equitable participation in the INC process and what key drivers are needed to overcome them? *(Paper 4)*
- 3. How does CARICOM function as a regional coordination mechanism for Caribbean SIDS in multilateral environmental agreements and what are the implications for the INC process? (*Paper 5*)

4 Methodology

4.1 Methodology overview

This study incorporated six methodological approaches: a literature review, a document analysis, a microplastics debris beach survey, event ethnography, participant observation and semi-structured interviews.

The literature review was aimed at understanding the state of marine debris surveys conducted on beaches throughout the WCR while the document analysis served as a critical analysis of a proposed approach to harmonised marine debris monitoring for beaches in the WCR. The WCR was the initial geographic scope of Paper 1 to gain an understanding of the regional state of marine debris monitoring on beaches. Paper 2, on the other hand, focused on microplastics monitoring conducted on beaches within one of the Caribbean SIDS (The Bahamas) and offered considerations needed for harmonised microplastics monitoring on beaches within Caribbean SIDS.

Event ethnography and participant observation were used in tandem to participate in and observe various meetings associated with the global plastics treaty negotiations. Additionally, it analysed statements presented during negotiation plenaries by the Group of Latin America and Caribbean Countries (GRULAC) and the Association of Small Island States (AOSIS). Lastly, semi-structured interviews were utilised to understand the attitudes and perceptions of stakeholders from Caribbean SIDS, namely delegates and NGO representatives, to determine their views and experiences on equity and the equitable preparation and participation of Caribbean SIDS during INC-1. Also, CARICOM secretariat staff were interviewed to gain insight into the organisation's role as a coordination mechanism for its Caribbean SIDS member states.

4.2 Literature review

This methodology was applied to *Paper 1* to understand the scope of marine debris surveys conducted on beaches within the WCR, a literature review was conducted using only peer-reviewed articles. Articles were sourced via academic research

platforms Scopus (www.scopus.com) and Google Scholar (www.scholar.google.com) using the keywords "marine debris", "marine plastic debris", "marine plastics", "marine litter", "plastics", "ocean plastics", "marine environment", "coastal environment", "beach", "shoreline", "monitoring", and "survey", all combined with Caribbean or Wider Caribbean Region. Article snowballing, by way of other relevant studies referenced within a selected article was also utilised. This review focused on marine debris monitoring on beaches in the WCR specific to macro debris >5mm. Microplastic surveys were excluded from the literature search, due to discrepancies in definition and size classification. Fifteen peer reviewed articles were selected and each article was assessed against criteria developed on the basis of the considerations needed for establishing a marine plastic debris monitoring programme, including:

- a) study location;
- b) site selection;
- c) number of sites surveyed;
- d) methodology used;
- e) transect measurements;
- f) beach type;
- g) monitoring frequency;
- h) site replication;
- i) dominant debris type;
- j) debris totals;
- k) dominant debris source;
- 1) dominant geographic location;
- m) administration;
- n) actors;
- o) data sharing and storing; and,
- p) funding schemes associated with monitoring events.

4.2.1 Document analysis

Similarly, this method was also applied in research contributing to *Paper 1* whereby document analyses were conducted for the published reports, *Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR: A Hybrid Approach* (2019) and the Action Plan for

Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR (2021), both by Caporusso and Hougee, to assess their proposed approaches for unified marine debris monitoring on beaches within the WCR, inclusive of Caribbean SIDS. The analytical procedure entailed synthesising the data contained within the documents by appraising their content and categorising it into themes including, research methodology, funding mechanisms, monitoring governance, data sharing and storage, sovereign and territorial states and debris categorisation (Labuschagne, 2003; Bowen, 2009). Guided by Bowen (2009), this document analysis was combined with the qualitative research method of literature review, mentioned above, to develop empirical knowledge on gaps in knowledge regarding harmonised marine debris monitoring and considerations for pathways forward.

4.3 Microplastics beach survey

For *Paper 2*, microplastic debris surveys were conducted on 16 beaches within three coastal exposures in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas. The objective of these surveys, which utilised citizen science to collect data, was to assess micro and mesoplastic abundance and distribution. The coastal exposures included the Atlantic Ocean (AO), AO (east of Eleuthera) is characterised by the deep waters and circulating currents of the North Atlantic sub-tropical gyre (Law et al., 2010); the Exuma Sound (ES), a largely enclosed basin >1,000 m deep, with steep canyons (Colin, 1995) and the Bahama Bank (BB), shallow water carbonate banks. Each beach was monitored twice: once in spring (dry season) (March–May 2013) and again in fall (wet season) (September–November 2013), at the same location, verified using a handheld Garmin GPSMAP® 76 GPS.

The author collected the unpublished dataset resulting from the abovementioned surveys before the present study, but it has been analysed as part of the PhD research. Though a decade old, the dataset provided substantial data on meso and microplastic abundance. Analysis infers that given the increase in microplastics at the sea surface globally, Caribbean SIDS would likely receive depositions of microplastics to its shores. Additionally, analysis of the dataset provided an opportunity to critique the methodology used to collect the data and enabled the discussion of key considerations for establishing harmonised microplastics monitoring in the WCR. It serves as a baseline for understanding the threshold of acceptable levels of pollution that may be incorporated into a treaty regime over time.

A modified methodology from the 5 Gyres Institute's microplastics beach sampling guide (5 Gyres, 2012) was utilised to collect samples. Four random 5m-wide transects within a 100m section of shoreline were initially selected for a macro

debris survey (Figure 5). A measuring tape ran perpendicular to the shoreline from the back beach or first sign of vegetation to the high tide mark, also known as the 'wrack line' (consistent with the high tide line where seaweed is deposited), to identify the length of each transect. Within each transect, four 1x1m quadrats were randomly casted by volunteers, within the wrack line of each transect selected for the macro debris survey (Figure 7). Using a small shovel, 3 cm of sand was scooped evenly across the grid and sieved through a set of nested sieve boxes with a mesh size 1 mm capturing microplastics and mesh size of 5 mm capturing mesoplastics.



Figure 7 Microplastic and mesoplastic debris survey area (Source: 5 Gyres)

Microplastic and mesoplastic particles obtained were quantified along with fragments of plastic foam, film, food wrappers, pellets, filaments, jugs or containers, cigar tips, cigarettes, personal care products and other miscellaneous plastics. Plastic particles were quantified and categorized before being extracted from each sieve and placed in appropriately labelled sample bags. This study excluded microfibers and focused on microplastics readily visible to the naked eye and quantifiable within the sieve boxes. All data points collected between seasons were pooled together for analysis using JMP® Statistical Analysis Software. Due to non-normal distribution of the data, a non-parametric Wilcoxon test was used.

4.4 Event ethnography and participant observation

Papers 3 and 4 utilized event ethnography and participant observation, which enables researchers to learn about the activities of people or an event under study in the natural setting through observing and participating in those activities. (Kawulich, 2005). This method offered access to unique insights into the inner workings of multilateral environmental negotiation events, and aided in broadening understanding of global environmental governance (Duffy, 2015). Both methods offered flexibility in that there is no rigid structure or defined procedure for conducting ethnographic research. However its main components were fieldwork, semi-structured interviews and document analysis (Jaimangal-Jones, 2013). Semi-structured interviews take on a conversational approach and steer towards a range of topics within a subject area (Jaimangal-Jones, 2013). The use of event ethnography and participant observation yielded insights into Caribbean SIDS participation in meetings associated with the global plastic treaty negotiations, including the first meeting of the Open Ended Working Group (OWEG-1) and the INC-1.

Semi-structured interviews focused on delegates from Caribbean SIDS who attended the first Ad-Hoc OEWG (OEWG-1) and INC-1 meetings to glean insight into their preparation, processes and challenges faced within the ongoing INC negotiations. This approach, utilised during the INC-1, probed into themes of equity, participation, preparation and challenges faced by Caribbean SIDS, their delegations and relevant regional actors and stakeholders engaged in the negotiation process.

The methods utilised also supported an analysis of meeting documents, including the GRULAC declaration and a statement made by AOSIS. During the plenary session of the OEWG-1 and INC-1 meetings, Caribbean countries in attendance and the size of their delegations were observed, noted and confirmed using United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) List of Participants (LOP) data. Regional meetings hosted by GRULAC during the OEWG-1 and INC-1 were also observed, where the subjects of the study were identified and interviews were requested.

A snowball sampling method was used where various participants suggested others for the study. Meeting observations were conducted both virtually during the OEWG-1 and in-person during the INC-1 in Punta del Este, Uruguay. Twelve semistructured interviews were conducted via Zoom (n=2) and in-person at INC-1 (n=10), with 14 individuals representing Caribbean delegates, NGOs, a United Nations regional group coordinator, lawyers and policy advisors, with the latter accounting for a single interview (Table 1). All respondents attended either the OEWG-1, the INC-1 or both, worked in or with the Caribbean region and were actively engaged in the negotiation process. Study participants were asked questions related to equity, their preparation for and participation in the INC meetings, and challenges faced in achieving equity. The small sample size represents a substantial proportion of key stakeholders present given the small size of Caribbean SIDS delegates attending OEWG-1 and INC-1. Additionally, out of the small pool of candidates suitable for interview, several individuals declined their invitations to participate in the study.

Role	Number of individuals
Delegate	8
Lawyers and policy advisors	3
NGOs	2
Regional Group Coordinator	1

Table 1 Semi-structured interview study participants

For *Paper 4*, based on the findings of Paper 3, specifically suggesting the lack of priority of the INC forum by CARICOM, up to the time of writing, a semi-structured interview was conducted with the CARICOM Secretariat to understand CARICOM's approach to and challenges with preparation of its member states for MEAs. Interviews with CARICOM member states and other regional organisations were not considered necessary because of: a) CARICOM's participation in multiple MEA forums; b) its role as the primary coordination mechanism for its member states participating in MEAs; and c) its positioning as an important negotiation bloc in MEAs (Hassanali, 2022). The Secretariat, also referred to as the study participant, was asked questions related to: a) challenges faced in coordination; b) achieving priority among member states, funding and MEA preparation; and c) participation, capacity building, stakeholder engagement, science and crafting negotiating positions.

4.4.1 Data analysis

Papers 3 and 4 followed a modified methodology by Ison et al., (2021). All interviews were transcribed using the Otter.ai software. Using Nvivo 13 qualitative data analysis software to analyse interview transcripts, a three-step process was used to identify codes, subcodes (categories) and themes. Codes (Table 1 and 2), a unit of analysis by way of labelling, summarised key aspects from each interview question, and were derived from the focal points of equity, preparation, participation, and challenges facing Caribbean SIDS in the INC-1 process. From here subcodes (more specific categories of the codes) were created, before themes, defined as relevant connections to the research question, were extracted (LeBlanc, 2010). Word frequency analyses were also conducted based on the recurrence of similar descriptive words in each interview and their connection to each code and subcode.

Table 2 Code categories identified from semi-structured interviews with participants of OEWG-1 and INC-1.
The codes are presented in alphabetical order along with their frequency

Code system	Frequency
Achieving meaningful preparation and participation	17
Bureau importance	6
Caribbean SIDS desires of treaty	1
CARICOM	20
Challenges	14
Country positions	5
Delegate composition	11
Delegation size	11
Differing country needs	1
Equity defined	23
Funding	11
Funding source	12
Human capacity	11
Hybrid meeting attendance	3
INC-1 challenges	7
Key stakeholders	9
Legal aid	11
Meeting prioritization	9
Multiple meetings happening	2
Negotiation training	16
Participation	1
Preparation time	4
Procedural equity	13
Regional engagement	8
Regional preparation	10
Scientific guidance	10
Solutions	20
Stakeholder engagement	8

Table 3 Code categories identified from semi-structured interview with CARICOM Secretariat. The codes are presented in alphabetical order along with their frequency

Code System	Frequency
BBNJ Preparation	5
Capacity building	4
CARICOM	3
Challenges with MEA preparation	4
COP 15 preparation	5
COP 27 preparation	4
Environmental issues of priority	1
Formulating negotiation positions	8
Funding mechanism	9
Future implementation	3
INC	4
INC access	1
INC challenges	6
INC coordination	5
Negotiation bloc	8
Negotiations	4
Political will	8
Prioritisation of INC Forum	7
Promoting equity	1
Scientific research	5
Secretariat responsibilities	3
St. John's declaration	2
Stakeholder engagement	5

5 Results and discussion

Overall, the work produced a string of publications providing empirical evidence that sought to fulfil the research objectives by providing thorough answers to the research questions.

The research was devoted to identifying the importance of data gathering and marine debris monitoring on beaches in Caribbean SIDS, and the actors driving the efforts. Additionally, the research aimed to support local, global and regional development of policies aimed at managing marine plastic pollution, which led to Papers 1 2 and 3.

This foundational research helped to create a pathway for Paper 4, which explored and discussed the role of equity in Caribbean SIDS' ability to participate in the global decision-making forum, the INC set up to manage plastic pollution. Here, the work unveiled various contextual equity barriers facing SIDS, including the need for coordination among Caribbean SIDS to both overcome equity issues faced and to bolster negotiating positions and outcomes.

This discussion led to the final publication, Paper 5, which examined the preexisting coordination mechanism of CARICOM, its approach to preparation, participation within MEAs by its member states and the relevance of this for the current INC negotiations. The results of this work reveal the commonalities concerning the impeding factors that serve to limit Caribbean SIDS' ability to coordinate, participate and advocate for themselves in the scope of negotiation of a global plastics treaty. The research also proposes considerations necessary for achieving equitable, unified outcomes for them during the negotiation process. The following subsections summarise the relevant publications derived from the research questions.

	Research objectives	Research questions	Papers
1	Analyse gaps and data collection methods for macro, meso and microplastics in the marine environment to support preparation and participation for the INC for the global plastics treaty agreement	 a) Which barriers exist and what needs to be considered to support harmonised monitoring for marine plastic debris, including microplastics, in the marine environment of Caribbean SIDS? b) Who are the dominant actors conducting marine debris monitoring within Caribbean SIDS? 	1, 2, 3
2	Analyse barriers and key drivers needed to achieve equitable participation and preparation in the INC by Caribbean SIDS	What barriers do Caribbean SIDS face in achieving equitable participation in the INC process and which key drivers are needed to overcome them?	4
3	Assess CARICOMs role as a coordination mechanism within and among Caribbean SIDS to support preparation and participation in the INC	How does CARICOM function as a regional coordination mechanism for Caribbean SIDS in multilateral environmental agreements and what are the implications for the INC process?	5

Table 4 Interlinkages between research objectives, questions and papers

5.1 Which barriers exist and what needs to be considered to support harmonised monitoring for marine plastic debris, including microplastics, in the marine environment of Caribbean SIDS?

Who are the dominant actors conducting marine debris monitoring within Caribbean SIDS?

Paper 1:

Ambrose, K. K. (2021). Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region: Identifying strategic pathways forward. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 171, 112767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112767

Paper 2:

Ambrose, K.K. and Walker, T.R. (2023). Identifying opportunities for harmonised microplastics and mesoplastics monitoring for Caribbean Small Island Developing States using a spatiotemporal assessment of beaches in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 115140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2023.115140

Paper 3:

Stöfen-O'Brien, A., Ambrose, K. K., Alleyne, K. S., Lovell, T. A. and Graham, R. E. (2022). Parachute science through a regional lens: marine litter research in the Caribbean Small Island Developing States and the challenge of extra-regional research. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 174, 113291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.113291

For Caribbean SIDS participating in the negotiation process for the ILBI on plastic pollution, possessing empirical datasets on the state of plastics in the Caribbean's marine environment is fundamental to shaping negotiation positions, driving management solutions and measuring policy implementations within the region. However, for this to occur standardization of monitoring methodologies and reporting metrics are required to expand understanding in the areas of marine plastic dispersal, accumulation, composition, source and abundance on beaches and subsequently in other marine environments of Caribbean SIDS.

Coordinated and harmonised marine debris monitoring on beaches within Caribbean SIDS can be viewed as essentially non-existent, as unified monitoring efforts simply do not exist. Indeed, marine debris monitoring that has occurred on beaches within Caribbean SIDS are deemed inconsistent based on the high variation in protocols and methodologies used during monitoring events, resulting in incompatible data sets (Figure 9). Similarly, Caribbean SIDS account for less than 3 per cent of published microplastics monitoring conducted on beaches with studies conducted also utilising varying methodologies (Mesquita et al., 2022).



Figure 8 Marine debris monitoring protocols used within the Wider Caribbean Region, including Caribbean SIDS (Source: the author)

Marine debris research and monitoring activities conducted within Caribbean SIDS are subject to a phenomenon known as "parachute science". In the context of this research, this term is defined as a preponderance of research conducted by scientists based predominantly outside the target geographical region without the input or involvement of local experts (Stöfen-O'Brien, et al., 2022). A literature review of publications on marine debris monitoring events occurring within Caribbean SIDS showed that 85 per cent of publications and subsequently marine debris monitoring, were orchestrated by researchers from outside the Caribbean SIDS.

Appropriate solutions to marine debris management within Caribbean SIDS should ideally be driven by the knowledge and expertise of researchers already in situ in the region. Though partnerships with extra regional scientists can aid in building human and scientific capacity within the region, it is imperative that these scientists engage with local experts and governments to establish and implement equitable partnerships, with the data collected being used to shape local policies. Otherwise, this presents opportunities for science shared within negotiations to be skewed towards Western value systems and not at all adapted to the tropical realities of Caribbean SIDS (Polejack, 2021; Polejack and Coelho, 2021). Access to and use of science within negotiations by way of science diplomacy, can serve as a country's soft power, as opposed to the traditional hard powers of force and coercion (Nye, 2017; Polejack, 2021). For Caribbean SIDS, the production and use of localised, regional data can lead to equitable participation in decision-making forums via the support of evidence-based science that drives favourable treaty outcomes.

Key barriers negatively affecting Caribbean SIDs 'ability to collect coordinated and harmonised data on marine debris within its marine environment include:

- a) variations in methodologies, including the need for site selection, identification of debris source, composition and type;
- b) Insufficient governance, specifically the actors involved in conducting the research and managing data collection; and,
- c) lack of funding and resources required to execute harmonised marine debris monitoring.

To address these barriers, several factors must be considered, as Caribbean SIDS face numerous challenges to conducting marine scientific research: they have limited human capacity, poor access to state-of-the-art technology, and lack adequate funding to support unified coordination of scientific monitoring events (Polejack and Coelho, 2021). Funding for monitoring events is typically excluded from national budgets, as universities, private entities and independent researchers serve as the driving force behind the execution of monitoring events. In this context, funding considerations and budget allocations must be acquired and allotted by governments within Caribbean SIDS to establish a harmonised and unified monitoring programme. Additionally, the co-production and sharing of data collected will be key components for enhancing scientific coordination and cooperation among countries (Claudet et al., 2020).

Unified approaches to marine debris monitoring have been proposed by Caporusso and Hougee (2019), who published a report on *Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR: A Hybrid Approach.* The report draws attention to the effects of marine debris in the WCR and proposes a hybrid approach, consisting of comprehensive surveys and rapid surveys that involve citizen science. Caporusso and Hougee (2019) acknowledged the challenges associated with orchestrating regional coordination and harmonisation of marine debris monitoring in the WCR but lacked specific elaboration of the key considerations needed for implementation, such as governance, financing, training and capacity building, data management and measuring monitoring effectiveness. The methodology proposed in the report was limiting as it excluded microplastics in its monitoring approach. However, the report was updated in 2021, and maintained its exclusion of microplastics monitoring in addition to other relevant considerations as mentioned (Caporusso and Hougee, 2021). UNEA Resolution 5/14 recognised that plastic pollution includes microplastics (Walker, 2022). Additionally, the need for microplastics to be included in the development of the forthcoming ILBI has also been recognised internationally by academia, scientific bodies and NGOs (Rognerud et al., 2022).

A vast knowledge gap remains regarding the main sources of microplastics, its abundance and distribution within Caribbean SIDS; this must be addressed to advocate for preventive and mitigative actions at national, regional and international levels, particularly in the negotiating forum of the global plastics treaty agreement (Orona-Návar et al., 2022). Instituting a microplastics monitoring programme would require:

- a) extensive funding to support data collection;
- b) laboratory testing for samples and technological research needs
- c) capacity building and training for actors involved; and
- d) a clearing house mechanism to facilitate scientific cooperation and information exchange between Caribbean SIDS.

Given the condensed timeline of the treaty formulation, coupled with Caribbean SIDS having varied national capacities to support data gathering on the proliferation of macro and microplastics in the marine environment, it is improbable that a comprehensive, harmonised, regional dataset on marine plastics will be produced before 2024, the proposed concluding date of the treaty negotiations. As such, the intended treaty text being developed should incorporate monitoring obligations that reflect the need for capacity building and financial support necessary for developing states to gather adequate and relevant data (Rognerud et al., 2022). Coordination and harmonisation of marine debris monitoring within Caribbean SIDS will require collaboration among academia, NGOs, research institutions and policy makers within governments. With varying methodologies for marine debris monitoring available, research objectives must first be established among relevant stakeholders within Caribbean SIDS to determine the appropriate methodology to be applied (Velander and Mocogni, 1999; Besley et al., 2017; Mesquita et al., 2022).

5.2 What barriers do Caribbean SIDS face to achieving equitable participation in the INC process, and which key drivers are needed to overcome them?

Paper 4: Ambrose, K.K. (2023). Assessing and Addressing Contextual Equity: A Framework for Key Drivers Needed by Caribbean Small Island Developing States to Achieve Contextual Equity in the Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations. (In Review) Frontiers in Marine Science, conceptualised the fundamental inequities facing Caribbean SIDS during the INC-1 negotiating meeting. The findings from this paper are outlined below.

Contextual equity—which is concerned with equity in access to the decisionmaking process—calls attention to pre-existing imbalances in the form of financial resources, political power, human capacity, and negotiating skills, which creates an unlevel playing field for participants in the decision-making process (Martin et al., 2014; Law et al., 2017; Hass et al., 2019). Caribbean SIDS face contextual inequities in their preparation and participation in the INC-1 compared to developed countries, thus foreshadowing continued experiences for the remainder of the INC process. This is based on the inequities faced by developing countries, which are unable to negotiate more favourable outcomes due to the considerable disparities in resources and power dynamics compared to United Nations member states from developed countries (Schroeder et al., 2012; Takamura, 2003; Penetrante, 2011; Heyward, 2007).

Based on study findings, contextual barriers constraining achievement of equitable participation in the INC negotiation process by Caribbean SIDS include a lack of prioritization of the INC forum by governments within Caribbean SIDS and intergovernmental organizations representing them; inadequate funding to support the necessary needs and activities associated with preparation and participation in the INCs; limited capacity in the form of adequate staff and training for delegates, among others; and limited stakeholder engagement activities. Lastly, the absence of diverse and robust localised scientific data on plastics to aid in shaping national positions also plays a role.

Accessing and securing funds to attend such meetings from public treasuries within Caribbean SIDS is difficult as funds are unavailable, not prioritised within national budgets or allocated to more pressing national needs, such as food security, crime and economic growth and development. Voluntary funding mechanisms from the UNEP Secretariat are available to support at least two delegates from SIDS, and have supported all of the Caribbean delegates attending INC-1.

Limitations in human capacity hinder Caribbean SIDS' ability to equitably prepare for and participate in global plastic treaty negotiations. Delegates from Caribbean SIDS are generally overwhelmed with administrative responsibilities that run parallel to their participation in negotiations. There are also significant limitations in terms of legal expertise and resources as compared to developed countries, which are equipped with more thorough understanding of the legal implications shaping the treaty and the obligations that may result from its formulation. In addition, addressing the full life cycle of plastics and plastic pollution in the marine environment from an international environmental law perspective is extremely complex, requiring multidisciplinary expertise, including legal understanding of definitions and translations of proposed elements to be incorporated into the treaty.

To overcome the issues of limited capacity and overextended personnel within Caribbean SIDS, communication and cross departmental training across various government ministries, along with staff recruitment, is needed to better prepare delegates. Participation in the negotiation process is incumbent on understanding United Nations systems and their legal and technical components for environmental decision making.

Equity, with regard to preparation for the INCs by Caribbean SIDS, must also extend to states' ability to engage stakeholders to ensure that the diverse interests and values of marginalised voices and key stakeholders be represented to contribute to the development of negotiating positions. Additionally, Caribbean SIDS require specific quantitative and qualitative scientific data demonstrating the severe and inequitable environmental, economic and health effects of plastic pollution, to bolster their negotiating positions throughout the INC process. Building scientific capacity among Caribbean SIDS is a critical step for policy development and measuring the effectiveness of policy interventions.

Prioritisation of the INC forum by governments within Caribbean SIDS in the form of clearly defined political will is necessary for addressing the inequities faced during the negotiating process. Additionally, this calls for a potential coordination mechanism to be established by regional intergovernmental organisations such as CARICOM to promote uptake of the INC meetings onto regional agendas to increase participation in the forum.



Figure 9 Framework for key drivers needed for achieving equity in preparation, participation and future implementation of a global plastics treaty for Caribbean SIDS (Source: the author)

The framework developed through this research (Figure 10) argues that the drivers necessary for achieving contextual equity along with other branches of equity, are interlinked and can result in equitable preparation and participation in the INC process by Caribbean SIDS. It also speaks to the challenges Caribbean SIDS may face for implementation of a global plastics treaty, as challenges outlined in their ability to equitably participate in the treaty negotiations also mirror their ability to implement a treaty of this scale.

Though the obligations under the global plastics treaty have yet to be decided on, this study perceives that for Caribbean SIDS, implementation and compliance of the treaty will require political will, financing mechanisms, capacity building, scientific research and an iterative stakeholder engagement process. The following drivers are necessary for ratification of the treaty: funding to support its implementation and capacity building opportunities that support compliance; stakeholder and public engagement to promote awareness of the treaty and its implications for business and the general public; and scientific data to measure the effectiveness of the treaty over time. Once the drivers for attaining contextual factors are applied and met, political and public acceptance of the treaty may be promoted, thus bolstering the success of the intended ILBI to end plastic pollution.

5.3 How does CARICOM function as a regional coordination mechanism for Caribbean SIDS in multilateral environmental agreements and what are the implications for the INC process?

Paper 5: Ambrose, K, K. (2023). The Caribbean Community (CARICOM) as the Coordination Mechanism For Caribbean Small Island Developing States Participating in The Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations? (Accepted) Ocean Yearbook, builds on **Paper 4**'s identification and proposal for the need of a regional coordination mechanism—in this instance CARICOM—and its role in preparing Caribbean SIDS for the INCs.

The Caribbean Community (CARICOM) is a longstanding institution for integration in the developing world and is founded on the pillars of economic integration; foreign policy coordination; human and social development; and security (Hassanali, 2020; CARICOM, 2023). This intergovernmental organization has historically demonstrated its commitment, cooperation and coordination on a range of issues, including environmental issues, through its participation in MEA meetings, further making CARICOM a significant negotiating bloc in the region

(Hassanali, 2020; Hassanali, 2022a). It comprises 15 Caribbean SIDS as member states [here defined as including Antigua and Barbuda, Barbados, The Bahamas, Dominica, Grenada, Haiti, Jamaica, Montserrat, St. Kitts and Nevis, St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, and Trinidad and Tobago] which border the Caribbean Sea, along with 3 mainland coastal states: Belize, Guyana and Suriname (Chakalall et al., 1997; O'Brien, 2011; Hassanali, 2020).

To address the pressing environmental concern of plastic pollution, the St. John's Declaration of CARICOM was adopted during the 40th session of the CARICOM Heads of Government (HOG) meeting hosted in July 2019, addressing increasing levels of plastic pollution in the Caribbean Sea and its negative effects on sustainable development for the region (Nicholls, 2019; CARICOM, 2019). The declaration established plastic pollution as an area of priority among its member states, further declaring the need for the reduction and/or elimination of single use plastics and similar packaging materials; a commitment to addressing ecosystem damage caused by plastic pollution; and recognition of the need for effective policy, legislative and regulatory frameworks at the global, regional, national and local levels, among other relevant points (CARICOM, 2019).

CARICOM is not the only regional integration body, as equivalent organisations such as the Central American Integration System (SICA), Organization of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS) and the Association of Caribbean States (ACS) exist to support intergovernmental arrangements for integration and functional cooperation. Nevertheless, this study focused on CARICOM as it currently assumes the major coordination function in various environmental treaty negotiations. CARICOM's role as the coordination mechanism for MEAs such as the BBNJ agreement, the 27th Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (COP27), and the 15th Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity (UNCBD) (COP15), make it a wellpositioned entity to orchestrate coordination for the INCs for its member states. This research has shown that with regard to plastic pollution and the INC forum, political will is present among CARICOM governments; however it is potentially not as urgent as climate change MEA forums such as UNFCC COP 27. Thus requiring the INCs to be prioritised from CARICOM levels as an agenda item to promote increased attendance and unified negotiating positions during the INCs.

The results of this study clearly indicate that CARICOM has created a viable framework for establishing its negotiating blocs and preparing its member states for MEA meetings such as UNFCCC COP 27, UNCBD COP 15 and the BBNJ. This involvement in these negotiations has involved strategic coordination and preparation by CARICOM to establish a political mandate among its HOG, conduct capacity building workshops among its member states` delegations and negotiators, identify funding opportunities through available projects, apply relevant localized

scientific data to inform negotiating positions, and engage with a diversity of relevant stakeholders.

The study found that CARICOM has clearly demonstrated its coordination capabilities with regard to other MEAs, and suggests that similar approaches may be applied to the INC process. However, unified coordination and prioritisation of the INCs continue to be a challenge for CARICOM and its member states, as its member governments have not given it a clearly defined political mandate to influence decision making; set goals; or allocated time, resources and funding to participate in the global plastics treaty negotiations. Evidence from the study suggests that actualising a political mandate to support member state preparation and participation in the INC forum has been neglected, due to the recurring issues of limited human capacity and funding that plague Caribbean SIDS.

With, at the time of writing, roughly less than a year and a half left to ambitiously complete the plastic treaty negotiations, the risk of not placing this on the political radar for CARICOM member states looms, reducing the critical time necessary for CARICOM to coordinate and prepare its member states for the negotiations, and further increasing the likelihood of not all member states attending the remaining INC meetings. In this regard, attendance during at remaining INCs by its member states cannot stand as the sole metric of level of participation by CARICOM. In the period before a political mandate is established for the INCs, functional cooperation will be required between CARICOM, its member states, institutions and organisations to orchestrate its positions.

CARICOM has the potential to serve as the coordination mechanism for its Caribbean SIDS for the global plastics treaty negotiations, as they have the experience, expertise and a well-crafted model under which its elements can be applied to the INC process. However, this process is not without its complexities, as the INCs have been quickly constructed with an ambitious completion time. For example, ongoing MEA forums—such as UNFCCC COP 27, UNCBD COP 15 and the recently finalized BBNJ agreement—are well established forums that span more than two years, allowing adequate time for states to prepare and participate in negotiations (High Seas Alliance, 2023).

Collaboration with other regional entities which have established and implemented various initiatives for marine plastic pollution in the WCR—such as the OECS, which consists of SIDS within the Eastern Caribbean, most of which are also members of CARICOM, and organisations like UNEP-Caribbean Environment Project (UNEP-CEP)—is crucial to support coordination activities, funding development and capacity building to strengthen the policy-making interface (Schiff, 2014). Funding to support preparation and participation in this fora must also be identified and pursued by governments within member states to support the pooling of resources to uphold the negotiating bloc. CARICOM's fame as a both

important and symbolic negotiating bloc for the region can make it the ideal mechanism for advocating for its member states and influencing the multilateral processes of the INC to work in the region's favour. However, contextual issues that hinder its ability to participate in the treaty negotiations must be addressed.

5.4 Synthesis and application of theoretical framework and research outcomes

With the INC serving as the decision-making forum for global plastic pollution governance, this research sought to understand the barriers constraining Caribbean SIDS' ability to participate in the negotiation process, and subsequently implementation of a global plastics treaty agreement. Application of the GAF within this research allowed for the identification and characterisation of nodal points or problems/barriers that are often unrecognised within decision-making spaces such as the INCs, while providing a basis for solutions to be developed (Hufty, 2011). Populated with data garnered using social and applied science methodologies, the amalgamation of actors, norms and processes-as outlined within the GAFinteracted to produce nodal points, which resulted in the identification of contextual barriers facing Caribbean SIDS at nearly every phase of MEA negotiation (Chasek, 1997) (Figure 1). Here, the GAF unveiled and connected contextual barriers within the areas of monitoring, equity and coordination for the MEA negotiation phases of issue definition, statement of initial positions, drafting/formula building and ratification/implementation for Caribbean SIDS participating in the INCs. These contextual constraints call attention to pre-existing imbalances in the form of financial resources, political power, human capacity, and negotiating skills, which create an unlevel playing field for participants in the decision-making process (Martin et al., 2014; Law et al., 2017; Hass et al., 2019).

As the GAF methodology is typically centred on actors, their nature, power, interests, ideas, and history (Hufty, 2011), this study first analysed Caribbean SIDS' ability to define the problem of plastic pollution based on scientific data within a local context, and was conducted by way of assessing the state of harmonised regional marine debris monitoring among Caribbean SIDS. As outlined in research questions 1 (a) and (b); Papers 1-3, due to contextual barriers Caribbean SIDS lack robust harmonised data documenting plastic concentrations to support negotiation transactions that result in mitigative policies. The initiation of negotiations toward a global plastics treaty influenced the reassessment of the research trajectory towards understanding Caribbean SIDS engagement with the INC process. This required assessing the state of the best available science, delivered on the basis of monitoring efforts, which are a key tool used to shape negotiating positions within

the INC forum. This then created a pathway to understanding Caribbean SIDS' engagement within the INC process as compared to actors from developed countries and barriers they may face, as captured in research question 2; Paper 4. Here, the understudied concept of contextual equity arose, as Caribbean SIDS demonstrated inequities in human and financial capacity, prioritisation and coordination for the forum, and adequate skill and knowledge transfer among its delegates. As the lack of prioritization and coordination for the forum became recurring issues based on interview responses, this research engages with research question 3; Paper 5, which provided novel data on the specific processes involved in CARICOM's role as a coordination mechanism for its member states—comprising Caribbean SIDS participating in MEA negotiations—and its implications for the INCs.

The utilisation of the GAF offered a means to interrogate perspectives of science diplomacy, whereby science is used as a driver in global environmental decisionmaking forums (Fedoroff, 2009; Hufty, 2011; Moedas, 2019). Governments in Caribbean SIDS are ill-equipped to single handedly fill scientific knowledge gaps related to plastic pollution, thus requiring regional and international support for scientific collaboration (Fedoroff, 2009; Moedas, 2019; Polejack, 2021). In the context of this research, harmonised marine debris monitoring and the scientific information it would provide served as the building block for supporting Caribbean SIDS in the global plastic treaty negotiations.

Critically, this research indicates that building scientific capacity for plastic pollution that expands beyond the marine environment can shape negotiation positions by utilising scientific data that reflects the needs of Caribbean SIDS and the region at large. Furthermore, the production of an adequate dataset regarding plastic pollution is a critical step for policy development and measuring the effectiveness of policy interventions such as the global plastics treaty. For delegations from Caribbean SIDS, possessing localised, national and regional scientific data on the use, production, source, abundance, distribution and effects of plastic pollution on Caribbean SIDS can aid in informing negotiating positions that support equitable distribution of the costs, benefits and risks associated with treaty outcomes.



Issue Definition and Ratification/Implementation

Figure 10 Commonalities in contextual barriers faced within thematic areas of research and relevant phases of the MEA negotiation phases (Source: the author)

The connectivity of this work can be synthesised through the integration of the MEA negotiation phases and the nodal points generated by the GAF. As illustrated in Figure 10, the generation of comprehensive scientific data by way of monitoring is needed to support defining the issue for a collective problem, and also for formulating statements of positions for United Nations member states. Position statements are delivered by United Nations member states within the negotiating forum. Though this is open to all states, Caribbean SIDS face contextual inequities that limit participation in the INCs. Once in the forum, regional intergovernmental coordination mechanisms that would drive the drafting/formula building, final bargaining and details, ratification and implementation of the treaty for and by Caribbean SIDS to effectively participate in the INCs, all share identical commonalities in the contextual barriers faced.

As outlined in section 5.2, application of the GAF produced a framework of key drivers needed to overcome each contextual barrier facing Caribbean SIDS (Figure 9). Though such forums can never experience holistic and definitive equity due to each country's varying size, needs and resources, this research was able to identify

and synthesise approaches to overcoming contextual barriers that promote contextual equity in the negotiation process for Caribbean SIDS. For Caribbean SIDS, overcoming contextual barriers extends far beyond the negotiating floor but serves as the basis for their functional governance capabilities, as it relates to national, regional and international environmental law and governance. This research has succeeded in providing both a novel and a substantial contribution to the discourse on challenges facing SIDS in MEA negotiations and solutions thereto, and can be scaled to assess the experiences of developed and least developed countries within the ongoing INC forum.

6 Conclusions, limitations and future perspectives

The nature of global plastic pollution means an unprecedented degree of international cooperation and action—including scientific research and multilateral negotiations—is needed to mitigate its negative effects, and meet the collective interests of a variety of actors (Chasek, 1997). This thesis focused on three tiers that would support Caribbean SIDS' equitable participation in the global plastics treaty negotiation:

- a) scientific research in the form of harmonised marine debris monitoring;
- b) an evaluation of contextual equity within the INC process; and
- c) an assessment of CARICOM as a coordination mechanism to support preparation and participation among its member states in the INCs.

Interdisciplinary in its approach, this thesis engaged with natural science and social science, along with a degree of political science and international law, through marine debris monitoring research, governance and regime theories. It has identified challenges facing Caribbean SIDS in real time and proposes applicable solutions. Though some solutions require time beyond the scope of this research to be actualised, this means that the present thesis leaves room for future research to be conducted and solutions to be developed and practised.

The need for harmonised marine debris monitoring among Caribbean SIDS serves as both a precursor and a driver for governments and their delegates to define the nature of the problem prior to negotiations (Figure 11). Data garnered through scientific research is then used to formulate negotiating positions for states, where governments articulate their stances on the environmental issues, causes, effects and solutions specific to the state (Figure 11). As positions are formally shared within the negotiating forum, this requires that states from within Caribbean SIDS are able to equitably access the negotiating floor and, in the event of their absence, a coordination mechanism such as a CARICOM bloc would be able to speak on their behalf for the remaining phases of negotiations (Figure 11). Through the established research tiers, this study contributes to the literature specific to equity and coordination challenges faced by Caribbean SIDS within MEA meetings, namely the global plastics treaty negotiations. Moreover, it illustrated the positionality of the research tiers throughout the entirety of the MEA process (Figure 1; Figure 11) and produced a framework of key drivers needed by Caribbean SIDS to both equitably participate in the current treaty negotiations and to access equity throughout its development and implementation (Fig. 9).

With negotiations expected to continue into 2024, and the ratification and adoption of the treaty forecast for 2025, Caribbean SIDS, within their rights as sovereign states, will need to decide on signing and ratifying the global plastics treaty. In the event of ratification, CARICOM, in its function as a regional coordination mechanism, could be a suitable forum to continue its coordination and collaborative work to encourage its member states to meet the requirements of the treaty in an effort to reap the benefits that may result from implementation of the treaty (Hassanali, 2022b; UNEP, 2023b).





This research further illuminates the need for diversified capacity building as a foundational element for Caribbean SIDS to effectively gather data, participate in negotiations and implement the impending global plastics treaty (Figure 11). For Caribbean SIDS, considerations for capacity building must include human, technical, institutional, scientific, financial, social, legal and technological forms of capacity, to support engagement in unified scientific monitoring or actively participating in negotiations (Harden-Davies et al., 2022b). Resolution 5/14 acknowledges that some legal obligations arising out of the proposed global plastics treaty will require capacity building and technical and financial assistance in order to be effectively implemented by developing countries and countries with economies in transition. As the INCs progress, it is imperative that Caribbean SIDS prioritise advocating for specific arrangements for capacity building, such as those outlined in Resolution 5/14, to support obligations associated with implementation and monitoring of the treaty.

Though this research made novel contributions to the academic discourse surrounding contextual equity in environmental treaty negotiations experienced by Caribbean SIDS, the study was limited by its engagement in only one INC meeting in addition to the relatively limited sample size of interviews conducted with participants (though this stems directly from the limited number and small size of the negotiating teams in question).

To fully develop and actualise solutions for equitable participation and coordination for the INC forum, it would prove advantageous to follow the negotiations in their entirety; assess the role of other regional organisations beyond CARICOM and their role as coordination mechanisms; and interview both Caribbean delegates and government officials within Caribbean states to gain a thorough understanding of challenges they face in plastic pollution management, MEA meeting participation and policy implementation. Similarly, qualifying and quantifying the extent of capacity building needs would be helpful for understanding which specific resources—be it scientific, legal, human, technical or financial—are needed to support. In the event that unified or individualised ratification occurred among CARICOM member states, the inevitable capacity building needs facing Caribbean SIDS will prove challenging and will need to be addressed to actualise the purpose of the treaty (Hassanali, 2022b).

Despite limitations to capacity building and financing in the midst of MEA negotiations, Caribbean SIDS have exhibited impactful progress as they successfully negotiated the BBNJ agreement through the regional bloc CARICOM. Though the region currently possesses highly skilled and trained individuals who can lead both scientific data gathering and negotiations, the pool of candidates is miniscule, as typically the same individuals are consecutively cycled between MEA meetings and various projects (Hassanali, 2022a).

In order to preserve the existing human capacity, more must be done to recruit, train and prepare qualified individuals within government organisations, NGOs and academic institutions, among others, for scientific research, international relations and negotiation training, as well as to fund procurement and resource allocation. Once Caribbean SIDS relevant capacity building needs—such as human and financial resources, among others, are met—scientific monitoring and research are effectively harmonised, and CARICOM member states are coordinated to develop the objectives for this treaty, the region will be well poised to comprehensively experience equitable outcomes throughout the INC process.

7 References

5 Gyres. (2012). Macro and Micro Plastic Beach Sample Collection and Processing

- Allen, K. C., Whitfield, K., Rabinovich, R., & Sadruddin, S. (2021). The Role of Governance in Implementing Sustainable Global Health Interventions: Review of health system integration for integrated community case management (iCCM) of childhood illnesses. *BMJ Global Health*, 6(3), e003257.
- Ambrose, K. K., Box, C., Boxall, J., Brooks, A., Eriksen, M., Fabres, J., Walker, T. R. (2019). Spatial Trends and Drivers of Marine Debris Accumulation on Shorelines in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas using Citizen Science. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 142, 145-154.
- Andrady, A.L. (2011). Microplastics in the Marine eEvironment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 62 (8), 1596-1605.
- Ashton, J., & Wang, X. (2003). Equity and Climate: In principle and practice. In *Beyond Kyoto: Advancing the international effort against climate change*, 61, 65.
- Ayre, M. L., & Nettle, R. A. (2017). Enacting Resilience for Adaptive Water Governance: A case study of irrigation modernization in an Australian catchment. *Ecology and Society*, 22(3).
- Bergmann, M., Almroth, B. C., Brander, S. M., Dey, T., Green, D. S., Gundogdu, S., Walker, T. R. (2022). A Global Plastic Treaty must Cap Production. *Science*, 376(6592), 469-470.
- Besley, A., Vijver, M. G., Behrens, P., & Bosker, T. (2017). A Standardized Method for Sampling and Extraction Methods for Quantifying Microplastics in Beach Sand. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 114(1), 77-83.
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27-40.
- Bradford, A. (2007). *Regime Theory. Max Planck encyclopedia of public international law.* EDF and Duke University.
- Campbell, L., Horan, R., & Fail, R. (2021). Equity in Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction. EDF and Duke University.
- Caporusso, C., & Hougee, M. (2019). *Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the Wider Caribbean Region: a hybrid approach*. United Nations Environment Programme. https://wedocs.unep.org/handle/20.500.11822/27901
- Caporusso, C., & Hougee, M. (2021). Action plan for Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the Wider Caribbean Region.

- CARICOM. (2019). Fortieth Regular Meeting of the Conference of Heads of Government of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM), Gros Islet, Saint Lucia, 3-5 July 2019. https://caricom.org/wp-content/uploads/DECISIONS-40-HGC-JUL-2019.pdf
- CARICOM. (2023). Who We Are. https://caricom.org/our-community/who-we-are/
- Chakalall, B., Mahon, R., & McConney, P. (1998). Current Issues in Fisheries Governance in the Caribbean Community (CARICOM). *Marine Policy*, 22(1), 29-44.
- Chasek, P. (1997). A comparative Analysis of Multilateral Environmental Negotiations. *Group Decision and Negotiation*, 6(5), 437-461.
- Cho, D.O. (2005). Challenges to Marine Debris Management in Korea. *Coast. Manag.* 33(4), 389–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/08920750500217559.
- Claudet, J., Bopp, L., Cheung, W. W. L., Devillers, R., Escobar-Briones, E., Haugan, P., Gaill, F.2020. A Roadmap for Using the UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development in Support of Science, Policy, and Action. *One Earth*, 2(1), 34–42. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.10.012.
- Clayton, C. A., Walker, T. R., Bezerra, J. C., & Adam, I. (2021). Policy Responses to Reduce Single-use Plastic Marine Pollution in the Caribbean. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 162, 111833.
- Colin, P. L. (1995). Surface Currents in Exuma Sound, Bahamas and Adjacent Areas with Reference to Potential Larval Transport. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 56(1), 48-57.
- Derraik, J. G. (2002). The Pollution of the Marine Environment by Plastic Debris: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44(9), 842-852.
- Diez, S. M., Patil, P. G., Morton, J., Rodriguez, D. J., Vanzella, A., Robin, D., Corbin, C. (2019). *Marine Pollution in the Caribbean: Not a minute to waste*. World Bank
- Díaz-Castro, L., Ramírez Rojas, M. G., Cabello-Rangel, H., Sánchez-Osorio, E., & Velázquez-Posada, M. (2022). The Analytical Framework of Governance in Health Policies in the Face of Health Emergencies: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 1147.
- Duffy, R. (2014). What does Collaborative Event Ethnography Tell us about Global Environmental Governance? *Global Environmental Politics*, 14(3), 125-131.
- Ecolex. (2023). International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) - Annex V (Optional): Garbage (2 November 1973). www.ecolex.org/details/international-convention-for-the-prevention-ofpollution-from-ships-marpol-annex-v-optional-garbage-tre-000989/participants/
- Eriksen, M., Cowger, W., Erdle, L. M., Coffin, S., Villarrubia-Gómez, P., Moore, C. J., Day, R.H., Thiel, M., Wilcox, C. (2023). A Growing Plastic Smog, Now Estimated to be Over 170 Trillion Plastic Particles Afloat in the World's Oceans: Urgent solutions required. *Plos One*, 18(3), e0281596.
- Eriksen, M., Lebreton, L.C., Carson, H.S., Thiel, M., Moore, C.J., Borerro, J.C., Galgani, F., Ryan P.G., Reisser, J. (2014). Plastic Pollution in the World's Oceans: More than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea. *Plos One*. 9(12), e111913.

- Eriksen, M., Mason, S., Wilson, S., Box, C., Zellers, A., Edwards, W., Farley, H., Amato, S. (2013). Microplastic Pollution in the Surface Waters of the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 77 (1–2):177-182.
- Fedoroff, N. V. (2009). Science Diplomacy in the 21st Century. Cell, 136(1), 9-11.
- Flanagin, A. J., Stohl, C., & Bimber, B. (2006). Modeling the Structure of Aollective action. *Communication monographs*, 73(1), 29-54.
- Gall, S., Thompson, R. (2015). The impact of debris on marine life. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 92, 170-179.
- Graham, S., Metcalf, A. L., Gill, N., Niemiec, R., Moreno, C., Bach, T., & Lubeck, A. (2019). Opportunities for Better Use of Collective Action Theory in Research and Governance for Invasive Species Management. *Conservation Biology*, 33(2), 275-287.
- Haggard, S., & Simmons, B. A. (1987). Theories of International Regimes. *International Organization*, 41(3), 491-517.
- Harden-Davies, H., Amon, D. J., Vierros, M., Bax, N. J., Hanich, Q., Hills, J. M., & Woodall, L. (2022a). Capacity Development in the Ocean Decade and Beyond: Key questions about meanings, motivations, pathways, and measurements. *Earth System Governance*, 12, 100138.
- Harden-Davies, H., Amon, D. J., Chung, T. R., Gobin, J., Hanich, Q., Hassanali, K., . & Vierros, M. (2022b). How Can a New UN Ocean Treaty Change the Course of Capacity Building?. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 32(5), 907-912.
- Hardesty, B.D., Good, T.P., Wilcox, C. (2015). Novel Methods, New Results and Sciencebased Solutions to Tackle Marine Debris Impacts on Wildlife. *Ocean. Coast. Manag.* 115, 4-9.
- Hardin, G. (1968). The Tragedy of the Commons: The population problem has no technical solution; it requires a fundamental extension in morality. *Science*, 162(3859), 1243-1248.
- Haas, J. C., Loft, L., & Pham, T. T. (2019). How Fair Can Incentive-based Conservation Get? The interdependence of distributional and contextual equity in Vietnam's payments for Forest Environmental Services Program. *Ecological Economics*, 160, 205-214.
- Hassanali, K. (2020). CARICOM and the Blue Economy: Multiple understandings and their implications for global engagement. *Marine Policy*, 120, 104137.
- Hassanali, K. J. (2022a). Participating in Negotiation of a New Ocean Treaty under the Law of the Sea Convention: Experiences of and lessons from a group of small-island developing states. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 904
- Hassanali, K. (2022b). Negotiating the BBNJ Agreement: Exploring the Caribbean Community's engagement from a blue economy perspective with special focus on environmental impact assessment provisions.
- Hastings, E., & Potts, T. (2013). Marine Litter: Progress in developing an integrated policy approach in Scotland. *Marine Policy*, 42, 49-55.

- HELCOM. (2018). HELCOM Guidelines for Monitoring Beach Litter 1. Background. www.cbss.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/marlin-baltic-marine-litter-report.pdf.
- Heyward, M. (2007). Equity and International Climate Change Negotiations: A matter of perspective. *Climate Policy*, 7(6), 518-534.
- High Seas Alliance. (2023). Agreement Reached to Advance High Seas Treaty. www.highseasalliance.org/high-seas-alliance-timeline/
- Hufty, M. (2008). The Governance Analytical Framework.
- Hufty, M. (2011). Investigating Policy Processes: The Governance Analytical Framework (GAF). Research for Sustainable Development: Foundations, experiences, and perspectives, 403-424.
- Hugo, T. G. (2018). *The case for a treaty on marine plastic pollution*. Norwegian Academy of International Law.
- Ison, S., Pecl, G., Hobday, A. J., Cvitanovic, C., & Van Putten, I. (2021). Stakeholder Influence and Relationships Inform Engagement Strategies in Marine Conservation. *Ecosystems and People*, 17(1), 320-341.
- International Maritime Organization. (1978). The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973 as Modified by the Protocol of 1978 (MARPOL 73/78), London, UK. www.imo.org/en/about/conventions/listofconventions/pages/internationalconvention-for-the-prevention-of-pollution-from-ships-(marpol).aspx.
- Jackson, J., Donovan, M., Cramer, K., & Lam, V. (2014). Status and trends of Caribbean coral reefs: 1970-2012. Gland, Switzerland: Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network; International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN).
- Jaimangal-Jones, D. (2014). Utilizing Ethnography and Participant Observation in Festival and Event Research. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*.
- Kawulich, B. B. (2005, May). Participant Observation as a Data Collection Method. In Forum qualitative sozialforschung/forum, *Qualitative Social Research* (Vol. 6, No. 2).
- Kanhai, K. L., Asmath, H., & Gobin, J. F. (2022). The Status of Marine Debris/Litter and Plastic Pollution in the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem (CLME): 1980–2020. *Environmental Pollution*, 118919.
- Kershaw, P. J. (2016). Marine Plastic Debris and Microplastics: Global lessons and research to inspire action and guide policy change.
- Labuschagne, A. (2003). Qualitative Research: Airy fairy or fundamental. *The Qualitative Report*, 8(1), 100-103.
- Lachmann, F., Almroth, B. C., Baumann, H., Broström, G., Corvellec, H., Gipperth, L., Nilsson, P. (2017). Marine Plastic Litter on Small Island Developing States (SIDS): Impacts and measures. *Swed. Instit. Mar. Environ*, 4, 1-76.
- Law, K. L., Morét-Ferguson, S., Maximenko, N. A., Proskurowski, G., Peacock, E. E., Hafner, J., & Reddy, C. M. (2010). Plastic Accumulation in the North Atlantic Subtropical Gyre. *Science*, 329(5996), 1185-1188.

- Law, E. A., Bennett, N. J., Ives, C. D., Friedman, R., Davis, K. J., Archibald, C., & Wilson, K. A. (2018). Equity Trade-offs in Conservation Decision Making. *Conservation Biology*, 32(2), 294-303.
- LeBlanc, P. R. (2010). A Practical Approach to Qualitative Interviews. *The Qualitative Report*, 15(6), 1621-1624.
- Lippiatt, S., Opfer, S., Arthur, C. (2013). Marine Debris Monitoring and Assessment. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS-OR&R-46.
- Lovett, G. M., Burns, D. A., Driscoll, C. T., Jenkins, J. C., Mitchell, M. J., Rustad, L., Shanley, J. B., Likens G. E. & Haeuber, R. (2007). Who Needs Environmental Monitoring?. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 5(5), 253-260.
- Lebreton, L.C.M., Greer, S.D., Borrero, J.C. (2012). Numerical Modeling of Floating Debris in the World's Oceans. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 64 (3), 653-661.
- Lebreton, Laurent, Matthias Egger, and Boyan Slat. (2019). A Global Mass Budget for Positively Buoyant Macroplastic Debris in the Ocean. *Scientific Reports* 9(1). doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49413-5.
- Martin, A., Gross-Camp, N., Kebede, B., McGuire, S., & Munyarukaza, J. (2014). Whose Environmental Justice? Exploring local and global perspectives in a payments for ecosystem services scheme in Rwanda. *Geoforum*, 54, 167-177.
- McDermott, M., Mahanty, S., & Schreckenberg, K. (2013). Examining Equity: A multidimensional framework for assessing equity in payments for ecosystem services. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 33, 416-427.
- Mesquita, Y. W., Mengatto, M. F., & Nagai, R. H. (2022). Where and How? A systematic review of microplastic pollution on beaches in Latin America and the caribbean (LAC). *Environmental Pollution*, 120231.
- Moedas, C. (2019). Viewpoint: Peace and Prosperity Should be End Goals of Scientific Collaboration. Science Business. https://sciencebusiness.net/viewpoint/viewpointpeace-and-prosperity-should-be-end-goals-scientific-collaboration (accessed February 18, 2020).
- Nye, J. (2017). Soft Power: The origins and political progress of a concept. *Palgrave Communications*, 3(1), 1-3.
- O'Brien, D. (2011). CARICOM: Regional Integration in a Post-colonial World. *European Law Journal*, 17(5), 630-648.
- Orona-Návar, C., García-Morales, R., Loge, F. J., Mahlknecht, J., Aguilar-Hernández, I., & Ornelas-Soto, N. (2022). Microplastics in Latin America and the Caribbean: A review on current status and perspectives. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 309, 114698.
- Ostrom, E. (2010). Analyzing Collective Action. Agricultural Economics, 41, 155-166.
- Penetrante, A. M. (2011). Politics of Equity and Justice in Climate Change Negotiations in North-South Relations. In *Coping with Global Environmental Change, Disasters and Security* (pp. 1355-1366). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Polejack, A. 2021. The Importance of Ocean Science Diplomacy for Ocean Affairs, Global Sustainability, and the UN Decade of Ocean Science. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.664066.a

- Polejack, A., Coelho, L.F., 2021. Ocean science diplomacy can be a game changer to promote the access to marine technology in Latin America and the Caribbean. *Front. Res. Metrics Anal.* 6 (637127) <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/frma.2021.637127</u>.
- Raynaud, J. (2014). Valuing Plastics: The business case for measuring. managing and disclosing plastic use in the consumer goods industry. United Nations Environment Programme
- Rognerud, I., Hurley, R., Lusher, A., Nerland Bråte, I.L., Steindal, E.H. (2022). *Addressing Microplastics in a Global Agreement on Plastic Pollution*. Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Ruoso, L. E., & Plant, R. (2021). Distributive and Contextual Equity in Landholder Participation in Biodiversity Offsets: A case study of biodiversity offsets in New South Wales, Australia. *Ecosystems and People*, 17(1), 6-24.
- Ryabinin, V, Julian,B., Haugan, P., Kullenberg, G., Smith, N., McLean, C., Troisi, A., Fischer, A.S., Aricò, S., Aarup, T., Pissierssens, P., Visbeck, M., Enevoldsen, H., Rigaud, J. 2019. The UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6(JUL).
- Ryan, P. G., Moore, C. J., Van Franeker, J. A., & Moloney, C. L. (2009). Monitoring the Abundance of Plastic Debris in the Marine Environment. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: *Biological Sciences*, 364(1526), 1999-2012.
- Ryan, P. G., Pichegru, L., Perolod, V., & Moloney, C. L. (2020). Monitoring Marine Plastics: Will we know if we are making a difference? *South African Journal of Science*, 116(5-6), 1-9.
- Schiff, M. (2014). Small States, Micro States, and their International Negotiation and Migration. *Journal of Economic Integration*, 430-449.
- Schroeder, H., Boykoff, M. T., & Spiers, L. (2012). Equity and State Representations in Climate Negotiations. *Nature Climate Change*, 2(12), 834-836.
- Serra-Gonçalves, C., Lavers, J.L., Bond, A.L., 2019. Global Review of Beach Debris Monitoring and Future Recommendations. *Environmental Science & Technology*. 53 (21), 12158-12167. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.9b01424
- Serra-Gonçalves, C., Lavers, J. L., Tait, H. L., Fischer, A. M., & Bond, A. L. (2023). Assessing the Effectiveness of MARPOL Annex V at Reducing Marine Debris on Australian Beaches. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 191, 114929.
- Starkey, L. (2017). *Challenges to Plastic up-Cycling in Small Island Communities: A Palauan tale.* UC San Diego: Center for Marine Biodiversity and Conservation. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4jd2q9dc.
- Stöfen-O'Brien, A., Ambrose, K. K., Alleyne, K. S., Lovell, T. A., & Graham, R. E. (2022). Parachute Science Through a Regional Lens: Marine litter research in the Caribbean Small Island Developing States and the challenge of extra-regional research. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 174, 113291.
- Takamura, Y. (2003). Setting the Scene for a Future Climate Change Regime: Assuring fairness from a broader perspective. *Climate Regime Beyond 2012 "Incentives for Global Participation"*. National Institute for Environmental Studies (NIES), Japan; Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Japan, 38.
- Thomas, A., Baptiste, A., Martyr-Koller, R., Pringle, P., & Rhiney, K. (2020). Climate Change and Small Island Developing States. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 45, 1-27.
- United Nations (2021) Small Island Developing States. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/to pics/sids/list.
- United Nations (2023). About Small Island Developing States. <u>www.un.org/ohrlls/content/about-small-island-developing-</u> <u>states#:~:text=Small%20Island%20Developing%20States%20(SIDS,social%</u> <u>2C%20economic%20and%20environmental%20vulnerabilities</u>.
- United Nations Environment Assembly 5/14. (2022) Resolution 5/14 End Plastic Pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument. Resolution
- United Nations Environment Programme (2023a) Cartagena Convention. www.unep.org/cep/who-we-are/cartagena-convention
- United Nations Environment Programme (2023b) Multilateral Environmental Agreements in ACP Countries – Phase III (ACP MEAs 3) www.unep.org/cep/multilateralenvironmental-agreements-acp-countries-phase-iii-acp-meas-3
- United Nations Environment Programme-Caribbean Environment Programme (2014) Regional Action Plan on Marine Litter Management (RAPMaLi) for the Wider Caribbean Region.
- United Nations Environment Programme (2022) First Session of Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee on Plastic Pollution. www.unep.org/events/conference/intergovernmental-negotiating-committee-meeting-inc-1
- United Nations Environment Programme (2023). Report of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee to Develop an International Legally Binding Instrument on Plastic Pollution, Including in the Marine Environment, on the Work of its First Session. UNEP/PP/INC.1/14.. https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/41841/UNEPINC.1-14Reportupdated.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization-Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (2021) *The United Nations Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development (2021–2030) Implementation Plan.* IOC Ocean Decade Series, 20.
- Vegter, A. C., Barletta, M., Beck, C., Borrero, J., Burton, H., Campbell, M. L., Costa, M.F., Eriksen, M., Eriksson, C., Estrades, A., Gilardi, K. V. K. Hardesty, B. D., Ivar do Sul, J. A., Lavers, J.L., Lazar, B., Lebreton, L., Nichols, W. J., Ribic, C. A., Ryan, P. G., Schuyler, Q. A., Smith, S. D. A., Takada, H., Townsend, K. A., Wabnitz, C. C. C., Wilcox, C., Young, L. C. & Hamann, M. (2014). Global Research Priorities to Mitigate Plastic Pollution Impacts on Marine Wildlife. *Endangered Species Research*, 25(3), 225-247.
- Velander, K., & Mocogni, M. (1999). Beach Litter Sampling Strategies: Is there a 'best'method?. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 38(12), 1134-1140.
- Villarrubia-Gómez, P., Cornell, S. E., & Fabres, J. (2018). Marine Plastic Pollution as a Planetary Boundary Threat: The drifting piece in the sustainability puzzle. *Marine Policy*, 96, 213-220.

- Walker, T. R. (2022). Calling for a Decision to Launch Negotiations on a New Global Agreement on Plastic Pollution at UNEA5.2. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 176, 113447.
- Walker, T. R., Grant, J., & Archambault, M. C. (2006). Accumulation of Marine Debris on an Intertidal Beach in an Urban Park (Halifax Harbour, Nova Scotia). *Water Quality Research Journal*, 41(3), 256-262.
- World Wide Fund for Nature. (2022). Laying the Foundation for Successful Negotiations on a New Plastic Treaty to end Plastic Pollution.
- World Wide Fund for Nature. (2022a). Global Plastic Navigator: Policy. <u>https://plasticnavigator.wwf.de/#/en/policy/?st=0&ch=4&mview=84.92832%</u> <u>7C-315%7C-84.9901%7C585&layers=surface-concentration%7Cpolicy-</u> <u>commitments-area&ui-info=0&ui-mpol=show%3Afalse&info=policy-</u> <u>commitments-area%7CATG</u>
- Xanthos, D., Walker, T. R. (2017). International Policies to Reduce Plastic Marine Pollution from Single-use Plastics (Plastic Bags and Microbeads): A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 118 (1-2), 17-26
- Young, O. R. (1999). Regime theory: Past, Present, and Future. In *Governance in World Affairs* (pp. 189-216). Cornell University Press.

8 Publications

PAPER 1

Ambrose, K. K. (2021). Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region: Identifying strategic pathways forward. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 171, 112767.

Marine Pollution Bulletin 171 (2021) 112767



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Marine Pollution Bulletin

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/marpolbul



Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region: Identifying strategic pathways forward

Kristal K. Ambrose

Closing the Circle: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning Programme, World Maritime University, Malmö, Sweden

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: United Nations decade of ocean science Marine debris monitoring Wider Caribbean Region Harmonization Coordination Marine plastic debris

ABSTRACT

An aim of the United Nations Decade of Ocean Science is to quantify marine plastic debris in the marine environment. This study analyzes peer-reviewed articles on marine debris monitoring conducted on beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region, with a focus on marine plastic debris. Governance and funding regimes for monitoring events were assessed to determine strategies needed for coordinated and harmonized marine plastic debris monitoring in the Wider Caribbean Region. High variation in standardized survey protocols were observed during monitoring events. Standardization of sampling methodology and reporting metrics among other considerations, are needed to establish a regional marine plastic debris monitoring program that can inform policy for the Wider Caribbean Region.

1. Introduction

1.1. Transboundary dimensions to marine plastic debris and the WCR

The United Nations Decade of Ocean Science (2021–2030) (UN Ocean Decade) aims, among others, to attain a clean ocean through the management of plastic pollution, where pollution sources are identified, quantified, reduced and removed from the marine environment (UN, 2020; Ryabinin et al., 2019). Marine plastic debris, hereafter defined as any plastic material that is deliberately or inadvertently stranded on beaches, is the most obvious sign of marine plastic debris and monitoring provides the most straightforward and practical way to assess them (HELCOM, 2018; Ryan et al., 2020). Monitoring of marine plastics can inform regional and global policy instruments needed to mitigate its severe impacts (Lippiatt et al., 2013).

Beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region (WCR) are sinks for marine plastics transported to its coasts by the great Ocean Conveyor current and currents from the North Atlantic subtropical gyre, with concentrations of 2014 pieces of marine litter/km of beach, predominantly plastic, compared to a global mean of 573 marine litter items/km (Law et al., 2010; Ambrose et al., 2019; Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, 2020; Diez et al., 2019; Clayton et al., 2020). The transboundary movement of marine plastics between coastlines within exclusive economic zones (EEZ) of the WCR, comprising the insular and coastal states and territories in the Caribbean Sea, Gulf of Mexico and parts of the Atlantic Ocean, creates complex governance problems as it crosses scales, sectors, socio-economic and cultural divisions (Cho, 2005; Hastings and Potts, 2013; UN Environment, 2021) (Fig. 1). Excessive concentrations of marine plastic debris on WCR beaches can jeopardize ecosystem and wildlife health and can compromise tourism dependent WCR economies that are reliant on clean, healthy oceans (Ambrose et al., 2019; Diez et al., 2019).

The monitoring of WCR coastlines for marine plastic debris can deliver a time series of spatial and temporal measurements that can be analyzed to yield estimates of plastic amounts, compositions, drivers and possibly sources (Lovett et al., 2007; HELCOM, 2018). This can allow a comprehensive and comparative analysis to inform legislative needs and serve as an evaluation tool for policy effectiveness (Lovett et al., 2007; Cheshire et al., 2009). Currently, monitoring efforts for marine plastic debris on beaches in the WCR lack adequate coordination and harmonization of standardized scientific protocols for data collection and corresponding governance mechanisms to support ongoing regional monitoring of marine plastic debris. A coordinated approach may help in creating a baseline on the sources, pathways and distribution of marine plastics to guide legislative interventions necessary for management. This study analyzes peer-reviewed articles on marine debris monitoring conducted on beaches in the WCR, specific to macro debris >0.5 cm and excludes microplastic surveys. Further it assesses

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112767

Received 15 May 2021; Received in revised form 20 July 2021; Accepted 22 July 2021

Available online 30 July 2021

E-mail address: w2005277@wmu.se.

⁰⁰²⁵⁻³²⁶X/© 2021 The Author. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://rendivecamaos.org/licenses/by-ac-ad/4.0/).

monitoring methodologies, governance and funding regimes and considerations needed for the development and implementation of a coordinated and harmonized marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the WCR that can support the goals of the UN Ocean Decade.

1.2. Marine plastic debris monitoring in the WCR

Legal agreements and policy measures for the WCR concerning marine plastic pollution have been established under the Cartagena Convention (1983) which was adopted to protect the marine environment of the WCR from land-based sources of marine pollution. In particular, the Regional Action Plan for Marine Litter (RAPMaLi) for the WCR (2014) was developed in response to the increased concerns of marine plastic debris in the WCR (UNEP-CEP, 2014; Clayton et al., 2020). Article VI of the Cartagena Convention on Monitoring and Assessments proposes that contracting parties formulate and implement monitoring programs that systematically identify patterns and trends in environmental quality, with monitoring data made available to scientific and technical committees of the convention (UN, 1999). The RAPMaLi recommended similar action points for marine plastic debris monitoring:- Action 1: Design and implement a strategy to develop national marine debris (inclusive of plastic, wood, glass, metal, tar, rubber, other) monitoring pilot projects in the WCR, including (UNEP-CEP, 2014) standardized methods for data collection and reporting within the framework of UNEP Regional Seas Global Marine Litter Monitoring Guidelines Action 2: Develop a regional, web-based database as a clearinghouse for marine litter information and research (UNEP-CEP, 2014; Caporusso and Hougee, 2019). However, both lack specified guidelines for development and implementation of monitoring needs.

Marine plastic debris monitoring on beaches within the WCR occurs episodically and unevenly, for example during the International Coastal Cleanup Day (ICC), annually held during the month of September (Ocean Conservancy, 2021). These events are often voluntary and organized by civic organizations as opposed to regional governments, with data collected contributing to the Ocean Conservancy's international database (Ocean Conservancy, 2021). Developing a standardized marine plastic debris monitoring program for the WCR is a critical step for building regional scientific capacity to support and measure policy interventions. Article IX of the Cartagena Convention emphasizes that the transboundary movement of pollution with adverse impacts to the marine environment, originating from land-based sources between states, within the WCR, requires states to consult with the affected to resolve the issue (UN, 1999). Such resolutions would be crucial and wellintentioned but may lack baseline scientific data needed to empirically assess comparability and accountability in and of marine plastic debris loads to determine the legislative interventions needed. Large datasets with adoptable frameworks that can be integrated within national and/ or regional policies can play a key role in addressing the global impacts of plastic pollution. Further, current research regarding marine plastic debris on beaches in the WCR requires significant improvement and standardization and would benefit from the adoption of a common reporting framework to promote consensus and comparability within the WCR (Serra-Gonçalves et al., 2019).

2. Materials and methods

A literature review was conducted using only peer-reviewed articles focused on marine debris monitoring on beaches in the WCR specific to macro debris >0.5 cm. Microplastic surveys were excluded from the literature search due to discrepancies in definition and size classification. 15 peer reviewed articles were selected and each article was assessed against criteria developed on the basis of considerations needed



Fig. 1. Wider Caribbean Region and transboundary lines delineating exclusive economic zones (EEZ).

for establishing a marine plastic debris monitoring program, inclusive of:- a) study location, b) site selection, c) number of sites surveyed, d) methodology used, e) transect measurements, f) beach type, g) monitoring frequency, h) site replication, i) dominant debris type, j) debris totals, k) dominant debris source, l) dominant geographic location, m) administration, n) actors, o) data sharing and storing and p). funding schemes associated with monitoring events. Articles were sourced via academic research platforms Scopus (www.scopus.com) and Google Scholar (www.scholar.google.com) using the keywords "marine debris", "marine plastic debris", "marine plastics", "marine litter", "plastics", "ocean plastics", "marine environment", "coastal environment", "beach", "shoreline", "monitoring", "survey", all combined with Caribbean or Wider Caribbean Region. Article snowballing, by way of other relevant studies referenced within a selected article was also utilized. The study also reviewed a published report on Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR: A Hybrid Approach, by Caporusso and Hougee, 2019, to identify gaps in knowledge and suggest pathways forward.

3. Results and discussion

Data extracted from a literature review yielding 15 peer reviewed articles from 1988 to time of writing, specific to marine debris monitoring conducted on beaches and or coastlines in the WCR, demonstrated inconsistencies in monitoring approaches and methodologies used (Fig. 2). Monitoring events extracted from the peer reviewed articles during this time frame were conducted on 28 islands and 3 coastlines situated in Caribbean South America, representing 13 countries, inclusive of territories of the United Kingdom, France and The Netherlands (S1).

3.1. Need for standardized marine plastic debris monitoring protocols

The formation of empirical data sets to drive management and policy implementations specific to marine plastic debris on beaches must be structured using data that is viable and comparable. However, this requires standardization of sampling methodology and reporting metrics to broaden the understanding of marine plastic dispersal, accumulation, composition and abundance on beaches within the WCR, with an intent to share data (Vegter et al., 2014; Serra-Gonçalves et al., 2019). Based on the complexities regarding the distribution and pathways of marine plastic debris in the environment, a transparent and definitive approach is required to characterize and assess the issue (Lippiatt et al., 2013). Key harmonization considerations for uniformity in marine plastic debris monitoring methodologies are standardized protocols and site selection.

High variation in standardized survey protocols used during monitoring events was observed in the peer-reviewed literature, accounting for 67%, inclusive of NOAA, UNEP, EA/NALG, OSPAR and IOC/ IOCARIBE related protocols; 33% of methods utilized were unspecified transect surveys (UTS) (Figs. 2; 3(a)). Transect surveys were the basis of all methodologies. However, transect measurements varied greatly with belt transects ranging from 5 m-100 m long or 1 m-5 m wide, expanding from the back beach to the high tide line. Walking surveys were also employed with a walking or skirmish pattern adopted or walking five paces in any given direction. Additionally, researchers liberally amended transect measurements based on the state of a given site. Such



Fig. 2. Marine debris monitoring protocols used within the Wider Caribbean Region.

Marine Pollution Bulletin 171 (2021) 112767



Fig. 3. Analysis of marine debris monitoring criteria extracted from peer-reviewed articles (%): - a) methodology b) site selection, c) dominant debris type, d) dominant debris source, e) dominant geographic location f) survey type g) administration, h) actors, i) funding source, j) data storing and sharing.

variation in data collection methods and reporting presents a discrepancy in unified information which is required to address said issues at national, regional and global scales, further making data incomparable (Serra-Gonçalves et al., 2019). Of the 360 sites surveyed between 1988 to time of writing, only 20% (n = 3) of the peer-reviewed articles adopted a standardized protocol specific to site selection (Fig. 3(b)). Effective site selection for monitoring events can enhance debris quantification and removal efforts and can identify key geographic features that may influence debris deposition (Haarr et al., 2019). Site selection must also assess the impact of monitoring surveys on endangered or protected species and habitats, such as nesting sea turtles (Lippiatt et al., 2013). Additionally, selected sites must preclude or note sites that are subject to regular cleaning events (Lippiatt et al., 2013).

Survey sites were predominantly undescribed beaches, with some listed as mixed substrate locations. Approximately, 90, 533 pieces of marine debris were collected from combined studies with plastic, 93% (n = 14) being the dominant debris type (Fig. 3(c)). Monitoring frequency appeared random with one or two sampling periods spread out over time periods of weeks to months to years between sampling.

Local and transboundary marine debris were simultaneously listed as the dominant debris source in 47% (n = 7) of the peer reviewed articles, while solely, transboundary debris accounted for 20% (n = 3) of the dominant debris source and locally sourced waste, 20% (n = 3) (Fig. 3 (d)). The remaining 13% (n = 2) was unspecified. Windward coastlines accounted for 40% (n = 6) of the dominant geographic location which experienced increased debris loads, with 7% (n = 1) leeward and 53% (n = 8) unspecified (Fig. 3(e)).

Stranded plastics are the predominant focus of most beach debris monitoring and provide a crude estimate of in-situ marine plastic debris, referred to as standing stock surveys (Ryan et al., 2009). Debris accumulation surveys provide similar information as standing stock surveys but assess beach dynamics to measure influx rates of debris from oceanic sources (Ryan et al., 2020). These surveys require all marine debris types to be removed from the surveyed shoreline, followed by regular surveys at the same location overtime to measure how fast debris returns to a site (Lippiatt et al., 2013). Standing stock surveys accounted for 73% (n = 11) of monitoring events conducted within the WCR, with the remaining 27% (n = 4) attributing to accumulation surveys (Fig. 3(f)). Both approaches yield useful information on the abundance and distribution of marine plastic debris. However, accumulation surveys can unveil long-term trends in debris accumulation rates and climatic and anthropogenic drivers, but these require a more thorough approach that demands increased time, resources and financial commitments (Lippiatt et al., 2013; Ryan et al., 2009; Sheavly, 2007; Ryan et al., 2020.

3.2. Funding and provision of data storing and sharing mechanisms as factors in achieving coordination and access to information

It is important to acknowledge that countries in the WCR face numerous challenges in relation to conducting marine scientific research and are limited by capacity, access to state-of-the-art technology, adequate funding and unified coordination of scientific monitoring events (Polejack and Coelho, 2021). Most of the conducted research in the peer-reviewed articles were administered by either private individuals or universities. Among the stakeholders conducting monitoring activities, 60% (n = 9) came from private entities 33% (n = 5) were solely led by a university and 7% (n = 1) was affiliated with government ministries (Fig. 3(g)). Actors, defined as those who executed the monitoring surveys, were 73% (n = 11) researcher led, with limited instances of volunteer, citizen science or military support (Fig. 3(h)). Within the acknowledgments section of each article, only 40% (n = 6) of articles reviewed mentioned the source of their research funding. Governments, universities and research institutions combined, accounted for 33% (n = 5) of funding support, while 60% (n = 9) was unspecified funding sources and 7% (n = 1) from private entities (Fig. 3(i)). The coproduction and sharing of data are key components to enhancing scientific coordination and cooperation (Claudet et al., 2020). However, only 13% (n = 2) of the reviewed articles noted data storage and/or

sharing with a third party (Fig. 3(j)).

3.3. Harmonizing marine litter monitoring in the WCR: A hybrid approach

Caporusso and Hougee, 2019, published a report on Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR: A Hybrid Approach. The report draws attention to the impacts of marine debris in the WCR and outlines monitoring and governance actions that have been undertaken and proposes a hybrid approach. A hybrid approach involves a commingling of comprehensive surveys, characterized as protocols with high resolution data to support development of mitigative and legislative strategies for ocean protection and rapid surveys, involving a simplified version of a comprehensive beach survey (Cheshire et al., 2009). The latter compliments a citizen science approach to marine debris management primarily aimed at developing public awareness about marine debris, whereas the former aims to inform policy makers on the amount, type, source and trends in beach debris over time (Cheshire et al., 2009). Both aspects are beneficial and can be achieved.

For example, environmental non-governmental organization, Bahamas Plastic Movement, adopted a hybrid approach to marine debris monitoring on beaches in The Bahamas (Ambrose et al., 2019). This boosted both public awareness and utilized citizen science monitoring of marine debris to establish a baseline dataset of spatiotemporal trends and composition of marine debris. Further, said data was used to influence a legislative ban on disposable plastics (straws, Styrofoam, utensils, plastic bags) use within the country, effected January 2020 (Ambrose et al., 2019).

The report contends that the OSPAR (Oslo-Paris Convention) Marine Litter Monitoring Protocol be adopted as the standardized comprehensive methodology for marine debris surveys on beaches in the WCR, and further suggests maintained use of citizen science-based tools such as ICC and Clean Swell. The OSPAR Convention is a legislative instrument regulating international cooperation on environmental protection in the North-East Atlantic (OSPAR, 2021). It possesses a systematic, high resolution, marine debris survey protocol, conducted by trained surveyors in the OSPAR region and has been adopted as the mandated methodology for the European Union's (EU) Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) (OSPAR, 2021; Caporusso and Hougee, 2019). This requires European Member States (MS) to develop and conduct large scale monitoring programs of the marine environment to measure, achieve and/or maintain Good Environmental Status (GES) in European Seas (Galgani et al., 2013). The implementation of the MSFD can also be ensured through recourse to infringement procedures adjudicated by the European Court of Justice, through which MS may be brought to justice before the courts for non-compliance with monitoring and reporting obligations (Stöfen-O'Brien, 2015).

The OSPAR Marine Litter Monitoring Survey Protocol was piloted in August 2018 on the Caribbean island of Bonaire, a territory of MS, The Netherlands, to test its feasibility as the standardized protocol for the WCR (Caporusso and Hougee, 2019). Functioning as an accumulation survey, the OSPAR protocol demands four annual surveys to be conducted, with a 100 m sampling unit, stretching from the back beach to the water's edge (OSPAR, 2010). This requires identification, quantification and removal of all litter items from the survey area (OSPAR, 2010). The pilot project trained 30 participants from various organizations in OSPAR's survey methodology with sampling amendments made to fit the needs and conditions of the local environment (Caporusso and Hougee, 2019). Caporusso and Hougee, 2019, state that implementation of the OSPAR method on Bonaire is feasible and can be adopted in the WCR. Bonaire's standing as a European MS, despite its Caribbean geography, increases monitoring feasibility using OSPAR requirements, making it readily enforceable with data reporting more streamlined compared to other WCR countries. The petition for the regional adoption of the protocol is based on OSPAR being fully compliant with UNEP/IOC Guidelines on Survey and Monitoring of Marine Litter with few

modifications; its longevity and success in constituent countries; and application of in-house statistical tools and ownership of data (Cheshire et al., 2009; Caporusso and Hougee, 2019).

3.4. Specific steps and recommendations to work toward coordination and harmonization of marine plastic debris monitoring in the WCR

Caporusso and Hougee, 2019, acknowledged the challenges associated with orchestrating regional coordination and harmonization of marine debris monitoring in the WCR but lacked specific elaboration on key considerations needed for implementation. These include governance, financing, training and capacity building, data management and measuring monitoring effectiveness. The underlying cause of constraints to the sustainable management of shared marine resources in the WCR is weak governance (McConney et al., 2016). The formulation of a functional science-policy interface that governs marine issues within the WCR is contingent upon adequate organization, coordination and communication of marine science data and information (McConney et al., 2016). Governing agencies that may support large scale, regional monitoring could include the United Nations Environment Programs-Caribbean Environment Program, the Cartagena Convention Secretariat or the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission- Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE) based on the contracting parties signed to the conventions and agencies experience with preexisting marine pollution monitoring programs (Atwood et al., 1987; Caporusso and Hougee, 2019). Funding is a necessary component for building infrastructure for marine plastic debris monitoring and must account for costs associated with labour. technological analyses and equipment needs associated with monitoring (Galgani et al., 2013; Rangel-Buitrago et al., 2020). The sole reliance on voluntary marine plastic debris monitoring programs on beaches in the WCR using OSPAR is ambitious and can be substantially weakened if monitoring is not mandatory and lacks financial support (Stöfen-O'Brien, 2015). Thus, adequate funding schemes must be designed and permanently secured to implement successful ongoing marine plastic debris monitoring of the marine environment in the WCR (Stöfen-O'Brien, 2015).

Long-term marine plastic debris monitoring programs must recruit field staff who receive adequate training that ensures data quality needs are met and surveying capacity remains consistent (Cheshire et al., 2009). WCR's capacity to undertake research and innovation initiatives and forge partnerships is narrowed due to its limited human capacity which requires more training and education in ocean sciences (Harden-Davies et al., 2020). This may be remedied with local or overseas training that can build and sustain a local workforce for environmental monitoring (Harden-Davies et al., 2020). A regional database, designed to address the diversity in data collection needs, must be established to ensure consistency, transparency and quality assurance on data acquisition (Cheshire et al., 2009). This will allow a comprehensive and comparative analysis of the data over space and time and can inform legislative needs for the WCR relating to marine plastic debris management (Lovett et al., 2007; Cheshire et al., 2009).

3.5. Selecting and adhering to a standardized protocol for marine plastic debris monitoring in the WCR

Though OSPAR offers a comprehensive, high resolution survey protocol, it exempts microplastics from its methodology, typically the dominant plastic type consistently reported on both leeward and windward beaches in the WCR (Ambrose et al., 2019). Further, its use in the WCR is obsolete if there is no regional governance to orchestrate monitoring events and curate data collection under that methodology to ensure data accessibility remains within the region. The variation in global standardized protocols and approaches to marine plastic debris monitoring on beaches can make it challenging for WCR countries to adopt a one size fit all model. Global marine plastic debris surveys on

beaches typically follow the structure of belt transect surveys, with a substantial number of standardized protocol guidelines existing from NOAA, UNEP, OSPAR and the Ocean Conservancy. A merging of elements from all monitoring guidelines combined could prove beneficial for the WCR once data is uniformly collected and reported following agreed upon data collection standards. Technological advancements. such as unmanned aerial vehicle surveys (drones) to accompany monitoring events in remote locations must be incorporated into program development to expand understanding of marine plastic debris geography. In the broader scope, monitoring must account for both land to ocean and ocean to land sources of plastic and other litter items. Harmonization of monitoring standards in the WCR will require a design thinking approach where intentional and appropriate questions are incorporated to mold functionality and intended outputs of a marine plastic debris monitoring program. Strategic questions that guide the development of a coordinated and harmonized marine plastic debris monitoring program for the WCR should be developed based on the need to understand:

- What is the extent of the abundance, composition, distribution and sources of marine plastic debris washing onto coastlines in the WCR?
- 2) What is the transboundary nature and movement patterns of marine plastic debris within the WCR?
- 3) What river sources in the WCR may influence debris inputs into the Caribbean Sea and outputs back to WCR coastlines?
- 4) What is the extent of microplastics inundating WCR coastlines and what are best practice measures for identifying various size classes?
- 5) What is the status of Abandoned, Lost or Otherwise Discarded Fishing Gear (ALDFG) on WCR coastlines?
- 6) Can marine plastic debris deposition on WCR beaches be traced to countries outside of the WCR and what policies can be developed to drive accountability?
- 7) How can monitoring marine plastic debris on WCR beaches help support the development of international treaties for plastic pollution?
- 8) What are the accumulation rates of marine plastic debris on WCR beaches?
- 9) How can baseline data on marine plastic debris in the marine environment be used to measure the effectiveness of implemented single use plastic bans in the WCR?
- 10) How can monitoring drive removal efforts of marine plastic debris from WCR coastlines?

An interdisciplinary approach that engages relevant stakeholder groups, inclusive of academia, industry and public policy makers in marine plastic debris management is a crucial step toward building regional capacity for synchronized marine plastic debris monitoring.

4. Conclusion

Coordinated and harmonized monitoring schemes must be established within the WCR to drive data gathering that supports the UN Ocean Decade while addressing localized and transboundary trends of marine plastic debris on WCR coastlines. Limited exchange on transboundary marine science information within the region disconnects science from policy, resulting in misinformed decision making to support regional ocean governance. Further, increased variation in data collection methods and reporting creates challenges for comparing and understanding the state of marine plastic debris across jurisdictions in the WCR that require political interventions. Thus, a standardized approach for marine debris monitoring on beaches in the WCR must be established to reflect all debris types, inclusive of macroplastics and microplastics.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.

org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112767.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Kristal K. Ambrose: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The author extends their sincere gratitude to Dr. Aleke Stöfen-O'Brien and Professor Clive Schofield for their invaluable supervision, constructive feedback, revisions and support of this research. Gratitude is also extended to colleagues Kahlil Hassanali and Zaidy Afrin for additional revisions and feedback. The author would like to acknowledge and express sincere gratitude to Georgios Fylakis for generously supporting the map production of this study. The author would also like to acknowledge the generous funding by The Nippon Foundation of the World Maritime University (WMU) - Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute as well as for The Nippon Foundation & WMU-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute's 'Closing the Circle Programme: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning' in the Eastern Caribbean.

References

- Ambrose, K.K., Box, C., Boxall, J., Brooks, A., Eriksen, M., Fabres, J., Fylakis, G., Walker, T.R., 2019. Spatial trends and drivers of marine debris accumulation on shorelines in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas using citizen science. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 142. 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marcubul.2019.03.036
- and and an observed and a second a
- monitoring project in the Wider Caribbean. Mar. Politit. Bull. 18 (10), 540–548. Caporusso, C., Hougee, M., 2019. Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR: A Hybrid Approach.
- Cheshire, A.C., Adler, E., Barbière, J., Cohen, Y., Evans, S., Jarayabhand, S., Jeftic, L., Jung, R.T., Kinsey, S., Kusui, E.T., Lavine, I., Manyara, P., Oosterbaan, L., Pereira, M. A., Sheavly, S., Tkalin, A., Varadarajan, S., Wenneker, B., Westphalen, G., 2009. UNEP/IOC Guidelines on Survey and Monitoring of Marine Litter. UNEP Regional Seas Reports and Studies. No. 186; IOC Technical Series No. 83, ii, 120 pp.
- Cho, D.O., 2005. Challenges to marine debris management in Korea. Coast. Manag. 33 (4), 389–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/08920750500217559.
- Clauder, J., Bopp, L., Cheung, W.W.L., Devillers, R., Escobar-Briones, E., Haugan, P., Gaill, F., 2020. A roadmap for using the UN Decade of Ocean Science for sustainable development in support of science, policy, and action. One Earth 2 (1), 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.10.012.
- Clayton, A.C., Walker, T.R., Carlos Bezerra, J., Issahaku, A., 2020. Policy responses to reduce single-use plastic marine pollution in the Caribbean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 111833 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marcolhul.2020.11183
- 111833 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.11183. Diez, S.M., Patil, P.G., Morton, J., Rodriguez, D.J., Vanzella, A., Robin, D.V., Maes, T., Corbin, C., 2019. Marine Pollution in the Caribbean: Not a Minute to Waste. World Bank Group.
- Galgani, F., Hanke, G., Werner, S., Oosterbaa, L., Nisson, P., Fleet, D., Kinsey, S., Thompson, R., van Francker, J., Vlachogianna, T., Scoullos, M., Veiga, J.M., Palatinus, A., Matiddi, M., Maes, T., Korpinen, S., Budziak, A., Leslie, H., Gago, J., Liebezzeit, G., 2013. Guidance on Monitoring of Marine Litter in European Seas. https://doi.org/10.2788/99475.
- Haarr, M.L., Westerveld, L., Fabres, J., Iversen, K.R., Busch, K.E.T., 2019. A novel GISbased tool for predicting coastal litter accumulation and optimizing coastal cleanup actions. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 139, 117–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marrolbuly 2018 12.025.
- Harden-Davies, H., Vierros, M., Gobin, J., Jaspers, M., von der Porten, S., Pouponneau, A., Soapi, K., 2020. Science in small island developing states: capacity challenges and options relating to marine genetic resources of areas beyond national jurisdiction. In: Report for The Alliance of Small Island States. University of Wollongong.
- Hastings, E., Potts, T., 2013. Marine litter: Progress in developing an integrated policy approach in Scotland. Mar. Policy 42, 49–55.
- HELCOM, 2018. HELCOM Guidelines for monitoring beach litter 1. Background. http:// www.cbss.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/marlin-baltic-marine-litter-report.pdf.

Marine Pollution Bulletin 171 (2021) 112767

- Law, K.L., Moret-Ferguson, S., Maximenko, N.A., Proskurowski, G., Peacock, E.E., Hafner, J., Reddy, C.M., 2010. Plastic accumulation in the North Atlantic subtropical gyre. Science 329 (1996), 1185-1188.
- Lippiatt, S., Opfer, S., Arthur, C., 2013. Marine Debris Monitoring and Assessment. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS-OR&R-46.
- Lovett, G.M., Burns, D.A., Driscoll, C.T., Jenkins, J.C., Mitchell, M.J., Rustad, L., Shanley, J.B., Likens, G.E., Haeuber, R., 2007. Who needs environmental monitoring? Front. Ecol. Environ. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[253: WNEM]2.0.CO;2.
- McConney, P., Fanning, L., Mahon, R., Simmons, B., 2016. A first look at the sciencepolicy interface for ocean governance in the Wider Caribbean Region. Front. Mar. Sci. (2), 219. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2015.00119.
- Ocean Conservancy, 2021. International Coastal Cleanup. oceanconservancy.org/trash-f ree-seas/international-coastal-cleanup/.
- OSPAR, 2010. Guidelines for Monitoring Marine Litter on the Beaches in the OSPAR Maritime Area. www.ospar.org.
- OSPAR, 2021. Protecting and conserving the North-East Atlantic and its resources. htt ps://www.ospar.org/.
- Polejack, A., Coelho, L.F., 2021. Ocean science diplomacy can be a game changer to promote the access to marine technology in Latin America and the Caribbean. Front. Res. Metrics Anal. 6 (637127) https://doi.org/10.3389/frma.2021.637127. Rangel-Buitrago, N., Williams, A., Costa, M.F., de Jonge, V., 2020. Curbing the
- Rangel-Buitrago, N., Williams, A., Costa, M.F., de Jonge, V., 2020. Curbing the inexorable rising in marine litter: an overview. Ocean Coast. Manag. 188 (1051333) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2020.105133.
- Ryabinin, V., Barbière, J., Haugan, P., Xullenberg, G., Smith, N., McLean, C., Troisi, A., Fischer, A., Aricò, A., Aarup, T., Pissierssens, P., Visbeck, M., Enevoldsen, H.O., Rigaud, J., 2019. The UN decade of ocean science for sustainable development. Front. Mar. Sci. Front. Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00470.
- Ryan, P.G., Moore, C.J., van Franeker, J.A., Moloney, C.L., 2009. Monitoring the abundance of plastic debris in the marine environment. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 364 (1526), 1999–2012. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0207.

- Ryan, P.G., Pichegru, L., Perold, V., Moloney, C.L., 2020. Monitoring marine plastics will we know if we are making a difference? S. Afr. J. Sci. 116 (5–6) https://doi.org/ 10.1716/saja.2020/7678.
- Serra-Gonçalves, C., Lavers, J.L., Bond, A.L., 2019. Global review of beach debris monitoring and future recommendations. Environmental Science & Technology. 53 (21), 12158–12167.
- Sheavly, S.B., 2007. National Marine Debris Monitoring Program: Final Program Report, Data Analysis and Summary. Ocean Conservancy.Stöfen-OBrien, A., 2015. Marine litter considerations in secondary EU law. In: The
- Storen-O Brien, A., 2015. Marine litter considerations in secondary EU law. In: The International and European Legal Regime Regulating Marine Litter in the EU, pp. 264–386.
- UN Environment, 2021. Wider Caribbean. https://www.unenvironment.org/explor e-topics/oceans-seas/what-we-do/working-regional-seas/regional-seasprogr ammes/wider#:--:text=Overview,28%20island%20and%20continental%20countr ies.
- UNEP-CEP, 2014. RapMaLi for the Wider Caribbean Region. CEP Technical Report. 72. http://www.cep.unep.org/cep-documents/rapmali_web.pdf, 2021. United Nations, 1999. Protocol concerning pollution from land-based sources and
- United Nations, 1999. Protocol concerning pollution from land-based sources and activities to the convention for the protection and development of the marine environment of the Wider Caribbean Region. https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/h andle/20.500.11822/3454/LBS Protocol-en.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y. United Nations, 2020. The science we need for the ocean we want: The United Nations.
- United Nations, 2020. The science we need for the ocean we want: The United Nations Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development (2021-2030). IOC Brochure. https://www.oceandecade.org/assets/The_Science_We_Need_For_The_Ocean_We_Wa nt.pdf.
- Vegter, A.C., Barletta, M., Beck, C., Borrero, J., Burton, H., Campbell, M.L., Costa, M.F., Eriksen, M., Erikson, C., Estrades, A., Gilardi, K.V.K., Hardesty, B.D., do Sul Lavers, J.A.I., 2014. Global research priorities to mitigate plastic pollution impacts on marine wildlife. Endanger. Species Res. 25 (3), 225–247.
- Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, 2020. The ocean conveyor. https://www.whoi. edu/know-vour-ocean/ocean-topics/ocean-circulation/the-ocean-conveyor.

PAPER 2

Ambrose, K.K., Walker, T.R. (2023). Identifying opportunities for harmonised microplastics and mesoplastics monitoring for Caribbean Small Island Developing States using a spatiotemporal assessment of beaches in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 115140

Marine Pollution Bulletin 193 (2023) 115140



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Marine Pollution Bulletin

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/marpolbul

Baseline





^a World Maritime University (WMU)-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute

Bahamas Plastic Movement, Eleuthera, The Bahamas

^c School for Resource and Environmental Studies, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Microplastics Mesoplastics The Bahamas Caribbean SIDS Monitoring Global plastics treaty

ABSTRACT

Increasing quantities of microplastics and mesoplastics in the marine environment underscore the need for marine microplastics to be included in the global Plastics Treaty to end plastic pollution. Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS) lack harmonized microplastics monitoring protocols, leaving them data deficient at the science-policy interface required for treaty negotiations. This baseline study assessed spatial and seasonal abundance and distribution of microplastic (1-5 mm) and mesoplastic (5-25 mm) on 16 beaches with three coastal exposures (Atlantic Ocean, Exuma Sound, Bahama Bank) in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas and its implications for Caribbean SIDS. Microplastics were the dominant debris type sampled (74 %) across all beaches, with significant spatial (p = 0.0005) and seasonal (p = 0.0363) differences in abundance and distribution across study sites. This baseline study identifies opportunities required for developing harmonized microplastics and mesoplastics monitoring by Caribbean SIDS to collect data to help support global plastics treaty negotiations.

Microplastics (1-5 mm) and slightly larger plastic fragments, mesoplastics (5-25 mm) are plastic particles derived from primary (intentionally manufactured plastic pellets or plastic microbeads used in exfoliants) or secondary (ultraviolet (UV) fragmentation and degradation of larger plastics in the environment) sources (Andrady, 2011; Browne et al., 2011; Jabeen et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2017; Bosker et al., 2018). Accumulation of these tiny plastic particles have been documented in marine environments including estuaries, mangroves, coral reefs, and the ocean sea surface (Rakib et al., 2023a). Additionally, they have also been widely reported on beaches (Lebreton et al., 2017; Zhang, 2017: Garcés-Ordóñez et al., 2021). The chemical composition of microplastics and mesoplastics include chemicals incorporated during their production and those adsorbed from the marine environment including persistent organic pollutants (POPS) such as organic chemicals and metals which adhere to plastic surfaces in the ocean (Andrady, 2011; Bakir et al., 2014; Rognerud et al., 2022). Toxic chemicals associated with microplastics and mesoplastics may impact human and ecosystem health as microplastics and mesoplastics can be transferred along the food chain via ingestion through predator-prey interactions, resulting in bioaccumulation of toxins across trophic levels (GarcésOrdóñez et al., 2021; Mesquita et al., 2022; Rakib et al., 2023b). An estimated 170 trillion plastic particles, mainly microplastics, are afloat in all the world's oceans, thus driving the need for urgent action and solutions at the global level (Eriksen et al., 2023).

In March 2022, the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA) adopted a resolution (Resolution 5/14) to combat plastic pollution with a global and legally binding plastics treaty by 2024 (Bergmann et al., 2022; Walker, 2022). There is also international recognition of the need for microplastics to be included in the development of the plastics treaty negotiations between UN member states (Rognerud et al., 2022; Ambrose and Hassanali, 2023 in review). As intergovernmental negotiating committee (INC) negotiations continue through 2024, the scope for microplastics to be addressed in the treaty will need to be highlighted. This will require both global and regional knowledge on the extent and magnitude of impacts of microplastics (Rognerud et al., 2022)

It has been reported that Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS) account for <3 % of microplastics and/or mesoplastics on beaches within the Caribbean and Latin America based on monitoring data (Mesquita et al., 2022). This leaves Caribbean SIDS data deficient at the

https://doi.org/10.1016/i.marpolbul.2023.115140

Received 8 April 2023; Received in revised form 30 May 2023; Accepted 1 June 2023

Available online 14 June 2023

^{*} Corresponding author at: Closing the Circle: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning Programme, World Maritime University, Malmö, Sweden. E-mail address: w2005277@wmu.se (K.K. Ambrose).

⁰⁰²⁵⁻³²⁶X/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/).

science-policy interface required to formulate their negotiating positions for the development of the global plastics treaty (Ambrose, 2021; Polejack and Coelho, 2021; Mesquita et al., 2022; Ambrose and Hassanali, 2023). Caribbean SIDS, [here defined as including Antigua and Barbuda, The Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Cuba, Dominica, Dominican Republic, Grenada, Guyana, Haiti, Jamaica, St. Kitts and Nevis, St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname and Trinidad and Tobago], share distinct characteristics of their ecology, culture and economic reliance on tourism and ocean-based industries (Diez et al., 2019; Stöfen-O'Brien, 2022; Ambrose and Hassanali, in review). Their combined proximity to subtropical gyres results in the transboundary Marine Pollution Bulletin 193 (2023) 115140

receipt of microplastics and other plastic and waste materials to their shorelines (Lachmann et al., 2017; Ambrose et al., 2019; Ambrose, 2021). Additionally, their reliance on imported goods and lack of infrastructure for waste management creates substantial barriers to the effective management of plastic pollution, compromising their tourism economies which are reliant on clean, healthy oceans and beaches (Starkey, 2017; Ambrose et al., 2019; Diez et al., 2019; Clayton et al., 2021).

Caribbean SIDS experience daunting challenges in their ability to conduct coordinated and harmonized monitoring of macroplastics, mesoplastics and microplastics in the marine environment due to



Fig. 1. Microplastic and mesoplastic debris study sites for South Eleuthera, The Bahamas (Source: Ambrose et al., 2019).

limitations in human capacity, access to technological resources and adequate funding (Ambrose et al., 2019; Polejack and Coelho, 2021; Ambrose, 2021; Stöfen-O'Brien et al., 2022; Ambrose and Hassanali, 2023). However, as they participate in ongoing INC meetings to develop the global plastics treaty, Caribbean SIDS will require specific local and regional scientific monitoring data on the abundance, distribution, economic and health implications of microplastics and mesoplastics in the marine environment to underpin their negotiating positions (Ambrose and Hassanali, in review).

This baseline study aims to provide a baseline understanding of the spatial and seasonal abundance, diversity and distribution of microplastics and mesoplastics on 16 beaches in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas, based on proximity to coastal exposures of the Atlantic Ocean (AO), Exuma Sound (ES) or Bahama Bank (BB). This study also seeks to identify opportunities for harmonized microplastics and mesoplastics monitoring for Caribbean SIDS by assessing the data collection methods used within this study. This study builds on Ambrose et al. (2019), a study which reported on the "Spatial trends and drivers of marine debris accumulation on shorelines in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas using citizen science" and maintains the same study site and site descriptions listed by Ambrose et al. (2019) as data for this baseline study was collected within the aforementioned study.

The island of Eleuthera is located within the central Bahamas (Fig. 1). Three coastlines, AO, ES and BB were assessed. The AO (east of Eleuthera) is characterized by deep waters and circulating currents of the North Atlantic sub-tropical gyre (Law et al., 2010). The Bahamas Archipelago consists of shallow-water carbonate banks like the BB and hosts deep channels and deep-water basins such as the ES, a largely enclosed basin >1000 m deep, with steep canyons (Colin, 1995). Sixteen beaches throughout South Eleuthera were monitored and grouped according to their exposure to three distinct coastlines (Fig. 1). AO beaches were: 1. Winding Bay: 2. Half Sound: 3. Airport Beach: 4. Northside Beach; 5. Cotton Bay North; 6. Cotton Bay South; 7. Lighthouse Beach. ES beaches were: 8. Bannerman Town Beach; 9. Wemyss Bight Beach; 10. Plum Creek: 11. Fourth Hole. BB beaches were: 12. Sunset Beach; 13. Sunrise Beach; 14. IS/CEI Boys Dorm Beach; 15. Paige Creek; and 16. Red Bays. Most beaches varied in beach dynamics, were remote from industrial, commercial or densely populated areas. Each beach was monitored twice, once in spring (dry season) (March-May 2013) and again in fall (wet season) (September-November 2013), at the same location, verified using a handheld Garmin GPSMAP® 76 GPS, except for Lighthouse Beach which was only monitored once during the fall, resulting in 4 less samples being obtained. Citizen scientist teams (at least four individuals), were mobilized during each monitoring exercise, where surveys were performed to assess marine debris concentrations using a modified methodology from the 5 Gyres Institute's microplastics beach sampling guide (5 Gyres, 2012). Extensive training was provided to all citizen science volunteers. Date, time, weather conditions, wind

direction and speed, tidal information, beach dynamics and site usage were documented during each monitoring episode. Site usage was based on the first author's local experience of visitation frequency.

Four random 5 m wide transects within a 100 m section of shoreline were initially selected for a macro debris survey (Fig. 2). A measuring tape ran perpendicular to the shoreline from the back beach or first sign of vegetation to the high tide mark also known as the 'wrack line' (consistent with the high tide line where seaweed is deposited), to identify the length of each transect. Within each transect, four 1×1 m quadrats were randomly casted by volunteers, within the wrack line of each transect selected for the macro debris survey (Fig. 2). Using a small shovel, 3 cm of sand was scooped evenly across the grid and sieved through a set of nested sieve boxes with a mesh size 1 mm capturing microplastics and mesh size of 5 mm capturing mesoplastics.

Microplastic and mesoplastic particles were quantified along with additional categories of plastic foam, film, food wrappers, pellets, filaments, jugs or containers, cigar tips, cigarettes, personal care products and other miscellaneous plastics. Plastic particles were quantified and categorized before being extracted from each sieve and placed in its appropriately labeled sample bags. This study excluded microfibers and focused on microplastics readily visible to the naked eye and quantifiable within the sieve boxes. All data points collected between seasons were pooled together for analysis using JMP® Statistical Analysis Software. This represented a sample size of n = 8 per sampling site with the exception of Lighthouse Beach where n = 4. Due to non-normal distribution of the data, a non-parametric Wilcoxon test was used. Error bars within figures indicate standard error, denoted as SE within the text.

Spatial analyses of microplastic and mesoplastic deposits showed a significant difference between microplastics (p = 0.0005) found between exposures AO, ES, BB but no significant difference for mesoplastics (p = 0.5). Mean microplastics per square meter between exposures were AO: $9.75/m^2$ (± 12.8 SE), ES: $2.29/m^2/$ (± 3.8 SE), BB: $3.13/m^2/$ (± 7.4 SE) (Fig. 3). Whereas mean mesoplastics per square meter between exposures were AO: $1.55/m^2$ (± 3.7 SE), ES: $1.23/m^2$ (± 3.0 SE), BB: $1.1/m^2$ (± 3.3 SE), (Fig. 3). There was a significant difference between microplastics (p = 0.004) found per square meter of beach. Beaches 1, $21/m^2$ ($\pm 2.3.5$ SE), $2, 9.75/m^2$ (± 3.8 SE) and 3, $10.5/m^2$ (± 8.6 SE) had the highest concentrations of microplastics (Fig. 4).

Seasonal distribution of samples collected between spring 2013 (dry season) and fall 2013 (wet season) across various exposures showed a significant difference in abundance for both microplastics (p = 0.0363) and mesoplastics (p = 0.0055). Seasonal concentrations of mean microplastics per square meter across all beaches combined during the fall were $3.91/m^2$ (± 8.1 SE) and spring $7.72/m^2/$ (± 11.6 SE). While mesoplastics during fall were $2.11/m^2$ (± 4.3 SE) and spring: $0.48/m^2/$



Fig. 2. Microplastic and mesoplastic debris survey area (Source: 5 Gyres, 2012).

Marine Pollution Bulletin 193 (2023) 115140



Fig. 3. Spatial distribution of microplastics and mesoplastics across exposures.



Fig. 4. Spatial distribution of microplastics and mesoplastics across beaches.

(±1.6 SE).

Microplastics collectively represented 74 % of debris collected during micro debris surveys, with mesoplastics representing 17 %, plastic filament, 4 % and plastic foam, pellets and film representing the remaining 2 %, 2 % and 1 %, respectively (Fig. 5). Fragments from plastic food wrappers and other miscellaneous plastics represented the remaining categories. There was no significant difference (p = 0.1247) between debris type and season. However, there was a significant difference there near devises (1 mm–5 mm), referred to as pre-production plastic pellets or "nurdles" showed a significant difference (p = 0.00016) in mean amount per square meter found across exposures, with the AO having the only concentrations of pellets with a mean of $0.61/m^2$ (± 2.0 SE).

The spatiotemporal distribution of microplastics and mesoplastics in this study indicate shorelines within ocean exposures of The Bahamas examined here are prone to the fragmentation and deposition of microplastics. Secondary microplastics were also identified on beaches within all exposures. However, AO beaches, which were windward facing, less frequented and further from habitation, experienced increased concentrations of primary and secondary microplastics. This phenomenon may be explained in part by AO beaches' exposure to major current systems of the AO such as the North Atlantic Gyre and dominant trade winds that influence debris movement onto AO sites (Law et al., 2010; Schmuck et al., 2017; Ambrose et al., 2019). Additionally, high relative exposure index (REI) values for AO sites studied link wind speed and direction along with high fetch (distance traveled

Marine Pollution Bulletin 193 (2023) 115140



Fig. 5. Percent composition of microplastic and mesoplastic debris collected.

by wind or waves across water) values to the long-range transport of debris such as microplastics (Walker et al., 2006; Ambrose et al., 2019).

In contrast, leeward exposures of the ES and BB experienced significantly less microplastic and mesoplastic deposits. According to Ambrose et al., (2019), relatively fewer deposits on BB sites may be attributed to the location of the leeward, open carbonate bank margins of these sites and their orientation which shields them from dominant winds, further directing its sediments off the bank. It has further been postulated that western boundary currents of the Gulf Stream paired with sediment transport rates and plastics ability to sink based on changes in density once in the marine environment as an explanation for the reduction of microplastics within BB locations (Hine et al., 1981; Lusher, 2015; Ambrose et al., 2019). Moreover, a "mini" gyre has been observed within the ES where its surface circulation is dominated by eddies and jets with seldom movement of waters between the ES and AO, suggesting the movement of debris into the ES but rarely out (Colin, 1995; Ambrose et al., 2019). Subsequently trawl samples of floating microplastics ranging from 22,500 to 125,000 pieces of floating plastic/ km² have been observed within various parts of the ES, with the largest trawl sample containing 1.95 million pieces of floating plastic/km² (Moore et al., 2015; Ambrose et al., 2019). Despite the compelling evidence of microplastics afloat within the ES, the self-contained nature of the Sound, coupled with the unique circulation of its surface waters therein may explain its retention of microplastics within its gyre and limited output onto its beaches (Ambrose et al., 2019).

Results from Ambrose et al. (2019) indicated that seasonal monitoring of macro plastic debris collected on the same date and location of each microplastic and mesoplastic survey showed no significant difference (p = 0.8) in seasonal sampling. However, results from this study suggest that seasons may play a role in the deposition of microplastic and mesoplastic distribution across various coastal exposures. Results from the study indicate that during the spring, microplastics are more prevalent across beaches while mesoplastics are more prevalent during the fall. This may be explained by oceanic activity occurring during hurricane season (June 1-Nov 30) (Finlayson, 2023), whereby winds and currents may drive debris, inclusive of microplastics, onto shorelines over time, with more observed deposits during the dry season. Conversely, it has been suggested that mesoplastics occurring more in the fall could be due to fragmentation of larger debris items left behind from anthropogenic activity from fishing, tourism or recreational activities occurring at various locations, in addition to plastic deposits from oceanic sources onto the beach (Ambrose et al., 2019). Such theories will need to be supported by specified research on meteorological influences such as historic wind data, sunshine duration and UV radiation indices on plastic debris deposition and fragmentation onto Bahamian shorelines, which may explain plastic degradation rates and its connection to microplastic concentrations.

Findings from this study were congruent with several regional and global studies indicating microplastics as the dominant debris type found on sandy beaches (Schmuck et al., 2017; Bosker et al., 2018; Dela-Torre et al., 2020; Chen and Chen, 2020; Fernander and Unwala, 2021; Mesquita et al., 2022). Ambrose et al. (2019) macro debris surveys collected mesoplastic samples visible to the naked eye from the back beach (or first sign of vegetation) leading into the high tide line. These surveys documented >50 % of debris collected throughout the study transects to be plastic fragments of some nature. It is possible that the lower occurrence of mesoplastics recorded within the present study be due to its varied distribution across the beach as plastic fragments may have occurred north of the high tide line where quadrats were conducted.

Plastic pellets, raw materials used for plastic production, are widely distributed throughout the world's oceans (Fotopoulou and Karapanagioti, 2012). These pellets are also known to escape through minute crevices during oceanic transport, resulting in their deposition into the sea. Within recent years there have been mass pellet spills occurring on beaches in Hong Kong in 2012 and Sri Lanka in 2021, with the latter deemed as the biggest marine plastic spill in history with a record 1680 metric tons of plastic pellets released on the Sri Lanka coast (The Washington Post, 2012; CEN, 2023; The Guardian, 2022). Plastic pellets, from unknown origins, were only discovered on AO beaches compared to other coastal exposures, suggesting long-range transport due to oceanic currents near AO study sites. These findings however, do not limit plastic pellets to one coastal location as studies done in Nassau, The Bahamas identified plastic pellets at leeward coastal locations studied (Fernander and Unwala, 2021). Though, it is important to note that the coastal exposures within Nassau and the island of Eleuthera vary so the presence of pellets on AO coasts may be exclusive to Eleuthera Island and other AO facing beaches throughout the country, but more studies are required to confirm this. With excess loads of plastic pellets afloat at the sea surface, it is plausible that ocean currents may transport them to beaches within the Atlantic Ocean or Caribbean Sea in the years to come. However, this will need to be confirmed with ocean modeling data.

Though this study provided important information on the abundance

of microplastics and mesoplastics specific to beaches in The Bahamas, its implications remain relevant for other Caribbean SIDS who experience similar deposition rates of microplastics within the marine environment and to building the scientific base for Caribbean SIDS negotiation positions for global plastics treaty (Bosker et al., 2018; Mesquita et al., 2022; Kanhai et al., 2022; Ambrose and Hassanali, in review). Microplastic ingestion within culturally, economically, and ecologically important fish species within Caribbean SIDS revealed that 97 % of fish species examined, such as Mahi Mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*), Red Snapper (*Lutjanus baccanella*), Mutton Snapper (*Lutjanus analis*) and Red Hind (*Epinephelus guttas*) among others, contained microplastics in their digestive tracts (Morrall et al., 2018).

As coastal nations who are reliant on marine fish as a main source of food and protein (Akpalu and Okyere, 2022), the presence of microplastics in fish can potentially compromise human health within Caribbean SIDS, as harmful toxins from microplastics are known to accumulate in tissues of marine organisms (Garcés-Ordóñez et al., 2020). Moreover, its presence in staple marine food resources and key marine ecosystems that are utilized for subsistence, commercial and recreational activities can compromise fisheries and tourism economies, which are predominant economic drivers for Caribbean SIDS (Diez et al., 2019).

Baseline data collection for this study occurred in 2013, which roughly coincided with the study by Eriksen et al. (2014) who estimated that 5.25 trillion particles were afloat at the sea surface. These are now considered huge underestimates, as a recent study by Eriksen et al. (2023) reports that there has been a 32-fold increase of microplastics at the sea surface. Presumably this would also suggest possible increases of microplastic accumulation on beaches. Thus, the relatively simplified nature of sampling methodology used in this study requires adoption of a standardized and harmonized approach given the increase and prevalence of microplastics and mesoplastics but also microfibers within the marine environment.

This baseline study limited its sampling area to the high tide line where seaweed is deposited, allowing for quantification of incoming deposits of microplastics from the ocean to the beach. However, it excluded other beach compartments, i.e. mid and back beach. Increasing the spatial resolution of the sampling area within a singular study location can illustrate the plastic debris distribution and influx within a particular beach (Ryan et al., 2020). Visual observations of increased concentrations of microplastics occurring at the back beach of AO beach (6) Cotton Bay South have been observed by the authors. Besley et al. (2017) review of microplastic sampling methodologies indicated that location of sampling on the beach may not influence the overall outcomes of the results. Despite this finding, this study maintains that methodologies should consider how meteorological and geographic features influence distribution and degradation of microplastics within beach compartments.

This study maintained a sampling depth of 3 cm of sand being evenly scooped by shovel across the quadrat and immediately sifted into sieve boxes. However, variations in the sediment gradient between each study plot, paired with unverified measurements of sand being sampled could have possibly skewed the data. Studies indicate that sampling depths between 1 and 5 cm remain comparable with other microplastic studies, further advising the top 5 cm of sand as ideal for sample collection (Besley et al., 2017). Though this study's sampling depth remained congruent with global studies, it relied on microplastic counts conducted by the naked eye and excluded extractive processes involved with collecting, drying, distilling and filtering sand to quantify both microplastics and microfibers in a laboratory setting (Besley et al., 2017; Fernander and Unwala, 2021; Kanhai et al., 2022). These research limitations occurred due to the novelty of the research at the time, funding limitations to support the study, access to laboratory instruments and materials, along with limitations on microplastic monitoring methodologies at the time.

The Wider Caribbean Region (WCR), including Caribbean SIDS, lack

coordinated and harmonized marine debris monitoring programs (Ambrose, 2021). Caporusso and Hougee (2019), published a report on Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR: A Hybrid Approach. The report drew attention to the impacts of marine debris in the WCR and proposed adopting the OSPAR (Oslo-Paris Convention) Marine Litter Monitoring Protocol to promote scientific unification among the region (Caporusso and Hougee, 2019). Despite being updated in 2021 (Caporusso and Hougee, 2021), the proposed methodology was limiting as it excluded microplastics (Ambrose, 2021). The lack of methodological standardization and variation in units used to report microplastic distribution and abundance within Caribbean SIDS remains a major challenge (Kanhai et al., 2022; Mesquita et al., 2022). This extends to varying definitions of microplastics, diversity of sampling techniques and extraction methods used to quantify samples (Besley et al., 2017).

Monitoring microplastics in the marine environment can provide information on potential sources, composition, distribution, quantity, and fluctuations over time (Ambrose, 2021; Rognerud et al., 2022). For Caribbean SIDS, data considerations on the state of microplastics must extend beyond beaches to account for microplastics within ocean surface waters to understand pathways for deposition into ecologically and economically important ecosystems such as mangroves, seagrass, and coral reefs (Diez et al., 2019; Kanhai et al., 2022). Additional research emphasis should be placed on microplastics and microfibers occurrence in the intestinal tracts of marine fish, freshwater ecosystems, drinking water, wastewater, soil and sediments and its implications on human and ecosystem health (Orona-Návar et al., 2022). Moreover, an understanding of the bioaccumulative nature of POPS and other toxins in microplastics, their presence within marine organisms and ecosystems within Caribbean SIDS, and human health implications must be considered.

Knowledge gaps remain on the main sources, abundance, and distribution of microplastics within Caribbean SIDS and must be addressed to inform mitigative actions at national, regional and international levels, particularly within the negotiating forum of the global plastics treaty agreement (Orona-Návar et al., 2022). Implementing microplastics monitoring programs would require funding to support data collection, laboratory analysis and technological research needs, capacity building and training for relevant actors involved and a data repository to facilitate scientific cooperation and information exchange between countries (Ambrose, 2021). As Caribbean SIDS continue to experience challenges in their ability to fund and execute harmonized monitoring activities, partnerships should be pursued between universities, organizations and UN member states from developed countries possessing adequate infrastructure to support unified and diversified microplastic monitoring and analysis (Orona-Návar et al., 2022; Ambrose and Hassanali, in review).

It may be argued that the plethora of global evidence on microplastic pollution in the marine and natural environment, along with known threats posed to human health, is sufficient for Caribbean SIDS to adopt the precautionary principle in their negotiating positions during the INCs (Ambrose and Hassanali, in review). The precautionary principle proposes that the existence of a threat that leads to inevitable damages that lack scientific certainty should not be used as a barrier for preventative action for environmental protection (Gollier and Treich, 2012). For delegations from Caribbean SIDS, possessing localized, national and regional scientific data on microplastics source, abundance, distribution and impacts on Caribbean SIDS will help inform negotiating positions that support equitable distribution of the costs, benefits and risks associated with treaty outcomes (Ambrose and Hassanali, in review). For example, transboundary marine plastic debris, originating from as far as the west coast of the African continent have been documented on several beaches within Caribbean SIDS (Ambrose et al., 2019; Ambrose, 2021).

Robust monitoring data, to help identify countries responsible for transboundary sources of marine debris onto its shorelines can inform negotiations of international law such as polluter pays principles or

common but differentiated responsibilities within the context of the global plastics treaty (Ambrose and Hassanali, in review). Caribbean SIDS, among several delegations, are advocating for the inclusion of both principles in the treaty as the principles assume that the polluter be held responsible for the costs of environmental damages and mitigation efforts based on each country's capacity and contribution to the problem (Heyward, 2007). However, with the absence of robust, localized scientific data with adequate evidence, the application of polluter pays principle may remain difficult. This may lead to a situation in which, Caribbean SIDS remaining disadvantaged in their ability to advocate for equitable outcomes, also in relation to compensation of legacy pollution (Nwafor and Walker, 2020; Stöfen-O'Brien, 2022; Ambrose and Hassanali, in review).

Caribbean SIDS have varying national capacities to support data gathering on the proliferation of microplastics in the environment as most of the scientific data used in their preparation for INC-1 was derived from United Nations Environment Program (UNEP) or other external sources to shape their understanding and national positions (Ambrose and Hassanali, in review), Given the condensed timeline of the treaty formulation, paired with limited human and scientific capacity and funding mechanisms within Caribbean SIDS, it seems unlikely that a comprehensive, harmonized, regional dataset on microplastics will be produced before 2024. The treaty text should incorporate monitoring obligations with additional of capacity building and financial support necessary for developing states to gather adequate and relevant data (Rognerud et al., 2022). Coordination and harmonization of microplastics monitoring within Caribbean SIDS will require collaboration among academia, non-governmental organizations, research institutions and policy makers within governments (Ambrose, 2021). With varying methodologies for microplastic monitoring available, research objectives must first be established among relevant stakeholders within Caribbean SIDS to determine appropriate methodology to be applied (Velander and Mocogni, 1999; Besley et al., 2017; Mesquita et al., 2022).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Kristal K. Ambrose: Conceptualization, Methodology, Data Analysis, Writing- original draft, Writing-review & editing. Tony R. Walker: Conceptualization, review and editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to Carolynn Box for the expertise and guidance offered on the methodological approach utilized. The Cape Eleuthera Institute for in-kind support of data collection and all citizen science volunteers for their substantial contributions to this project. Gratitude is also extended to Dr. Aleke Stöfen-O'Brien and Professor Clive Schofield for their supervision, revisions and support of this research and to Georgios Fylakis for generously supporting the map production of this study and the Grace of God and our Lord Jesus Christ. Lastly, the authors would like to acknowledge the generous funding by The Nippon Foundation of the World Maritime University (WMU) - Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute as well as for The Nippon Foundation & WMU-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute's 'Closing the Circle Programme: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning' in the Eastern Caribbean.

Marine Pollution Bulletin 193 (2023) 115140

References

- Akpalu, W., Okvere, M.A., 2022. Fish protein transition in a coastal developing country. Environ. Resour. Econ. 1–19.
- Ambrose, K.K., 2021, Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the wider Caribbean region: identifying strategic pathways forward. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 171, 112767.
- Ambrose, K.K., Hassanali, K., 2023. in review Assessing and Addressing Equity: A Framework for Key Drivers Needed by Caribbean SIDS to Achieve Equity Preparation and Participation in the Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations, World Maritime University.
- Ambrose, K.K., Box, C., Boxall, J., Brooks, A., Eriksen, M., Fabres, J., Walker, T.R., 2019. Spatial trends and drivers of marine debris accumulation on shorelines in South Eleuthera, the Bahamas using citizen science. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 142, 145–154
- Andrady, A.L., 2011. Microplastics in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62 (8), 1596-1605.
- Bakir, A., Rowland, S.J., Thompson, R.C., 2014. Transport of persistent organic pollutants by microplastics in estuarine conditions. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 140, 14-21.
- Bergmann, M., Almroth, B.C., Brander, S.M., Dev, T., Green, D.S., Gundogdu, S., Krieger, A., Wagner, M., Walker, T.R., 2022. A global plastic treaty must cap production. Science 376 (6592), 469–470.
- Besley, A., Vijver, M.G., Behrens, P., Bosker, T., 2017. A standardized method for sampling and extraction methods for quantifying microplastics in beach sand. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 114 (1), 77–83.
- Bosker, T., Guaita, L., Behrens, P., 2018. Microplastic pollution on Caribbean beaches in the Lesser Antilles. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 133, 442–447.
- vne, M.A., Crump, P., Niven, S.J., Teuten, E., Tonkin, A., Galloway, T., Thom 2011. Accumulation of microplastic on shorelines worldwide: sources and sinks. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45 (21), 9175–9179.
- Caporusso, C., Hougee, M., 2019. Harmonizing Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR: A Hybrid Approach.
- Caporusso, C., Hougee, M., 2021. Action Plan for Harmonized Marine Litter Monitoring in the WCR.
- CEN, 2023. Grappling With the Biggest Marine Plastic Spill in History. http org/environment/pollution/marine-plastic-spill-xpress-pearl-nurdle/101/i3. Chen, M.C., Chen, T.H., 2020. Spatial and seasonal distribution of microplastics on sandy
- beaches along the coast of the Hengchun Peninsula. Taiwan. Marine Pollution Bulletin 151, 110861.
- Clayton, C.A., Walker, T.R., Bezerra, J.C., Adam, I., 2021. Policy response single-use plastic marine pollution in the Caribbean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 162. 111833.
- Colin, P.L., 1995. Surface currents in Exuma sound, Bahamas and adjacent areas with
- Com, Tan, 1996, otmatic Currents in reasonable solution of the toplex in terms with reference to potential larval transport. Bull. Mar. Sci. 56 (1), 48–57.
 De-la-Torre, G.E., Dioses-Salinas, D.C., Castro, J.M., Antay, R., Fernández, N.Y., Espinoza-Morriberón, D., Saldaña-Serrano, M., 2020. Abundance and distribution of microplastics on sandy beaches of Lima, Peru, Marine Pollution Bulletin 151. 11005
- Diez, S.M., Patil, P.G., Morton, J., Rodriguez, D.J., Vanzella, A., Robin, D., Corbin, C., 2019. Marine Pollution in the Caribbean: not a Minute to Waste. https://www.unep. org/cep/resources/publication/marine-pollution-caribbean-not-minute-waste#:-text=Pollution%2C%20including%20marine%20litter%2C%20plasticsvalued% 20by%20the%20tourism%20sector. Eriksen, M., Lebreton, L.C.M., Carson, H.S., Thiel, M., Moore, C.J., Borerro, J.C.
- Galgani, F., Ryan, P.G., Reisser, J., 2014. Plastic pollution in the w more than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea, PLoS One 9 (12), e111913.
- Eriksen, M., Cowger, W., Erdle, L.M., Coffin, S., Villarrubia-Gómez, P., Moore, C.J., Day, R.H., Thiel, M., Wilcox, C., 2023. A growing plastic smog, now estimated to be over 170 trillion plastic particles afloat in the world's oceans-urgent solutions required, PLoS One 18 (3), e0281596.
- Fernander, J.A., Unwala, K.W., 2021. Microplastics in the Bahamas: A reconnaissance quantifying the prevalence on selected beaches in New Providence. International Journal of Bahamian Studies 27, 37-46.
- Finlayson, M., 2023. A Year in Weather at Cape Eleuthera (2022). Report, Cape Eleuthera Institute. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.21983048.v1.
- Fotopoulou, K.N., Karapanagioti, H.K., 2012. Surface properties of beached plastic pellets. Mar. Environ. Res. 81, 70–77.
- Garcés-Ordóñez, O., Mejía-Esquivia, K.A., Sierra-Labastidas, T., Patiño, A., Blandón, L. M., Díaz, L.F.E., 2020. Prevalence of microplastic contamination in the digestive tract of fishes from mangrove ecosystem in Cispata. Colombian Caribbean. Marine Pollution Bulletin 154, 111085.
- Garcés-Ordóñez, O., Espinosa, L.F., Costa Muniz, M., Salles Pereira, L.B., Meigikos dos Anjos, R., 2021. Abundance, distribution, and characteristics of mic coastal surface waters of the Colombian Caribbean and Pacific, Environ, Sci. Pollut, 43431-4344
- Gollier, C., Treich, N., 2012. Option value and precaution. https://publications.ut-capit ole.fr/id/eprint/15224/.
- GYRES, 2012. Macro and Micro plastic Beach Sample Collection and Processing Heyward, M., 2007. Equity and international climate change negotiations: a matter of perspective. Clim. Pol. 7 (6), 518–534.
- Hine, A.C., Wilber, R.J., Bane, J.M., Neumann, A.C., Lorenson, K.R., 1981, Offbank transport of carbonate sands along open, leeward bank margins: northern Bahamas. Mar. Geol. 42 (1–4), 327–348. Jabeen, K., Su, L., Li, J., Yang, D., Tong, C., Mu, J., Shi, H., 2017. Microplastics and
- esoplastics in fish from coastal and fresh waters of China. Environ. Pollut. 221, 141-149.

Marine Pollution Bulletin 193 (2023) 115140

- Kanhai, K.L., Asmath, H., Gobin, J.F., 2022. The status of marine debris/litter and plastic pollution in the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem (CLME): 1980-2020. Environ. Pollut, 118919.
- Lachmann, F., Almroth, B.C., Baumann, H., Broström, G., Corvellec, H., Gipperth, I Hassellov, M., Karlsson, T., Nilsson, P., 2017. Marine Plastic Litter on Small Island Developing States (SIDS): Impacts and Measures. Swedish Institute for the Marine Environment. University of Gothenburg. Law, K.L., Morét-Ferguson, S., Maximenko, N.A., Proskurowski, G., Peacock, E.E.,
- Hafner, J., Reddy, C.M., 2010. Plastic accumulation in the North Atlantic subtropical gyre. Science 329 (5996), 1185–1188.
- Lebreton, L.C., Van Der Zwet, J., Damsteeg, J.W., Slat, B., Andrady, A., Rei r. J. 2017. River plastic emissions to the world's oceans. Nat. Commun. 8 (1), 15611. Lee, J., Lee, J., Hong, S., Hong, S.H., Shim, W.J., Eo, S., 2017. Characteristics of eristics of meso
- sized plastic marine debris on 20 beaches in Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 123 (1-2), 92-96
- Lusher, A., 2015. Microplastics in the marine environment: distribution, interactions and effects. Marine Anthropogenic Litter 245–307. Mesquita, Y.W., Mengatto, M.F., Nagai, R.H., 2022. Where and how? A systematic r
- of microplastic pollution on beaches in Latin America and the caribbean (LAC). Environ. Pollut. 314, 120231.
- Moore, S., Gray, J., Pierce, E., Carroll, D., Diaz, J., 2015. The presence of plastics in the marine ecosystem of the Exuma sound. Retrieved from. http://www arcel/admin/uploads/FPLP200.pdf
- Morrall, C., Adams, D., Vogler, E., Taylor, M., 2018. The occurrence of Micro-plastic in the intestinal tract of commercially exploited fish from Grenada. http://international marinedebrisconference.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Microplastics-in-c ommercially-exploited-fish-from-Grenada-West-Indies.pdf.
- Nwafor, N.A., Walker, T.R., 2020. Rethinking marine insurance and plastic pollution food for thought. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 161, 104950.
- rona-Návar, C., García-Morales, R., Loge, F.J., Mahlknecht, J., Aguilar-Hernández, I., Ornelas-Soto, N., 2022. Microplastics in Latin America and the Caribbean: A review on current status and perspectives. J. Environ. Manag. 309, 114698.
- Polejack, A., Coelho, L.F., 2021. Ocean science diplomacy can be a game changer to promote the access to marine technology in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- pronote the access to marine technology in Latin America and the Cambrean Frontiers in Research Metrics and Analytics 6, 637127.Rakib, M., Jahan, R., Sarker, A., Ram, K., Uddin, M., Walker, T.R., Chowdhury, T., Uddin, J., Khandaker, M.U., Rahman, M.M., Idris, A.M., 2023b. Microplastic toxicity in aquatic organisms and aquatic ecosystems: a review. Water Air Soil Pollut. 234 (1), 1-28.

- Rakib, M.R.J., Al Nahian, S., Madadi, R., Haider, S.M.B., De-la-Torre, G.E., Walker, T.R., Jonathan, M.P., Cowger, W., Khandakerij, M.U., Idris, A.M., 2023a. Spatiotemporal Trends and Characteristics of Microplastic Contamination in a Large River-Dominated Estuary. Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts. h 10 1039/D3FM00014A
- Rognerud, I., Hurley, R., Lusher, A., Nerland Bråte, I.L., Steindal, E.H., 2022. Addressing Microplastics in a Global Agreement on Plastic Pollution. Nordic Council of Ministers, https://pub.norden.org/temanord2022-566/#
- Ryan, P.G., Pichegru, L., Perolod, V., Moloney, C.L., 2020. Monitoring marine plastics-will we know if we are making a difference? S. Afr. J. Sci. 116 (5–6), 1–9.
- Schmuck, A.M., Lavers, J.L., Stuckenbrock, S., Sharp, P.B., Bond, A.L., 2017. Geophysical features influence the accumulation of beach debris on Caribbean islands. Mar Pollut. Bull. 121 (1–2), 45–51.
- Starkey, L., 2017. Challenges to Plastic up-Cycling in Small Island Communities: A Palauan Tale. Retrieved from. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4jd2q9dc. Stöfen-O'Brien, A., 2022. Common but differentiated responsibilities as a guiding
- principle towards a potential international treaty on plastic. In: Peaceful Maritime Engagement in East Asia and the Pacific Region. Brill Nijhoff, pp. 370–386.
- Stöfen-O'Brien, A., Ambrose, K.K., Alleyne, K.S., Lovell, T.A., Graham, R.E., 2022. Parachute science through a regional lens: marine litter research in the Caribbean Small Island Developing States and the challenge of extra-regional research. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 174, 113291.
- The Guardian, 2022. Nurdles are everywhere: how plastic pellets ravaged a Sri Lankan paradise. https://www.theguardian.com/environmen verywhere-how-plastic-pellets-ravaged-a-sri-lankan-pa
- The Washington Post, 2012. Hong Kong's plastic pellet problem. https://www.washington npost.com/blogs/blogpost/bogs/shogp-splastic-pellet-problem/2012/08/06/ 6bbc018a-dfc3-11e1-a19c-fcfa365396c8 blog.html.
 Velander, K., Mocogni, M., 1999. Beach litter sampling strategies: is there a 'best'
- method? Mar. Pollut. Bull. 38 (12), 1134-1140.
- Walker, T.R., 2022. Calling for a decision to launch negotiations on a new global agreement on plastic pollution at UNEA5. 2. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 176, 113447. Walker, T.R., Grant, J., Archambault, M.C., 2006. Accumulation of marine debris on an
- intertidal beach in an urban park (Halifax harbour, Nova Scotia). Water Quality Research Journal 41 (3), 256-262.
- Zhang, H., 2017. Transport of microplastics in coastal seas. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 199,

PAPER 3

Stöfen-O'Brien, A., **Ambrose, K. K.**, Alleyne, K. S., Lovell, T. A. and Graham, R. E. (2022). Parachute science through a regional lens: marine litter research in the Caribbean Small Island Developing States and the challenge of extra-regional research. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 174, 113291.

Marine Pollution Bulletin 174 (2022) 113291



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Marine Pollution Bulletin

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/marpolbul



Parachute science through a regional lens: Marine litter research in the Caribbean Small Island Developing States and the challenge of extra-regional research

Aleke Stöfen-O'Brien, Kristal Kristene Ambrose, Kristie S.T. Alleyne, Tricia Allison Lovell, Roxanne E.D. Graham

WMU-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute, World Maritime University, Fiskehamnsgatan 1, PO Box 500, 201 24 Malmö, Sweden

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Parachute science Caribbean Small Island Developing States Wider Caribbean region Decade of Ocean Science South-South collaboration

ABSTRACT

The Wider Caribbean (WC) comprises numerous diverse developing states and territories including Small Island Developing States (SIDS). In particular, the Eastern part of the WC with its 16 SIDS receives a disproportionate amount of marine litter. Addressing this serious and urgent environmental problem requires scientific evidence to support and inform policy formation and decision making. Yet, as this study demonstrates, marine scientific research on the issue of marine litter in the Caribbean SIDS is predominantly undertaken by extra-regional scientists and organisations which might weaken the science-policy transfer to develop suitable and tailormade solutions. The view point paper highlights issues and the problems associated with parachute science for the Caribbean SIDS before offering a series of potential policy-ready response options to address the identified challenges.

1. Introduction

The Wider Caribbean (WC) is a region of more than three dozen diverse states and territories, with varying ecological and socioeconomic priorities (Barnett, 1997; Kumar and Mishra, 2015). The Small Island Developing States (SIDS) of the WC, in particular, share certain common features and challenges, as they have a high dependency on tourism, limited land resources and high population densities (Wong, 2015). Importantly, SIDS are highly dependent on the surrounding oceans and ecosystem services from the ocean such as seafood for human consumption, pristine beaches for recreation and a thriving marine life which attracts cruise and dive tourism and contributes to livelihoods through fishing (Pelling and Uitto, 2001; Briguglio, 1995). This interdependence and close connection with nature makes SIDS ideally positioned to act as a "global barometer of change" (Kelman and West, 2009). Pollution of the marine environment by plastic waste stemming from oceanic currents and localized sources is only one of many pressures which impact the long-term environmental and economic prosperity of SIDS (Lachmann et al., 2017). Therefore, it can be argued that specific and tailor-made research addressing the challenges associated with marine litter has to be conducted for and in the region in order to meet their needs. However, this is not always the case and the phenomena of parachute science may occur. Parachute science for the purpose of this paper refers to a phenomenon whereby there is a preponderance of research conducted by scientists based predominantly outside the target geographical region without the input or involvement of local experts. However, the authors acknowledge that a discussion on parachute science is a high value-based issue which is closely interlinked to societal norms, academic traditions and access to resources in a region and may also change over time and within differing contexts

The viewpoint paper aims to explore the issue of parachute science in the SIDS of the WC and analyses the means by which marine plastic pollution measures are developed. Based on this analysis, the paper provides the viewpoints of the authors on how to effectively increase research on marine litter in the region by researchers from the region.

2. Addressing marine litter pollution in the Caribbean Region

The Caribbean region is host to 16 SIDS (United Nations (UN), 2021). These are Antigua and Barbuda, The Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Cuba, Dominica, Dominican Republic, Grenada, Guyana, Haiti, Jamaica, St.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: aso@wmu.se (A. Stöfen-O'Brien).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.113291

Received 14 May 2021; Received in revised form 22 November 2021; Accepted 20 December 2021

Available online 13 January 2022

⁰⁰²⁵⁻³²⁶X/© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license

Kitts and Nevis, St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname and Trinidad and Tobago (see Fig. 1).

Due to the geographic location of most of these SIDS at the outer rim of ocean gyres and wind belts, they are heavily impacted by anthropogenic pressures from marine pollution, in particular marine litter (Ambrose, 2021; Clayton et al., 2020; Diez et al., 2019). Consequently, marine litter density in the Caribbean has been estimated to be three times higher than the global average (Diez et al., 2019). There is a certain understanding that waste management and mismanaged terrestrial waste is a significant source of marine litter in the Eastern Caribbean region (Clayton et al., 2020). Among the many complex questions posed by marine litter management in the region, it remains yet to be seen how specific measures and responses should be guided by science and scientific advice (Chen, 2015; Rochman, 2016).

2.1. Marine litter research in Caribbean SIDS

A variety of efforts to identify marine litter related research priorities have been undertaken in the past at national and regional levels, often through agency-led approaches that draw on eminent scientists for advice. Yet, this vital requirement has many complex facets (MacDonald et al., 2016) including the need for an understanding of governmental and scientific needs and priorities, as well as those of the broader public relating to agenda-setting and framing a science-policy approach involving several stakeholders within a given context (Rudd, 2015). This also relates to understanding the effects of pollution and cumulative impacts from other types of anthropogenic pressures in the Caribbean, as well as those related to climate change and extreme weather events.

Whereas a considerable volume of research has been conducted in certain areas of the world [e.g. in the European Union: Galgani et al., 2013; UN World Ocean Assessment, 2021] and a certain understanding of sources and distribution of marine litter is prevalent or at least emerging; sparse research has been conducted in the Caribbean region to date meaning that significant knowledge gaps persist, relating to sources and pathways of marine litter. Several international and regional organisations are increasingly working in the region and have contributed to policy coordination and the preparation of guidance documents on scientific monitoring and assessment. This includes the UN Environment Caribbean Programme (UNEP CEP), Global Partnership for Marine Litter-Caribbean (GPML-Caribe), the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute (GCFI) and the IUCN's Plastic Waste Free Islands Initiative (IUCN, 2021).

A distinction between monitoring of marine litter and research relating to the sources and impacts of marine litter in the region must also be considered. Monitoring for marine plastic litter on beaches in the region occurs only sporadically and independently by volunteers or citizen science, non-governmental organisation (NGO) initiatives (Ambrose, 2021). Monitoring of the marine environment for marine litter may be established formally via government programs that maintain a hybrid approach using citizen science (Zorzo et al., 2021), whereas, formal research may expand into biological, ecological and economic impacts of marine litter through assessments or experiments. Further, there is a tendency to draw on the results of volunteer clean-up activities to gain an understanding of the amount and distribution of marine litter in the Caribbean Region (Ocean Conservancy, 2017; Diez et al., 2019). This is in no way intended to detract from the importance of clean-up activities, in particular with regard to awareness raising. Such actions, while they serve to deepen the understanding of the extent of the problem of marine litter and frequently produce significant findings, might undermine reaching an evidence-based understanding of the state of pollution by marine litter on the marine and coastal environment and its sources due to the absence of structured and continuous



Fig. 1. Map of the Wider Caribbean Region including all Caribbean SIDS (highlighted in blue). Eastern Caribbean countries are highlighted in the inset map. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

monitoring and/or research activities in place.

Increasingly, a number of reports have been published and measures taken with regard to marine litter in the Caribbean region (see Table S2). An assessment of the knowledge base for the region makes apparent that the knowledge created with regard to the multifaceted challenges of marine litter is not equally distributed. Knowledge on distribution and sources of litter is limited in respect of several countries (Smail et al., 2020).

In particular, we argue that SIDS are not often the subject of peerreviewed papers or are written by researchers from these countries. By way of example, Ivar-do-Sul and Costa reviewed 70 documents on marine litter in Latin America and the Caribbean region and merely two peer-reviewed papers were from the insular Caribbean (Ivar-do-Sul and Costa, 2007).

It is generally understood that peer-reviewed papers are seen as providing a robust and accessible source of information which are reviewed for their validity, significance and originality (Kelly et al., 2014). This makes them a suitable source for decision-makers to address specific point sources of litter, by way of example, or risk factors relating to infrastructure challenges and consumption and production patterns which might lead to marine litter (Nursey-Bray et al., 2014; Tengö et al., 2014). They can therefore be used to develop targeted measures in line with international and regional objectives (UNEP/NOAA, 2011). It has been established that a majority of research in the Wider Caribbean Region is documented in institutional reports, which are difficult to find and oftentimes not published for external users (Acosta et al., 2020).

3. Methodology

Using SCOPUS, LITTERBASE and Google Scholar, peer-reviewed journal articles which address or target all of the 16 SIDS in the Caribbean were identified (see Fig. 1, Table S1 and Fig. S2 Supplementary material). This was done by standardized keywords: "Marine Debris and Caribbean", "Marine Litter and Caribbean", "Marine Plastic and Caribbean" and "Marine Debris/Marine Litter" followed by each of the 16 Caribbean SIDS (see Table S1). The reference list of all relevant papers was then searched for additional articles. The country affiliation of the lead authorship and senior authorship of the articles at time of publication as indicated in the author affiliation information provided to the journal was analysed (see Table S2). It is acknowledged that researchers may move and that an affiliation to a certain university does not account for the actual citizenship of the individual researcher, thus country affiliation can only be used as an approximation on where the researcher may come from. For this reason, further investigations into the university webpages of each author was made to attempt to determine the origin country of each author within a reasonable degree. In addition, the gender of lead and senior authors was identified, where possible.

4. Results and discussion

Out of the 23 identified papers addressing any of these SIDS, 65% of the papers were not authored by lead authors affiliated to countries from the region at time of writing the papers in question. With regard to senior authors in case of multiple authorships, 85% of the authors did not come from the region. Females represented 57% of the lead authorship, with males representing 43%. Overall, these findings raise questions relating to the applicability of information provided and the knowledge on which decision makers may act to address the issue of marine litter in the region. In order to find adequate and appropriate solutions tailored to the specific governance structure, both in terms of level of decisionmaking (municipal, national and/or regional) as well as with regard to specific sources and pathways, the knowledge and information provided should ideally be based on the expertise of researchers already in situ in the region. In a recent paper on parachute science, Stefanoudis et al. (2021), provided insights into the concept which they frame as a practice in which international scientists, usually from higher- income

countries conduct research in lower-income countries without necessarily engaging with local considerations and suggestions for suitable recommendations (Stefanoudis et al., 2021). Similar approaches to the marine litter research in the SIDS of the Eastern Caribbean can be therefore also categorized as being subject to parachute science or hegemonic research.

4.1. Understanding the research agenda for marine pollution/litter in Caribbean SIDS

Science is a key source for decision-makers when developing and creating policy (Polejack, 2021; Pielke, 2007). It is well known that conducting research is the basis of advancement in science (Acharya and Pathak, 2019). Research output and of course monitoring and assessment for marine litter can be costly when integrated in a national or regional monitoring strategy/framework and when several compartments of the marine environment are being monitored (e.g. beach litter, litter in the water column and litter in biota and sediments) (Smail et al., 2020). Given the efforts required to monitor and assess various aspects of marine litter, uptake of the best available research by decision makers is the ultimate goal. Within the context of the WC the mechanism that facilitates the uptake of research by policy/decision makers involves 'research providers' and 'research users'. Research users within the region have diverse backgrounds and work within several institutions such as: universities, marine laboratories, NGOs, private sectors and regional and national agencies. Research conducted by research providers is primarily taken up by advisors (e.g., Cabinet, Fishery Advisory Committees, National Coordination Committees and Ministerial Councils) who then engage with decision makers (Acosta et al., 2020). In order for the science-policy interface to be effective, the process needs to be iterative with research providers conducting science that is responsive to the needs of policy and research users basing their decisions on the best available science, however this is not always achieved (Acosta et al., 2020). The research agenda of scientists can be driven by several factors. This can include political commitments and obligations stemming from international, regional or national regulatory or policy frameworks. The UN 2030 Sustainable Agenda (UN, 2015) follows a universal approach which requires that every country possesses the necessary science and technology to develop responses to its specific characteristics, needs and priorities (van der Heijden et al., 2014 and O'Connor and Mackie, 2016). UN Sustainable Development Goal 14.a calls for an increase of scientific knowledge and the development of research capacities in order to improve ocean health to the benefit of developing countries, in particular SIDS and least developed countries (UN, 2015). Moreover, the UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development, which runs from 2021 to 2030, aims, among other objectives, to understand the impacts of cumulative stressors and seeks sustainable solutions for benefits from the oceans and to share knowledge and enhance interdisciplinary marine research capacities leading to benefits [...] particularly for SIDS and least developed countries (UNESCO IOC, 2017). These two policy objectives frame the understanding that SIDS are a particular subject in ocean governance and that the science-policy approaches should be targeted to meet their needs and address capacity gaps. This is somewhat juxtaposed with the fact that over 60% of the total scientific literature emanates from high-income countries (UN, 2019a, 2019b).

Improving the science-policy interface requires an in-depth understanding of both research agendas of scientists and the research agendas of decision makers. In a recently published GCFI Technical Report (Acosta et al., 2020), research agendas for pollution were identified from the perspective of decision makers who are responsible for implementing policies. To identify priority research areas, decision makers were presented with five crosscutting research topics: science, governance, monitoring, economic and communications. With regards to economic research needs, decision makers highlighted the need for improved solid waste management approaches to accompany the expansion of tourism since many SDDS within the WC are highly dependent on tourism (Wong,

2015). Under the communication research needs, decision makers felt that research is needed to develop effective advocacy approaches that result in decreased marine pollution (Acosta et al., 2020).

The Regional Action Plan on Marine Litter (RAP MaLi) adopted by the Contracting Parties of UNEP CEP (UNEP CEP, 2014) also provides incentives to dedicate research to aspects of the Plan. The geographic scope of the RAP MaLi also includes SIDS in the Caribbean region. Similarly, a recently published report by UN Environment (UN Environment, 2021) identified research priorities must also address gender and intersectionality, which may be factors such as age, marginalized and vulnerable groups, especially in relation to exposure, health effects, attitudes to new innovative technologies and ocean literacy, among others. Acosta et al. (2020) identified that beyond developing research needs from on-going processes and institutional agenda, the uptake of the research outcome and a strategy for linking the science to policy should be in place to secure effective management strategies. It would be important to understand what mechanisms can on the one hand provide for a framework to disseminate information and provide research funding and drive the research agenda by regional scientists.

4.2. Funding marine litter research

Acharya and Pathak (2019) identify the primary root causes for lower productivity in terms of research output in low-income countries as the high cost for necessary equipment, research infrastructure and strategic political planning. The Caribbean Region has limited access to investment in research and development (0.75% of GDP for research and development, world average 2.2.7% of GDP in 2017) as well as limited strategic political planning (World Bank, 2017). The high debt to GDP ratio of many Caribbean islands might also impact the ability to invest in research and development (OECD, 2019). Overall, a fundamental deterrent to proper advancement of science and research in the WC, is the level of poverty and lack of scientists in the region (IADB, 2007). Latin America and the Caribbean represent 8.42% of the world's population, however only 2.5% of the world's scientists come from this region (IADB, 2007). This 2.5% represents scientists from a broad field of scientific research and does not account for the number of scientists from SIDS who dedicate their efforts to marine related issues or even marine litter in the region.

One of the major criticisms of parachute science is the tendency for outside researchers to come into an area, conduct research and leave without engaging with local experts or acknowledging their input into the research. However, there are instances of extra regional led research that takes place within the region that engages locals while also providing a funding source. For instance, the ongoing work being undertaken in projects funded by the Norwegian government involving key regional and national players such as the Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS) Secretariat and national environmental agencies. The OECS's RemLit Project (OECS, 2020) aims to reduce and control marine litter in participating member states of the OECS. The project has received funding support from the Government of Norway and includes activities aimed at awareness raising on the issue of marine litter, enhancing public policy as well as legislative and fiscal insensitive frameworks, and the development of strategies for improving the transnational movement of plastic waste in the OECS. While at its core RemLit does not include specific objectives related to the advancement of scientific knowledge, the ongoing initiatives may provide useful information. Similarly, the Plastic Waste Free Islands Project (IUCN, 2021), also funded by Norway through the Norwegian Agency for International Development (Norad) and being implemented by the IUCN, includes a number of Caribbean SIDS as well as small island countries in the Pacific region. The project has adopted a knowledge-based approach to the development of practical solutions for increasing policy effectiveness, reducing plastic leakage and the creation of new value chains. This is being done with the input and involvement of key agencies from the partner countries and local knowledge. As in the case of the RemLit

Project, the Plastic Waste Free Islands Project is not expressly centred on scientific research, however in both cases there exists the opportunity to advance knowledge on the challenge of marine litter within the participating countries.

5. Recommendations on how to strengthen the knowledge base on marine litter in Caribbean SIDS

5.1. Actively seek to engage local researchers and scientific institutions in the region before engaging on research in the region

Establishing a relationship with local/regional researchers prior to conducting field studies can be extremely beneficial for both international and regional scientists. This relationship serves as a mutual knowledge exchange as locals offer insights into the issues they face and how challenges vary over space and time. On the other hand, international scientists can provide solutions based on ongoing global research and work with locals to collect data and build local capacity. Should there be research conducted from scientists from outside the region, it would be strongly advised to ensure that local researchers are informed and indeed actively involved in this kind of research and that any information or results stemming from this research is channeled back to the region and researchers. EXXpedition, a community interest company which runs all-female sailing research expeditions at sea and virtually voyages on land to investigate the causes of and solutions to ocean plastic pollution may be seen as one example which may achieve this cooperation, notwithstanding its limited scope in terms of participants (eXXpedition, 2021). During the research sails in the WC, also local researchers were involved alongside international researchers.

Research directly undertaken in low-income countries is likely to be better suited to the needs and priorities within a society or nation's context and better accounts for the social, economic and governance structures and approaches within a specific society. In this regard, efforts should also be made to translate scientific knowledge into local languages and dialects, which may increase the translation of scientific knowledge into local and regional measures (Ban et al., 2020).

5.2. Research uptake by decision-makers

A possible pathway to ensure an increase of financial support to strengthen research from the region might be the uptake of provided scientific knowledge by decision-makers. Acosta et al. (2020) argue that whereas marine research has a long history in the Caribbean region, this has been mainly opportunistic in nature and not of a strategic nature as the scientists drove the research activities rather than decision-makers. Further, Wisz Mary et al. (2020) argue that the complexities associated with scientific evidence necessitates that this be "distilled to highlight core insights" so that it can be useful to decision makers.

The ongoing work being undertaken through regional initiatives such as RemLit and the Plastic Waste Free Islands Project as well as through regional intergovernmental bodies like UNEP CEP, are often supported by national governments through environmental agencies. Effort needs to be made to capture, synthesize and disseminate the data and information derived from these initiatives into academic writing.

5.3. Explore the opportunities of North-South and South-South knowledge transfer

In order to attain more inclusive and sustainable development in the WC, a renewal of international cooperation is essential (CEPAL, 2021). The cooperation in subject includes entities such as the North-South and South-South cooperation. North-South and South-South cooperation offer a complementary direction to renew and multiply the options to achieving sustainable development goals (IsDB, 2019; CEPAL, 2021). North-South cooperation (NSC) is the most traditional type of cooperation whereby developed countries (north) provide economic support or

other forms of financial aid and resources to the developing countries (south) in socio-economic and environmental domains (United Nations, 2019a, 2019b). Meanwhile, South-South Cooperation (SSC) together with Triangular Cooperation (TrC) are contemporary cooperation gaining more momentum over the last decade. TrC according to the United Nations Office for South-South Cooperation (UNOSSC, 2018) is the "collaboration in which traditional donor countries and multilateral organizations facilitate South-South initiatives through the provision of funding, training, management, and technological systems as well as other forms of support." It is often described as essential to developing nations as it continues to expand and connect various actors and provides opportunities to share and transfer skills, knowledge and technology in a more cost effective way compared with North-South arrangements (Wang and Banihani, 2015; IsDB, 2019). The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (UN, 2015) calls for enhanced SSC and TrC to enhance policy coordination by particularly making science, technology, innovation and knowledge sharing more readily available. For the case of the Caribbean SIDS, SSC and TrC may support to bridge the challenges relating to the geographically distanced location of the Caribbean SIDS which may slow down the sharing of information concerning emerging concerns, assessments and/or suitable technology.

Although the WC has a varied and longstanding experience with SSC and TrC, it is not well-known in other regions and not sufficiently shared with the rest of the world (WHO, 2014). Perhaps because there is a lack of coordination among the multiple regional and global networks and initiatives. According to GEF (2020), there are over eighty regional and global networks and initiatives addressing marine plastics and plastic pollution in the Latin America and Caribbean (LAC) regions. However, there are just a few that are UN institutional agencies (UNOSSC, 2018) which supports South-South cooperation facilitating environmental themed projects including marine litter. UNEP-Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (UNEP/ROLAC) acts as secretariat to the Forum of Ministers of the Environment of Latin America and the Caribbean (CEPAL, 2018). Moreover, the Forum also has an Interagency Technical Committee composed of UNEP, UNDP, ECLAC, IADB and the World Bank. Meanwhile, the Committee on South-South Cooperation is a subsidiary body of ECLAC (CEPAL, 2018).

Essentially, the organisations of the Interagency Technical Committee are individual Clearing House Mechanisms (CHM) (OAS, 1998), which may serve as a forum for the exchange of technologies, expertise, experiences, opportunities, best practices, methodologies, advisory services, and training. They are known to have facilitated a number of projects and programs over the years that are directed to marine litter management. Projects carried out by UNEP-Global Partnership on Marine Litter (GPML)-Caribbean Node, and research conducted by ECLAC (e.g. the Latin America and the Caribbean SDG 14 Implementation Assessment 2020) to name a few, are vital in contributing to the expectation of SSC. Thus, these organisations can benefit by having a joint CHM to achieve efficiency in SSC.

There is also a need for enhanced collaboration with other projects that may not fall directly under SSC directives. For instance, the Glo-Litter Partnerships Project launched in 2019 by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and the International Maritime Organization (IMO) and funded by the Government of Norway supports 30 developing countries in preventing and reducing marine litter from the maritime transport and fisheries sectors, which includes plastic litter such as lost or discarded fishing gear (IMO, 2021). Although one may categorize the project as a North-South arrangement, five southern regions are represented in the GloLitter project. According to IMO (2021), these include Asia, Africa, the Caribbean, Latin America and the Pacific. While the project promotes compliance with relevant international instruments (IMO, 2021), there is an opportunity for South-South Cooperation by the participating regions whereby they use this as a platform to allow for the exchange of ideas, technology, innovation and information on research and monitoring specific to marine litter.

To some extent, the perceptions of the added value of NSC and SSC

differ. According to WHO (2014), key informant interviews revealed that developing countries stressed the value of learning, capacity building, solidarity, reciprocity and empowerment, while the informants from International Development Partner (IDP) organisations focused on efficiency, resource use and accountability. Acknowledging this perception while enhancing communication and collaboration among multilateral platforms is crucial to help avoid future fragmentation and confusing or conflicting support entities and to also help reduce the risk of overlapping and duplicating efforts.

6. Conclusion

Parachute science is a difficult topic to approach within any given context and relating to any marine environmental problem as it is steeped in a complex set of value-based approaches to research and evidence-based decision-making. Based on our findings, it has become clear that parachute science takes place with regard to the Caribbean SIDS. The root causes may be, among a very complex net of societal factors, a limited funding for monitoring or research and a poor sciencepolicy framework. However, it may be equally challenging to encourage the uptake of decision-makers to make use of the results of research and monitoring and thereby increasing public spending on this. We find that a key to addressing this issue is collaboration and cooperation, among scientists and researchers, government and researchers, countries and donors, as well as international and regional intergovernmental organisations.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Aleke Stöfen-O'Brien: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Kristal Kristene Ambrose: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Kristie S.T. Alleyne: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Tricia Allison Lovell: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Roxanne E.D. Graham: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgement

The authors extend their sincere gratitude to Professor Clive Schofield and Killian O'Brien for their invaluable guidance, constructive feedback, revisions and support of this perspective article. Additionally, the authors would also like to thank Elnaz Barjandi for her assistance in assisting with the formatting of the table in the Supplementary information. The authors would like to acknowledge and express sincere gratitude to Sarah Mahadeo for generously supporting the map production for this study. The authors acknowledge the generous funding provided by The Nippon Foundation to support the World Maritime University (WMU)-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute's Closing the Circle: Marine Litter, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning Programme in which this article has been written.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.113291.

References

- Acharya, P.K., Pathak, S., 2019. Applied research in low-income countries: why and
- how? Front. Res. Metr. Anal. 4, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/frma.2019.00003.
 Effective Ocean Governance in the Wider Caribbean Region. Report for the UNDP/ GEF CLME+ Project (2015-2020). Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute (GCFI) Marathon, Florida USA. Technical Report No.2, 185 p.
- Ambrose, K., 2021. Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the wider Caribbean region: identifying strategic pathways forward. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 177 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. olbul.2021.112767
- Ban, N.C., Wilson, E., Neasloss, D., 2020. Historical and contemporary indigenous marine conservation strategies in the North Pacific. Conserv. Biol. 34 (1), 5–14. https://doi. org/10.1111/cobi.13432.
- tt, F.J., 1997. Shipping and marine litter in the wider Caribbe difficult challenge. In: Coe, J.M., Rogers, D.B. (Eds.), Marine Litter. Springer, New York, pp. 219–227.
- Briguglio, L., 1995. Small Island developing states and their economic vulnerabilities World Dev. 23 (9), 1615-1632,
- Cepal, N., 2018. The 2030 Agenda and the Sustainable Development Goals: An Opportunity for Latin America and the Caribbean, 185 p.
- Cepal, N., 2021. Development in transition: Concept and measurement proposal for renewed cooperation in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- Chen, C.L., 2015. Regulation and management of marine litter. In: Bergmann, M. Gutow, L., Klages, M. (Eds.), Marine Anthropogenic Litter. Springer International Publishing. pp. 395–428.
- Clayton, C.A., Walker, T.R., Bezerra, J.C., Adam, Issahaku, A., 2020. Policy responses to reduce single-use plastic marine pollution in the Caribbean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 163, 111833 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111833.
- Diez, S.M., Patil, P.G., Morton, J., Rodriguez, D.J., Vanzella, A., Robin, D.V., Maes, T., Corbin, C., 2019. Marine pollution in the Caribbean: not a minute to waste. World Bank Grou
- eXXpedition, 2021, About us, https://exxpedition.com/about/about-us/, (Accessed 22 November 2021).
- Ivar-do-Sul, J.A., Costa, M.F., 2007. Marine litter review for Latin America and the wider Caribbean region: from the 1970s until now, and where do we go from here? Mar. Pollut Bull 54 (8) 1087-1104
- Galgani, F., Hanke, G., Werner, S., De Vrees, L., 2013. Marine litter within the european marine strategy framework directive. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 70 (6), 1055-1064. https:// /icocime/fet122 oi.org/10.1093.
- Global Environment Facility (GEF), 2020. Reduce marine plastics and plastic pollution in Latin American and Caribbean cities through a circular economy approach. http://www.thegef.org/sites/default/files/web-documents/10547_MFA_PIF.pdf. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- Inter American Development Bank (IADB), 2007. Women on the challenges of being a r American Development bank (rhbb), 2007. wollien on the channenges of being scientist in Latin America and the Caribbean. https://www.iadb.org/en/news/we bstories/2007-01-16/women-on-the-challenges-of-being-a-scientist-in-latin-ameri ca-and-the-caribbean%2C3564.html. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- International Maritime Organizattion (IMO), 2021. GloLitter Partnerships Project. https nipsProjects/Pages/GloLitter-Partnership /www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Partners -Project-.aspx. (Accessed 10 January 2021). Islamic Development Bank (IsDB), 2019. Developing National Ecosystems For South-
- South And Triangular Cooperation to Achieve Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development. https://www.isdb.org. (Accessed 10 January 2021). IUCN, 2021. Plasti Waste Free Islands. https://www.iucn.org/theme/mari
- ork/close-plastic-tap-programme/plastic-waste-free-islands. (Accessed 10 August 2021).
- Kelly, J., Sadeghieh, T., Adeli, K., 2014. Peer review in scientific publications: benefits, critiques, & a survival guide, EJIFCC 25 (3), 227-243. Kelman, I., West, J.J., 2009. Climate change and small island developing states: a critical
- review. Ecol. Environ. Anthropol. 5 (1), 1–16. Kumar, P., Mishra, A., 2015. A study of Economic contribution for tourism industry in
- Jharkhand State, J. Environ, Manag. Tour. 1 (11), 100-110. Lachmann, F., Almroth, B.C., Baumann, H., Broström, G., Corvellec, H., Gipperth, L.,
- Hassellöv, M., Karlsson, T., Nilsson, P., 2017. Marine plastic litter on Small Island Developing States (SIDS): Impacts and measures, Report No. 2017:3, Swedish Institute for the Marine Environment. https://portal 60/Lachman_1641336_sime_2017_4_marine_plastic_litter.pdf. (Accessed 10 January 2021)
- MacDonald, B.H., Soomai, S.S., De Santo, E.M., Wells, P.G. (Eds.), 2016. Science, Information, and Policy Interface for Effective Coastal and Ocean Management, 1st ed. CRC Press. https:// loi.org/10.1201/b21483
- Nursey-Bray, M.J., Vince, J., Scott, M., Haward, M., O'Toole, K., Smith, T., et al., 2014. Science into policy? Discourse, coastal management and knowledge. Environ. Sci. Policy 38, 107-119. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.envsci.2013.10.010
- Ocean Conservancy, 2017. Together for Our Ocean: International Coastal Cleanup 2017 Report. Available online at. https://oceanconservancy.org/wp 7/04/2017-ICC Report RM.pdf. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- Organization of American States (OAS), 1998. Report of The Secretary General On Bolivia Summit Implementation. http:// s.org/dsd/Sum htm. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- O'Connor, D., Mackie, J., 2016. Universality, Integration, and Policy Coherence for Sustainable Development: Early SDG Implementation in Selected OECD Countries. Working Paper. Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. Available online at. htt

p://www.wri.org/publication/universality integration and policy coherence. (Accessed 1 October 2012).

- OECD, 2019, Latin American Outlook, Chapter 6 Caribbean SIDS, Available online at: htt /www.oecd-ilibrary.org/si ication/g2g9ff18-en. (Accessed 10 January 2021). OECS, 2020. REMLIT Reducing Marine Debris in the Eastern Caribbean. http
- oecs.org/en/marine-pollution-eastern-caribbean. (Accessed 10 August 2021). Pelling, M., Uitto, J.I., 2001. Small island developing states: natural disaster vulnerability
- and global change. Global Environ. Change B. Environ. Hazard 3 (2), 49-62. Pielke, R.A., 2007. The Honest Broker, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge,
- Polejack, A., 2021. The importance of ocean science diplomacy for ocean affairs, global sustainability, and the UN decade of ocean science. Front. Mar. Sci. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmars.2021.664066.
- Rochman, C.M., 2016. Strategies for reducing ocean plastic litter should be diverse and guided by science. Environ. Res. Lett. 11, 041001.
- Rudd, M.A., 2015. Scientists' framing of the ocean science-policy interface. Glob Environ Chang 33 44-60 https ://doi.org/10.1016/i.gloenycha.2015.04.006
- Smail, E., Campbell, J., Takaki, D., Plag, H.P., Garello, R., Djavidnia, S., Mouinho, J., El Serafy, G., Giorgetti, A., Vinci, M., Molina Jack, M.E., Larkin, E., Wright, D.J., Galgani, F., Topuzelis, K., Bernard, S., Bowser, S., Colangeli, G., Pendleton, L., Mupas Segui, L., Simpson, M., Marino, A., Zabaleta, I., Heron, M., Milà i Canals, L., 2020. A Global Platform for Monitoring Marine Litter and Informing Action. https:// oblueplanet.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/M ft 18May2020.pdf. (Accessed 10 January 2021). /Marine-Litter-White-Paper-Dr
- Stefanoudis, P.A., Licuanan, W.Y., Morrison, T.H., Talma, S., Veitayaki, J., Woodall, L., 2021. Turning the tide of parachute science. Curr. Biol. 31 (4) https://doi.org/
- Tengö, M., Brondizio, E.S., Elmqvist, T., Malmer, P., Spierenburg, M., 2014. Connecting diverse knowledge systems for enhanced ecosystem governance: the multiple evidence base approach. Ambio 43, 579-591. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-014-
- UN, 2021. Small Island Developing States. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/to pics/sids/list. (Accessed 10 January 2021). UN, 2019. Independent Group of Scientists appointed by the Secretary-General, Global
- Sustainable Development Report 2019: The Future is Now Science for Achieving Sustainable Development. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/24797GSDR_report_2019.pdf. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- UN, 2015. Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. enda. (Accessed 10 January 2021). dgs.un.org/
- UN, 2019. What is 'South-South cooperation' and why does it matter? https://www.un. org/development/desa/en/n /intergo south-south-coo ation-2019.html. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- United Nations Environment Programme Caribbean Environment Programme (UNEP CEP), 2014. Regional Action Plan on Marine Litter Management (RAPMaLi) for the Wider Caribbean Region 2014. https vedocs.unep.org/h andle/20 500 11 822/33364. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2021. From Pollution to Solution. A global assessment of marine litter and plastic pollution. Nairobi.
- United Nations Office for South-South Cooperation (UNOSSC), 2018. About South-South and Triangular Cooperation. https://www.unsouthsouth.org/about/about-sstc/. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- UNEP/NOAA, 2011. The Honolulu Strategy. A Global Framework for Prevention and Management of Marine Litter. https:// ww.unep.org/resources/report/honolulu-str tegy. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- UNESCO IOC, 2017, Resolution XXIX-1 International UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development. Resolution adopted by the IOC Assembly at its 29th Session, Paris, 21–29 June 2017, on 29 June 2017. van der Heijden, K., Olsen, S.H., Scott, A., 2014. From Solidarity to Universality. How
- Global Interdependence Impacts the Post-2015 Development Agenda. Draft Background Paper 1, IRF2015 (Independent Research Forum), Informal Member State Retreat #2, Tarrytown, New York, 9-10 February. Wang, X.G., Banihani, S., 2015. Scaling-up South-South cooperation for sustainable
- development. Working Paper, Internal Document for Silk Road Forum 2015. Available at: http://en.drc.gov.cn/GraceWang.pdf
- Wisz Mary, S., Satterthwaite Erin, V., Maree, Fudge, Mibu, Fischer, Andrei, Polejack, St. John, Michael, Stephen, Fletcher, Rudd Murray, A., 2020. Opportunities for more inclusive ocean research; cross-disciplinary research questions for sustainable ocean governance and management. Front. Mar. Sci. 7, 576. https://doi.org/10.3389.
- World Bank, 2017. Research and Development Expenditure (% of GDP) Latin America and the Caribbean (excluding high income countries). https://data.worldbank.org/i ndicator/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS?name desc=false&locations=BS-AG-XJ. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- World Health Organisation (WHO), 2014. South-South and Triangular Cooperation in Health Current status and trends May 2014 Aligning for better results Summary of findings from an analysis undertaken on behalf of IHP+. https://www.uhc2030.or eadmin/uploads/ihp/Documents/About_IHP_/ outh south a nd triangular_cooperation_in_health.pdf. (Accessed 10 January 2021).
- Wong, A., 2015. Caribbean island tourism: pathways to continued colonial servitude. Etudes caribéennes 21-32. https://doi.org/10.4000/etudescaribeennes
- Zorzo, P., Buceta, J.L., Corredor, L., López-Samaniego, I., López-Samaniego, E., 2021. An approach to the integration of beach litter data from official monitoring programmes and citizen science, Mar. Pollut, Bull, 173 (A) https://doi.org/10.1016. marpolbul.2021.112902.

PAPER 4

Ambrose, K.K. (2023). Assessing and Addressing Contextual Equity: A Framework for Key Drivers Needed by Caribbean Small Island Developing States to Achieve Contextual Equity in the Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations (In review). Frontiers in Marine Science

Assessing and Addressing Contextual Equity: A Framework for Key Drivers Needed by Caribbean Small Island Developing States to Achieve Contextual Equity in the Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations

Kristal K. Ambrose^{1*}

¹ World Maritime University (WMU)-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute, Malmö, Sweden

*w2005277@wmu.se

Abstract

The "global plastics treaty" negotiations, to create an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) to end plastic pollution, including in the marine environment have commenced. Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS) are disproportionately impacted by the transboundary nature of plastic pollution and face challenges in equitably participating in the global plastics treaty negotiations. This study examines contextual equity as experienced by Caribbean SIDS in preparation and participation for the first ad-hoc Open Ended Working Group (OEWG-1) and the first intergovernmental negotiating committee (INC-1) meeting for negotiations on specific terms of the treaty. This dimension of equity refers to equity in access in the form of financial resources, political power, human capacity, and negotiating skills. Semi-structured interviews conducted with delegates, non-governmental organizations and regional coordinators from Caribbean SIDS revealed that they have varying capabilities and resources, inclusive of financial and human capacity, to equitably participate in developing interventions like the global plastics treaty. This study contributes new knowledge on barriers inhibiting contextual equity for Caribbean SIDS within the INC negotiation process and offers a framework of key drivers needed to achieve equity throughout the development and future implementation of a global plastics treaty for Caribbean SIDS.

Keywords: Caribbean Small Island Developing States, Global Plastics Treaty, Negotiations, Equity, United Nations, Plastic Pollution

1. Introduction

Plastics' pervasive existence as a pollutant has become a cause of global concern due to its adverse impacts on marine organisms, ecosystems, economies and human health (Derraik, 2002; Kershaw, 2016; Villarubia-Gómez et al., 2018). Increasing trends in its production and pollution of the marine environment have led to a unified call by states, civil society, academia, policy makers and non-governmental organizations (NGOs), among others, for the development of a global plastics treaty to address plastic pollution (Eriksen et al., 2014; Geyer et al., 2017; UNEP 2022; WWF, 2022). During the 5th session of the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA)(UNEA-5.2) (March, 2022), UN member states adopted *Resolution 5/14 End plastic pollution: Towards an*
international legally binding instrument (ILBI) (UNEA 5/14), aimed to combat plastic pollution with a global and legally binding plastics treaty by 2024 (Bergman et. al, 2022; WWF, 2022, UNEP, 2022). Informally known as the "global plastics treaty", this instrument intends to comprehensively address the full life cycle of plastic from production to disposal (UNEP, 2022, WWF, 2022). This also includes the extraction of feedstocks for plastics production, recovery and remediation of legacy or existing plastics contaminating the environment. The landmark adoption of UNEA 5/14 created a pathway to commence negotiations on specific terms and necessary measures to effectively and comprehensively manage plastic pollution globally (Filho and Velis, 2022; WWF, 2022). The resolution summoned an ad-hoc open ended working group (OEWG) and five sessions of intergovernmental negotiating committee (INC) meetings, composed of United Nations (UN) member States, to negotiate on material and procedural obligations contained in the treaty. The negotiations are set to conclude in a meeting of plenipotentiaries in early 2025 (UNEP, 2022; WWF, 2022; UNEA 5/14) (Fig. 1). It denotes that participation in the OEWG-1 and the INCs should be open to all member states of the UN and Members of its specialized agencies, regional economic integration organizations, as well as relevant stakeholders (UNEA 5/14, 2022).

All member states, inclusive of Small Island Developing States (SIDS), have the ability to access the negotiating forum to have their voices and positions heard. However, international environmental negotiations and current UN structures have been deemed highly inequitable by scholars who allude that its architecture systematically obstructs progress towards the development and implementation of international environmental policies (Schroeder et al., 2012). This includes a certain degree of inequity in environmental treaty making whereby developed countries are more equipped than other member States to negotiate more favorable outcomes due to the considerable disparities in resources and power dynamics (Takamura, 2003; Heyward, 2007; Penetrante, 2011; Schroeder et al., 2012). For example, SIDS, such as those from the Caribbean, begin at a disadvantage in international negotiations due to fewer dedicated resources, inclusive of financial and human capacity, to equitably participate in developing interventions like the global plastics treaty (Campbell et al., 2021; Hassanali, 2022).

Caribbean SIDS are comprised of 16 countries, [Antigua and Barbuda, The Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Cuba, Dominica, Dominican Republic, Grenada, Guyana, Haiti, Jamaica, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname and Trinidad and Tobago] (Fig.2) who experience similarities in their ecology, culture and economic reliance on tourism and ocean based industries (UN, 2022; Diez et al., 2019; Stofen-O'Brien et al., 2022). These countries represent roughly a 0.95% share of the global mismanagement of plastic waste (Meijer et al., 2021). However, within Caribbean SIDS, the inequities of marine plastic pollution are heightened through the transboundary movement and deposition of plastic litter to its coastlines, which are often disproportionate to the production and consumption levels of plastic in the region (Lachmann et al., 2017; Ambrose et al., 2019; Ambrose, 2021). The adverse impacts of plastic pollution to Caribbean SIDS jeopardizes ocean dependent industries such as tourism and fisheries that contribute largely to their gross domestic product (GDP) (Diez et al., 2019). In addition, it negatively impacts biodiversity and threatens human health as plastic toxins work their way up the food chain through trophic interactions which may result in bioaccumulation of toxins across trophic levels (Derraik, 2003; García-G'omez et al., 2020, Mesquita et al., 2022; Rakib et al., 2023; Ambrose and Walker, 2023). Such threats have led to SIDS collectively calling for the urgent, yet equitable development of a global plastics treaty. The desire is to hold the perpetrators of plastic pollution accountable while also recognizing the special circumstances and needs of SIDS, this includes ensuring that marginalized voices are heard and that they have the capacity to contribute to the treaty's development and implementation (Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) Opening Statement, INC-1 Plenary, 2022).

Themes of equity are commonplace among environmental negotiations and can aid in identifying fair compromises given the collective interests and capacities of all players (Ashton and Wang, 2003). Such negotiations tend to prioritize distributive equity, which considers the distribution of costs, risks and benefits of the environmental issue being discussed, while overlooking procedural equity, concerned with the involvement of all stakeholders, including indigenous communities and marginalized groups such as women and youth, and their right to participate in the decision making process (McDermott et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2014; Law et al., 2017; Hass et al., 2019; Campbell et al., 2021; Ruoso and Plant, 2021). Contextual equity refers to equity in access and calls attention to pre-existing imbalances in the form of financial resources, political power, human capacity, and negotiating skills, which creates an unleveled playing field for participants in the decision making process (Martin et al., 2014; Law et al., 2017; Hass et al., 2019). This arm of equity has received little attention or research priority as most equity arguments are biased towards distributive equity, which is prioritized over procedural equity, with both overshadowing contextual equity (Friedman et al., 2018). Yet, contextual equity serves as the gateway to achieving all dimensions of equity within environmental decision making (Hass et al., 2019).

This study examines the contextual equity barriers facing Caribbean SIDS in the development of a global plastics treaty and explores its connection to distributive and procedural equity. Through semi-structured interviews, it aims to assess the experiences of delegations, NGOs and regional coordinators from Caribbean SIDS during their preparation and participation in the initial phases of the INC process, starting with the first meeting of the OEWG (OEWG-1), held from May 30-June 1, 2022 in Dakar, Senegal and the INC-1 held from November 28-December 2, 2022 in Punta del Este, Uruguay. This study contributes new knowledge on barriers inhibiting contextual equity for Caribbean SIDS within the INC process and offers a framework of key drivers needed to achieve equity throughout the development and future implementation of a global plastics treaty for Caribbean SIDS.

2. Methodology

2.1 Data Collection

During the plenary session of the OEWG-1 and INC-1 meetings, Caribbean countries in attendance and the size of their delegations were observed, noted and confirmed using United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) List of Participants (LOP) data. Regional meetings hosted by GRULAC (Group of Latin America and Caribbean Countries) during the OEWG-1 and INC-1 were also observed, where subjects of the study were identified and interviews were requested. A snowball sampling method was used where various participants suggested others for the study. This study utilized semi-structured interviews and participant observation to learn about the activities of the people and events under study in its natural setting including their observing and participating in decision making activities for the ILBI to end plastic pollution (Kawulich, 2005). Meeting observations were conducted both virtually during the OEWG-1 and in-person during the INC-1 in Punta del Este, Uruguay. Twelve semi-structured interviews were conducted via Zoom (n=2) and in-person at INC-1 (n=10) between 14 individuals representing Caribbean delegates, non-governmental organizations, a UN regional group coordinator, lawyers and policy advisors, with the latter accounting for a single interview (Table 1). All respondents attended either the OEWG-1, the INC-1 or both, worked in or with the Caribbean region and were actively engaged in the negotiation process. Study participants were asked questions related to equity in terms of their preparation for and participation in the INC meetings and challenges faced in achieving equity.

The author of this paper was granted observer status as an entry point into INC-1 and was not affiliated with any State(s) or delegations nor had any pre-existing relationships with study subjects.

2.2 Data Analysis

Following a modified methodology by Ison et al., 2021, all interviews were transcribed using the Otter.ai software. Using Nvivo 13 qualitative data analysis software to analyze interview transcripts, a three step process was used to identify codes, subcodes (categories) and themes. Codes were derived from the focal point of the interview questions (i.e equity, preparation, participation, challenges). From here subcodes (more specific categories of the codes) were created, before themes relevant to the research questions were extracted (LeBlanc, 2010). Word frequency analyses were also conducted based on the recurrence of similar descriptive words in each interview and their connection to each code and subcode.

3. <u>Results</u>

The results presented here are based on observation and interview data from Caribbean SIDS attendance at the OEWG-1 and the INC-1 meetings, challenges faced in their preparation and participation and their perceptions on contextual equity in the negotiation process. It is laid out in 7 sections based on key indicators of contextual equity including financial resources, human capacity, and negotiating skill. In section 3.1, the broad concept of equity as perceived by the study participants is presented. Section 3.2 explains attendance by Caribbean SIDS and G20 members during the both meetings and also details disparities in delegation size and composition. Section 3.3 presents contextual equity challenges faced by Caribbean delegations in their preparation and participation in both meetings and is divided into subsections 3.3.1 on human capacity, 3.3.2 on financial and time constraints and 3.3.3 on science formulating national positions. Section 3.4 discusses stakeholder engagement and 3.5 prioritization and coordination of INCs among Caribbean SIDS.

3.1 Study Participants Perception on Equity in Negotiations

Study participants were asked to conceptualize the term equity, its key elements and its relation to the negotiation process. A word frequency analysis based on the question revealed respondents perceived equity using the words equal/equally/equality (n=10), fair/fairness (n=7), access (n=6) and just (n=5) (Table 2). The conceptualization of equity as related to the negotiation process was regarded by study participants as, going beyond accessing the negotiation forum but having specific needs met for particular countries so that they are better equipped to access the negotiating opportunity. On achieving equity within negotiating forums, one participant argued that it would

require systemic changes that account for historical prejudices that perpetuate the disparities between developed and developing countries, which lend to inequities in environmental decision making, further stating:-

"Reparatory justice, and those types of things are really important to the conversation, because if you're looking at it through the environmental sphere, the challenges a lot of developing countries face right now are a direct result of things that are linked to historical prejudices from developed countries. I think these are some of the principles that you want to see emulated in moves towards ensuring equity, because you have to have the tough conversations, but more than just conversations are solutions. So I think that's a huge part of discussions on really materializing true equity."

3.2 OEWG-1 and INC-1 Meeting Attendance, Delegation Size and Composition between Caribbean SIDS and G20 Member States

Disparities in delegation size between Caribbean SIDS and developed countries were observed within both the OEWG-1 and INC-1 meetings. To contrast Caribbean SIDS attendance at the fora compared to developed countries, five (5) countries and one (1) union from the Group of Twenty (G20) were selected. G20 members represent around 85% of the global GDP, over 75% of the global trade, and about two-thirds of the world population and comprises 19 countries (G20, 2023). Australia, China, the European Union, Germany, the United Kingdom and the United States were selected for comparison based on population size and economic resources. Only five (5) Caribbean countries attended the OEWG-1 with a maximum delegation size of two (2) delegates (Fig 2, Fig 3). All G20 members were in attendance, with member state China having a delegation size of 29 delegates (Fig. 3). The OEWG-1 LOP did not specify if all delegates listed were in-person or attended online.

The INC-1 LOP accounted for both in-person and online attendance. During the INC-1, Caribbean SIDS attendance increased from the OEWG-1 with 10 countries listed within the LOP. However, on ground observations concluded that only 9 countries were in attendance in-person with a mean of 2 delegates per delegation, inclusive of online and in-person attendance (Fig. 2, Fig. 4). Despite online attendance, study participants noted limitations of attending virtually as online delegates were not allowed to speak during the plenary sessions, only within regional meetings. Additional challenges included varying time zones from the meeting location and technical difficulties with the UNEP virtual platform, leaving many countries to petition for in-person participation for the remainder of the INC meetings, especially given the negotiation's crucial and historic stature. At INC-1, 19 Caribbean delegates were present in-person with 50% of delegations consisting of one person (Fig. 4). Antigua and Barbuda had the largest delegation (n=6). Similar to OEWG-1 attendance, All G20 members attended the INC-1 both in-person and online with the United States of America having a delegation size of 41 delegates, with 23 attending in-person, according to LOP data (Fig. 4). In-person attendance was not verified for G20 member states. The mean size of G20 delegations consisted of 10 delegates, composed of government ministries inclusive of foreign affairs, finance, solid waste, chemicals and recycling, academia, lawyers and policy advisors (UNEP, OEWG-1and INC-1 LOP). Caribbean delegations were mainly composed of two delegates; either from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs or from a technical ministry such as the Ministry of Environment, Sustainable Development or Waste Management.

<u>3.3 Contextual Equity Challenges Faced by Caribbean Delegations Preparing and</u> <u>Participating in INC-1</u>

3.3.1 Human Capacity

Study participants were asked to outline challenges that Caribbean delegations face in preparing and participating in the negotiation process for the INC-1. Based on the qualitative analysis of the interview data, the codes human capacity and funding were created with various themes which were specific to the research objective derived from each code (Fig. 5). A word frequency analysis of the codes showed that combined, delegation size, condensed from the words small, delegation, one, two, delegate and size, had a frequency of 74. Funding and human capacity had word frequencies of 23 and 22 respectively (Table 3).

Delegation size of Caribbean SIDS was associated with challenges with human capacity as each delegate linked the cause to exhaustive responsibilities within their ministries, where they serve as delegate(s) for all environmental meetings while concurrently administering the multiplicities of their job obligations in the midst of negotiations. One participant noted that due to being small countries, with small governments, you end up with the same person doing all of the jobs and it leaves little time to prioritize or adequately prepare for negotiations. The realities of this challenge faced was illustrated by one of the delegates interviewed, summarizing their recent experience within serving different negotiation fora, stating:-

"Sometimes things are a bit unrealistic for smaller delegations versus big delegations, that are not necessarily equitable. So, there are some inherent challenges and disadvantages in preparation, because, you know, case in point I came from Egypt (Conference of Parties (COP) 27 on Climate Change), I had two days in between, and then I came straight here (Uruguay, Punta del Este, INC-1). So whereas others would have, for example, let's say the US, they are not the same negotiators I would've negotiated with on climate, and they would have had all that time when we were in Sharm el She'ikh, Egypt negotiating to read the scenario note and do this and that where, you know, sometimes you have to rush and get on a plane, or you can't even do it at all, and you're reading it while you're here (Uruguay, Punta del Este, INC-1) hearing people with their national statements, etc."

Study participants petitioned for a more varied delegation in terms of diversity of skill sets to aid in understanding the financial, social, environmental and legal implications of the intended ILBI to end plastic pollution. For example, some study participants expressed inequities faced when negotiating against countries that have not only larger delegations but a wealth of knowledge and expertise specific to plastic manufacturing, chemistry and waste management along with the financial means to pay experts and advisors within the plastics and legal fields to be a part of their delegations. Based on the INC-1 LOP, only two Caribbean delegates were listed as legal officers within their ministry. However, based on interview data, two other legal advisors were identified within another delegation. The limited legal capabilities were brought forward by study participants, with one participant emphasizing the need for a legal advisor or lawyer to be a part of Caribbean delegations, further explaining the integral need for understanding the legal language, undertones, financial and sovereignty implications involved in the treaty process. A team of lawyers and policy advisors involved in the study stated that; "The legal resources for Caribbean SIDS are not on an equitable basis. The Australians, the Americans, and the Chinese all have access to vast resources, and law firms that they can call on at need, because we know that SIDS and some lesser developed countries do not have those facilities."

The study participants further suggested that the financial means of acquiring legal support outside of the government ministries for Caribbean SIDS could be anywhere north of \$3 million USD for full service representation throughout the remainder of the INC process and that without adequate legal representation and understanding of the treaty process, countries will be "completely unarmed" in negotiations as they face countries with sufficient access to legal resources. Additionally, the study participants stated that a limited understanding of treaty obligations under negotiation could result in Caribbean SIDS not being able to contribute to the negotiation, thus creating a closed door.

When it came to building capacity in the areas of treaty negotiations and diplomacy, nearly 90% (n=7) of delegates interviewed stated that they received no formal negotiation training from their governments and instead learned the negotiation process from colleagues or by gaining experience and knowledge through attending negotiation meetings. Several delegates interviewed stated that courses in diplomatic relations and negotiation training were available at a regional university or abroad but required public servants to absorb the costs of the training as Caribbean government's lack the budget to support capacity building. Alternatively, one delegate indicated that Azerbaijan and South Korea have diplomatic academies where they offer free training to at least one delegate from a developing country. However, these are with their partner countries and it is unclear how many Caribbean SIDS have partnerships with either country.

3.3.2 Financial and Time Restraints

Similarly, study participants emphasized financial limitations as a challenge for Caribbean SIDS to attend the INC-1. Based on interview data, roughly, 90% (n=8) of Caribbean SIDS attending the OEWG-1 and the INC-1, received external funding from UNEP to support travel and participation. Interviewees noted that mobilizing funds from national treasuries within Caribbean governments to attend environmental meetings is difficult as either there are no funds available or the events are not prioritized within national budgets. As such, many Caribbean delegations are unable to attend meetings unless external funding is available to support at least one or two delegates from SIDS or Least Developed Countries (LDCs).

Due to the limitations in human capacity, time to prepare for the event was also a challenge faced by Caribbean delegates preparing for INC-1, with only 1-2 months to prepare in the midst of preexisting responsibilities as stated by study participants. Such time challenges were in the form of conflicting schedules and limited personnel to assist in revising documents, preparing briefs and participating in preparatory meetings hosted by various organizations. Additionally, the timing of the OEWG-1 and the INC-1 was quickly organized and condensed, with the INC-1 being sandwiched between two major multilateral environmental agreement (MEA) meetings , COP 27 on climate change and COP 15 on biodiversity, with one participant stating that, "The environmental stock calendar for the year 2022 was insane with an influx of multilateral environmental agreement (MEA) meetings, which created a conflict in interests and obligations for Caribbean SIDS to attend. There's literally COP 15 happening in Canada, in a week and a half and this is just after COP 27 just finished in Egypt. So like, it's back to back to back. There are people that have conflicting interests right now."

3.3.3 Science Formulating National Positions

During the opening plenary session of INC-1, all UN Member states, UN regional groups, intergovernmental organizations, NGOs and UN specialized agencies were given the opportunity to deliver opening statements outlining their positions on the development of the global plastics treaty and elements they would like to see included. Based on meeting observations and statements published on UNEP's website, it was observed that only 4 Caribbean countries (Cuba, Dominican Republic, St. Lucia and Trinidad and Tobago) delivered national statements. Regional groups GRULAC and AOSIS, which Caribbean SIDS belong to, also delivered statements, in which all Caribbean SIDS in attendance of INC-1 aligned their positions too. Opening statements addressed the extent of the issue of plastic pollution facing the country and/or region and detailed priority areas needed for inclusion in the treaty. Collectively, all statements shared drew attention to the following key principles (further explained in the discussion) of environmental law that should govern the INC meetings and treaty outcomes:-

- 1) Polluter Pays Principle
- 2) Common but Differentiated Responsibilities
- 3) Just Economic transitions
- 4) Equity Principle
- 5) Precautionary Principle
- 6) Principle 12, Rio Declaration

Additionally, statements called for the proposed instrument to:-

- 1) Provide remediation pathways for existing pollution
- 2) Allow flexibility taking into account national circumstances and respective capabilities; and to prioritize additional, predictable and adequate financial resources
- 3) enable capacity building and technology development, access and transfer
- 4) facilitate financial support of at least two participants per delegation to reinforce participation

Each statement delivered on behalf of Caribbean SIDS by its associated member state or regional group addressed the broad impacts of plastics on the environment and economy. However, all statements lacked specified localized plastic pollution data to support impacts felt within each country. Based on study participant responses, the generalized scientific data guiding the formulation of statements and positions were obtained from within scientific departments of government ministries, NGOs or largely from UNEP prepared documents. Study participants noted that Caribbean SIDS lack adequate data on plastic pollution and would need to source and produce quantitative and qualitative data for levels of plastic produced, number of local producers

of plastics and volumes produced, plastic waste streams, waste management mechanisms and local authorities responsible for plastic production, imports and sales.

3.4 Stakeholder Engagement

Nationally, stakeholder engagement, specific to preparation for the INC-1 was conducted within 3 Caribbean. A regional workshop for Caribbean SIDS leading up to INC-1 was hosted by Antigua and Barbuda with St. Kitts and Nevis, Jamaica, Trinidad and Tobago, Martinique, Guyana and Barbados in attendance along with NGOs. Respondents noted that aside from stakeholder engagement between regional governments, more work must be done to liaise with national and regional stakeholders on the ground working in the arenas of waste picking, plastic manufacturing, garbage disposal, collection and recycling among others to gain insights into their experiences and challenges faced. This must be inclusive of various government ministries within Caribbean SIDS such as Trade and Industry, Customs, Marine and Environment, and Commerce among others. On the importance of stakeholder engagement, one respondent stated:-

"I think that's the best way to really understand how we can approach the design of the instrument in a way that resolves those grassroots level issues and what our specific issues are. So I think more consultations with those various stakeholders that are involved in the plastics issue and people from the informal sector, CSOs (community service organizations), environmental organizations, those that do coastal cleanups, asking them, What's your data looking like? What's your challenges? What do you think might work best to prevent leakage into the marine environment, but also to prevent waste coming onshore as well."

During both meetings, UNEP hosted multi-stakeholder fora, bringing together key stakeholders to discuss their positions on the formulation of the global plastics treaty. One (1) NGO and 1 CSO from Caribbean SIDS were present at both meetings and its stakeholder forums, having attended independently of government orchestrated delegations. Regarding funding to attend, UNEP provided funds for the CSO representative while the NGO representative was funded by their organization. One stakeholder suggested that governments within Caribbean SIDS discount the value of local knowledge systems and its input in the negotiation process, typically ratifying environmental agreements without stakeholder and community engagement and buy-in to support treaty obligations.

3.5 Prioritization and Coordination of INCs among Caribbean SIDS

Throughout the interview process, the general perception among study participants was that, based on low attendance from Caribbean SIDS, the INC forum was not being prioritized among its governments or regional intergovernmental organizations such as CARICOM (The Caribbean Community). Active and strategic coordination led by CARICOM, was widely proposed by respondents as a solution to overcoming preparatory and participatory barriers associated with coordination for the INC negotiations among Caribbean SIDS. Study participants argued that based on CARICOM's leadership in the Biodiversity of areas Beyond National Jurisdiction Agreement (BBNJ) negotiations, advocating for regional interests and the special circumstances of Caribbean SIDS, and in other multilateral environmental agreements, it was a well poised entity to lead strategic coordination for INC meetings for Caribbean SIDS. However, it was noted by study participants that CARICOM also faces challenges with human capacity and funding which may have resulted in its absence from the INC-1 as plastic pollution has not yet been made a regional priority. One participant stated that,

"Political will is there among governments of Caribbean SIDS but it is not as appealing as climate change, thus requiring this be prioritized from CARICOM levels so that it maintains on the agenda and that there's interest and a desire to send delegates in the meeting to provide meaningful input when we're (Caribbean SIDS) preparing our (Caribbean SIDS) position papers."

One participant suggested that many Caribbean SIDS remain unaware of the INCs while another stated that lack of prioritization could be due to a number of factors such as limited resources or conflicting events.

4. Discussion and Recommendations

Contextual equity considers the circumstances of stakeholders, in this case, delegations from Caribbean SIDS, capacity to participate fairly in the decision making process for an ILBI to end plastic pollution. Based on data gathered from observations and interviews, it is evident that Caribbean SIDS face contextual inequities in their preparation and participation in the OEWG-1 and INC-1 as compared to developed countries, thus foreshadowing continued experiences for the remainder of the INC process. Contextual factors such as delegation size, human capacity, negotiation training and skills, data gathering and funding proved to be barriers to contextual equity which impedes on procedural and distributive equity for Caribbean SIDS participating in the INC process. Results of this study were used to develop a framework (Fig. 6) demonstrating barriers or factors impeding equity and key drivers needed to achieve the three dimensions of equity needed for the development of a global plastics treaty. Subsequently, this framework may be used to guide implementation of the global plastic treaty once ratified by Caribbean SIDS and will be explained further in the discussion.

4.1 Funding Mechanisms Needed to support Delegations from Caribbean SIDS

Caribbean SIDS typically lack resources needed to support large delegations to attend UN negotiations as costs involved with visas, transportation, accommodation, daily subsistence and other associated expenses can prove prohibitive (Hassanali, 2022; CIEL, 2022). Accessing funds to attend such meetings from public treasuries within Caribbean SIDS prove difficult as funds are either unavailable, not prioritized within national budgets or allocated to more pressing national needs such as food security, crime and economic growth and development. External voluntary funding mechanisms are accessible to developing states, to facilitate participation in environmental negotiation processes (Hassanali, 2022; CIEL, 2022). The opportunity for Caribbean SIDS to fundraise for plastic pollution related projects, including policy development and negotiation processes, can be limited due to their status as 'wealthy', based on their GDP being very high by reason of tourism revenue (Study Participant). However, this fails to take into account the high cost of living within the Caribbean region, leaving SIDS at a disadvantage from accessing funds from global organizations that refer to the Development Assistance Committee (DACS) list

generated by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (Study Participant). The UNEP Secretariat offers funding support for at least two delegates from SIDS and LDCs to attend negotiations, a means utilized by Caribbean delegations attending OEWG-1 and INC-1. In this case, the funding source of the Secretariat is unclear, however, in some instances for different MEAs, funding mechanisms are often external and mainly garnered through the goodwill of UN Member States; international financial institutions, donor agencies, intergovernmental organizations, NGOs and other relevant individuals (Hassanali 2022). The provision of funding by UNEP for SIDS acknowledges the financial inequities that limit their participation and should continue to provide means of support for meeting attendance. However, additional funding is still required to support capacity building, stakeholder engagement and data gathering necessary for meeting preparation.

4.2 Capacity Building needed to support Delegations from Caribbean SIDS

Delegation sizes and diversity of skill sets have increased over the years for developed countries, such as G20 members, compared to developing countries participating in international environmental negotiations (Schroeder et al., 2012). This study illuminates low attendance and participation in the OEWG-1 and INC-1 by Caribbean SIDS and echoes the limitations in human capacity that hinder Caribbean SIDS ability to equitably prepare and participate in the global plastic treaty negotiations. Delegates from Caribbean SIDS are generally overwhelmed with administrative responsibilities that run parallel to their participation in negotiations as expressed by study participants. To overcome the issues of limited capacity and overextended personnel working within siloed governance structures within Caribbean SIDS, communication and cross training across various government ministries along with staff recruitment is needed to better equip delegates. Participation in the negotiation process is incumbent on understanding UN systems and its components for environmental decision making. The United Nations Institute for Training and Research (UNITAR) offers core diplomatic training (CDT) to diplomats to enhance effective performance within a multilateral environment (UNITAR, 2023). Cross collaboration between UNITAR, UNEP and governments within Caribbean SIDS may be undertaken to host regional CDT workshops to train delegates across various government ministries in the basics of the treaty development process. Certainly, this should extend to LDCs who may experience similarities in inequities of participating in the negotiation process. Capacity building in the field of law is also needed to build legal literacy among delegations from Caribbean SIDS.

As evidenced in the data, developed countries have access to vast legal resources which equips them with a more thorough understanding of the legal implications shaping the treaty and the obligations that may result from its formulation. Addressing the full life cycle of plastics and plastic pollution in the marine environment from an international environmental law perspective is extremely complex as it requires legal understanding of definitions and translations of proposed elements to be incorporated into the treaty. For example, terms such as circular economy, elimination and even plastic, which are proposed treaty elements will require a legal definition to understand what it means in the context of the plastic treaty and UN member state obligations (Study participant). To support developing countries in need of legal support specific to the global plastics treaty negotiations, the Plastics Treaty Legal Advisory Service (PTLAS) was created to provide free legal support to developing countries and civil society organizations to ensure that all actors, particularly those most affected by plastic pollution, can fully participate in and influence the negotiating process (PTLAS, 2023). PTLAS composes a global network of lawyers from law firms and universities, providing briefings on important and strategic issues arising during negotiations; legal interpretation and implications of proposals and draft treaty text; and guidance on treaty law, international environmental law and trade law within a 24-hour time frame (PTLAS, 2023). The service however, does not provide advice on negotiation strategy or policy matters, increasing the need for intentional capacity building in this area for Caribbean SIDS. The authors of this paper have no affiliation with the PTLAS organization and argue that such a resource may prove beneficial to Caribbean SIDS in light of both legal needs and budgetary constraints to support external legal counsel.

4.3 Procedural Equity Requires Stakeholder Engagement

Actualizing the ambitious goal to end plastic pollution must ensure that negotiations provide meaningful pathways for engagement, as success depends on stakeholders' full and active participation (CIEL, 2022). This is reliant on procedural equity being achieved throughout the entirety of the negotiation process to ensure that diverse interests and values of marginalized voices and key stakeholders be represented and defended (Friedman et al., 2020). UNEA 5/14 recognized the need for stakeholder engagement by encouraging action among all stakeholders via a multistakeholder forum open to all stakeholders to exchange information and activities related to plastic pollution (UNEA 5/14). Both OEWG-1 and INC-1 hosted multi-stakeholder dialogues, engaging the voices of stakeholders who would be impacted by the ILBI on plastic pollution and who ordinarily would not be directly involved in negotiations (UNEP, 2022). It provided a space to discuss solutions and innovations across the plastics lifecycle among representatives from the informal waste picking sector, Indigenous People and local communities, research institutions, private sector, inter alia (UNEP, 2022; CIEL; 2022). However, this was not without its challenges as stakeholders lodged complaints regarding the separation of stakeholder engagement from the INC-1 negotiations. There was also outcry over a powerful lobby from within the plastic industry, which created the impression of a perceived co-option of the INC stakeholder engagement forum (Author's Meeting Observations). Based on interview data, current stakeholder engagement activities occurring within 3 Caribbean SIDS up to the time of writing, have been between government ministries and local plastic producers or businesses who may be impacted by the future treaty. Though a great first step, efforts must expand to include varying actors at the grassroots level, including waste pickers, indigenous communities, NGOs, CSOs, academia and the general public who are major consumers of plastic products. Meaningful engagement and participation by stakeholder groups is crucial to gaining localized perspectives, technical knowledge and guidance on the social impacts of the intended global plastics treaty, while also empowering them to become legitimately involved in the decision making process (Zuercher et al., 2022; CIEL, 2022). Though stakeholders are not actively negotiating, as observers are not permitted to engage in negotiations, as this role is withheld for member State delegates, their voices contribute to the development of negotiating positions and can support the successful implementation of the treaty (Sterling et al., 2017). Therefore, it is imperative that Caribbean SIDS among other UN member States, iteratively engage stakeholders during the intersessional periods of the INCs. However, guidance on effective and meaningful stakeholder engagement may be required for some member states such as SIDS. As such, capacity building mechanisms in the form of social science training that expands on stakeholder analysis, social and community engagement strategies, active listening practices, cultural sensitivity and qualitative data analysis is required.

Coordinating training in the aforementioned arena could be offered by UNEP, but it will still require that UN member states facilitate in-house training within government departments, ministries or agencies to ensure sound stakeholder engagement is achieved. This level of engagement creates a pathway for negotiations to utilize robust indigenous, traditional and community expertise needed to support the science-policy interface within the treaty making process (Polejack, 2021; CIEL, 2022)

4.4 Localized Scientific Data Gathering Needed to Shape Caribbean SIDS Positions in Negotiations

Caribbean SIDS and their associated groups such as AOSIS and GRULAC have petitioned for the precautionary principle to guide the ILBI to end plastic pollution. This principle suggests that the presence of threats with grave or irreversible damage that lack scientific certainty should not be used as an excuse to disregard the prevention of environmental degradation (Gollier and Treich, 2012). Though, the impacts of plastic pollution on SIDS have been partially documented and provide substantive reasons for urgent action through the development of a global plastics treaty, Caribbean SIDS require specific quantitative and qualitative data demonstrating the severe and inequitable environmental, economic and health impacts of plastic pollution to bolster their negotiating positions throughout the INC process (Lachman et al., 2017; Ambrose et al, 2019; Diez et al., 2019; Ambrose, 2021).

Caribbean SIDS are calling for equity in the distribution of cost, benefits and risks associated with the treaty outcomes via the polluter pays principle and common but differentiated responsibilities. Both assume that the polluter should be held responsible for costs associated with environmental damages caused and that responsibilities for mitigating the issue should vary based on each country's capacity and contributions to the problem (Heyward, 2007; Szynkowska and Pawlaczyk, 2014). Transboundary marine plastic debris, originating from as far as the west coast of Africa and other locations, have been documented on beaches within Caribbean SIDS (Ambrose et al., 2019; Ambrose, 2021). However, Caribbean SIDS lack robust harmonized data documenting plastic concentrations and its transboundary sources to support which polluter, in this case country, should be responsible for paying for mitigation and remediation (Ambrose et al., 2019, Ambrose et al., 2021).

Building scientific capacity for plastic pollution data collection in all forms can shape negotiation positions by utilizing scientific data that reflects the needs of Caribbean SIDS and the region at large. This is a critical step for policy development and measuring the effectiveness of policy interventions and will be crucial in establishing effective national implementation plans to support the implementation of the treaty obligations domestically (Ambrose, 2021). Scientific research on the issue of marine plastic pollution in Caribbean SIDS is predominately executed by foreign scientists or organizations using varying data collection methods (Ambrose, 2021; Stofen-O'Brien et al., 2022). This creates non-viable, incomparable and oftentimes exclusive data sets that are not entirely helpful in strengthening the science-policy interface for Caribbean governments (Ambrose, 2021; Stofen-O'Brien et al., 2022). Scientific capacity building must include localized and/or regional data gathering in the areas of chemical composition of plastics; environmental and health impacts; marine debris and microplastics monitoring, inclusive of brand audits and the identification of transboundary waste and national and regional plastic production and disposal. The collection and possession of this kind of data is necessary to help fill the global governance

gap which lacks accountability for the global mismanagement and transboundary nature of plastic production which leads to plastic pollution (Graff, 2018).

4.5 INCs Prioritization and Coordination needed for Caribbean SIDS

While access to adequate funding and capacity building is intended to promote equity of Caribbean SIDS among their global counterparts, it may prove ineffective if governments within Caribbean SIDS fail to prioritize or see no value or benefits that may result from participating in the INCs (Sparks and Silva, 2019; Osterblom et al., 2020; Campbell et al., 2022). Throughout the interview process, the general perception among study participants was that, based on low attendance from Caribbean SIDS, the INC forum was not being prioritized among its governments or regional intergovernmental organizations like CARICOM. However, one participant did note that political will for this issue is present among governments within Caribbean SIDS, even though the INCs have not been made a regional priority up to the time of writing. The term 'political will' within itself, brims with ambiguity and imprecision (Post et al., 2010)... The 'political will' of Caribbean SIDS related to prioritization of participation in the development of the global plastics treaty must be assessed as up to the time of writing the issue of plastic pollution was prioritized among its governments, however it was unclear if the INC process was made a priority.

During the 44th Regular Meeting of The Heads of Government of CARICOM, hosted in Nassau, The Bahamas February 15-17, 2023, urgent areas of priority discussed were healthcare, crime, food and energy security (The Tribune, 2023). However, the two main items on the agenda were climate change and the political, economic and social turmoil occurring in Haiti, at that time (The Tribune, 2023). Indeed climate change and its adaptation and mitigation responses has long been prioritized by Caribbean SIDS. However, with a view to elevating the importance of INC participation, connections between climate change and plastic pollution must not be ignored. Climate change and plastic pollution are often viewed as separate competing issues but in essence they are fundamentally linked as plastic contributes to greenhouse gas emissions throughout its lifecycle and conversely extreme weather events associated with climate change drive plastic pollution into the natural environment (Ambrose et. al, 2019; Ambrose, 2021; Ford et al., 2022). For example, the aftermath of Hurricane Dorian, the most powerful storm on record to hit The Bahamas and the second strongest hurricane ever recorded in the Atlantic Ocean, left behind 1.5 million pounds of debris, inclusive of plastic in one township on the island of Abaco, The Bahamas (DTN, 2019; The Tribune, 2019). This does not account for transboundary plastic debris that high speed, excessive winds drive on to coastlines within Caribbean SIDS following extreme weather events or landfill failures due to waste mismanagement (Ambrose et al., 2019; Ambrose, 2021).

It must be noted that localized action in the form of plastic bag and/or single use plastic bans and policies have been implemented in a majority of Caribbean SIDS, further signifying a level of importance and priority for the issue itself (UNEP-CEP, 2019; Clayton et al., 2020). However, regarding priority of the INC forum, Caribbean SIDS were likely hindered by the short timeline of the OEWG-1 and the INC-1 coming together so quickly following Resolution 5/14. Additionally, the economic hardships facing the region due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the condensed environmental meeting calendar for quarter four of 2022 where priority for COP 27 took precedence were also factors. The amalgamation of these factors continue to point to the fact that increased funding and human capacity is needed for Caribbean SIDS to participate in MEAs.

Similarly, as noted by study participants, CARICOM also faces challenges with human capacity and funding, which may have resulted in its absence from OEWG-1 and INC-1. To curb speculation on the matter regarding CARICOM's perceived lack of engagement in the INCs, intentional dialogue must be pursued with representatives of CARICOM to understand their approach to preparing member states for participation in other MEAs similar to the INCs for plastics and to identify how equity may be achieved by Caribbean SIDS. Current coordination mechanisms that support Caribbean SIDS in their preparation for INC meetings include AOSIS, International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), and GRULAC, who hosted virtual coordination activities, along with UNEP, who hosted general virtual preparatory meetings for all UN member states and meeting participants. This included technical briefings whereby meeting participants were informed of the provisional agenda and flow of the meeting and were able to ask questions and gain clarity on processes and procedures of the negotiations (UNEP, 2022).

The plastic treaty negotiations also has an in-house coordination mechanism known as the Bureau. The Bureau of the INC is composed of representatives from each UN regional group and is responsible for providing guidance to the Secretariat in organizing the meetings of the INC (UNEP, 2023). Historically, SIDS lacked a seat within the Bureau. However, to maintain an equitable stake in the negotiation process, the need for a SIDS representative on the Bureau was requested by AOSIS during the OEWG-1 plenary session (Author's observation notes; AOSIS OEWG-1 plenary statement, 2022). Many SIDS lack representation within UNEP headquarters in Nairobi and other offices in Geneva, where relevant information specific to the INCs are developed and disseminated. To ensure pertinent information regarding the INCs were received by SIDS, and in the interest of increasing transparency, the INC Bureau saw it fit to have a dedicated SIDS representative. Antigua and Barbuda was selected as the Bureau representative for SIDS. This level of representation may present opportunities for Caribbean SIDS to highlight challenges faced in their participation and preparation for the INCs and may lend room to specified intervention by UNEP to address such challenges.

5. Conclusion

5.1 Framework for Key Drivers Needed for Achieving Contextual Equity in Preparation, Participation and Future Implementation of a Global Plastics Treaty for Caribbean SIDS

For Caribbean SIDS to effectively petition for beneficial outcomes during the negotiations, priority must be given to contextual equity and its role as the gateway to Caribbean SIDS achieving distributive equity outcomes from the treaty which address equitable distribution of the costs, risks and benefits of the global plastics treaty obligations. This study yields a framework (Fig. 6) highlighting five major factors impeding contextual equity as experienced by Caribbean SIDS in their preparation and participation for the INC-1 and details the key drivers needed to support the dimensions of distributive and procedural equity discussed in this paper, for the remainder of the INC process.

Contextual factors which constrain the achievement of equitable participation in the INC negotiation process by Caribbean SIDS include a lack of prioritization of the INC forum by governments within Caribbean SIDS and intergovernmental organizations representing them. Inadequate funding to support the necessary needs and activities associated with preparation and participation in the INCs is also a notable challenge. Additionally, limited capacity in the form of adequate staff and training for delegates, among others, and limited stakeholder engagement

activities were also identified as barriers. Lastly, the absence of diverse and robust localized scientific data on plastics to aid in shaping national positions was lacking. Conversely, the aforementioned contextual constraints also serve as enabling factors for achieving equity once the appropriate drivers are applied.

Prioritization of the INC forum by governments within Caribbean SIDS must be driven by clearly defined "political will", via political capital which influences decision making, goal setting, time, resources and funding allocations needed from governments. Funding to support attaining equity must be driven by financing mechanisms and resources necessary to support preparation for and participation in negotiations for Caribbean SIDS. Currently, funding is available through UNEP but more diversified means of financing to support Caribbean SIDS and other member states in need of support must be pursued by its governments and UNEP. Increasing diplomatic, negotiation, legal and scientific training and staff recruitment are key drivers to building capacity among delegations within Caribbean SIDS. The inclusion of key stakeholder perspectives is needed to drive stakeholder engagement which contributes to the development of negotiating positions for Caribbean SIDS. Lastly, localized and regional scientific data on plastics environmental impact, plastic production within Caribbean SIDS, chemical analyses of plastics, plastic waste streams and social science data on attitudes and perceptions on the implementation of a global plastics treaty in Caribbean SIDS, inter alia, are needed to drive the development and shaping of the global plastics treaty.

The prioritization of contextual equity allows access to fulfilling procedural equity, which requires sufficient capacity building to pursue stakeholder engagement and social science research needed to support the involvement of all stakeholders and marginalized groups and their right to participate in the decision making process (McDermott et al., 2013; Law et al., 2017). Through the achievement of contextual and procedural equity, this provides Caribbean SIDS a fair and robust opportunity to petition their wants and needs for the equitable distribution of costs, risks and benefits associated with the outcome of the global plastics treaty, thus fulfilling distributive equity (Haas et al., 2019). Possessing contextual needs in the form of finances and human capacity, paired with experience and expertise in environmental decision making, can develop confidence in a member state's ability to participate in the process and can inform their success (Haas et al., 2019; Ruoso and Plant, 2021).

The framework (Fig. 6) developed through this research argues that the drivers necessary for achieving contextual, procedural and distributive equity are interlinked and can result in equitable preparation and participation in the INC process by Caribbean SIDS. It also speaks to challenges Caribbean SIDS may face for the implementation of a global plastics treaty as challenges outlined in their ability to equitably participate in the treaty negotiations also mirror their ability to implement a treaty of this scale (Ambrose, 2021). Though the obligations of the global plastics treaty have yet to be decided upon, this study perceives that for Caribbean SIDS, implementation and compliance of the treaty will require political will, financing mechanisms, capacity building, scientific research and an iterative stakeholder engagement process. Such drivers are necessary for ratification of the future treaty; funding to support its implementation and capacity building opportunities that support compliance; stakeholder and public engagement to promote awareness of the treaty and its implications for business and the general public; and scientific data to measure the effectiveness of the treaty overtime (Ambrose, 2021). Once drivers for attaining contextual

factors are applied and met, political and public acceptance of the treaty may be promoted, thus bolstering the success of the intended ILBI to end plastic pollution.

Data Availability Statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics

Ethics approval to conduct this study involving human participants was approved by the World Maritime University's Ethics Committee. Participant consent was sought and obtained from each individual, who was also given the opportunity to decline or withdraw from the study at any stage. Participants will remain anonymous throughout the study.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Kristal K. Ambrose: Conceptualization, Data Collection, Data Analysis, Writing – original draft, final draft.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Funding

This work was supported by The Nippon Foundation of the World Maritime University (WMU) -Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute as well as for The Nippon Foundation and WMUSasakawa Global Ocean Institute's 'Closing The Circle Programme: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning' in the Eastern Caribbean.

Acknowledgements

The authors extend their sincere gratitude to Professor Aleke Stofen-O'Brien and Professor Clive Schofield for their supervision, revisions and support of this research. Gratitude is also extended to Dr. Kahlil Hassanali for inspiring the concept of this paper and providing substantial technical support. Thank you to all study participants for their valuable insight and experiences that supported this research. Additionally, thanks and appreciation are extended to Sierra Ison, Lindy Clyde Knowles, Dr. Aspasia Pastra, Sarah Mahadeo, Deniece Aiken, Professor Ronan Long, Tricia Lovell, 'INC Research Huddle' and colleagues of the Closing the Circle Programme and the Grace of God and our Lord Jesus Christ. The author would also like to acknowledge the generous funding by The Nippon Foundation of the World Maritime University (WMU) - Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute's 'Closing the Circle Programme: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning' in the Eastern Caribbean.

References

Ambrose, K. K. (2021). Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region: Identifying strategic pathways forward. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 171, 112767.

Ambrose, K. K., Box, C., Boxall, J., Brooks, A., Eriksen, M., Fabres, J., Walker, T. R. (2019). Spatial trends and drivers of marine debris accumulation on shorelines in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas using citizen science. Marine pollution bulletin, 142, 145-154.

Ambrose, K. K., & Walker, T. R. (2023). Identifying opportunities for harmonized microplastics and mesoplastics monitoring for Caribbean Small Island Developing States using a spatiotemporal assessment of beaches in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 193, 115140.

AOSIS. (2022). Opening Statement on behalf of the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) at the First Session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee to develop a legally binding

Ashton, J., & Wang, X. (2003). Equity and climate: in principle and practice. Beyond Kyoto: Advancing the international effort against climate change, 61, 65.

Bergmann, M., Almroth, B. C., Brander, S. M., Dey, T., Green, D. S., Gundogdu, S., Walker, T. R. (2022). A global plastic treaty must cap production. Science, 376(6592), 469-470.

Campbell, L., Horan, R., & Fail, R. (2021). Equity in Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction.

CIEL. (2022). Towards a Global Treaty to End Plastic Pollution: Ensuring Meaningful and Effective Stakeholder Involvement in the Intergovernmental Environmental Negotiations

Clayton, C. A., Walker, T. R., Bezerra, J. C., & Adam, I. (2021). Policy responses to reduce single-use plastic marine pollution in the Caribbean. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 162, 111833.

Derraik, J. G. (2002). The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. Marine pollution bulletin, 44(9), 842-852.

Diez, S. M., Patil, P. G., Morton, J., Rodriguez, D. J., Vanzella, A., Robin, D., Corbin, C. (2019). Marine pollution in the Caribbean: not a minute to waste.

DTN. (2019). A look back at the 'most powerful' Hurricane Dorian. DTN. Retrieved February 14, 2023, from https://www.dtn.com/a-look-back-at-the-most-powerful-hurricane-dorian/#:~:text=This%20opens%20in%20a%20new,hurricane%20ever%20to%20reach%20landf all.

Eriksen, M., Lebreton, L. C., Carson, H. S., Thiel, M., Moore, C. J., Borerro, J. C., Galgani, F., Ryan, P., & Reisser, J. (2014). Plastic pollution in the world's oceans: more than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea. PloS one, 9(12), e111913.

Ford, H. V., Jones, N. H., Davies, A. J., Godley, B. J., Jambeck, J. R., Napper, I. E., Suckling, C.C., Williams, G.J., Woodall, L.C., & Koldewey, H. J. (2022). The fundamental links between climate change and marine plastic pollution. Science of The Total Environment, 806, 150392.

Friedman, R. S., Law, E. A., Bennett, N. J., Ives, C. D., Thorn, J. P., & Wilson, K. A. (2018). How just and just how? A systematic review of social equity in conservation research. Environmental Research Letters, 13(5), 053001.

Friedman, R. S., Rhodes, J. R., Dean, A. J., Law, E. A., Santika, T., Budiharta, S., Hutabarat, J.A., Indrawan, T.P., Kusworo, A., Meijaard, E., St. John, F.A.V., Struebig, M. J., & Wilson, K. A. (2020). Analyzing procedural equity in government-led community-based forest management. Ecology and Society, 25(3), 16

G20. (2023). About G20. G20. Retrieved February 14, 2023, from https://www.g20.org/en/about-g20/

Garcés-Ordóñez, O., Espinosa, L.F., Costa Muniz, M., Salles Pereira, L.B., & Meigikos dos Anjos, R. (2021). Abundance, distribution, and characteristics of microplastics in coastal surface waters of the Colombian Caribbean and Pacific. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28, 43431-43442.

Geyer, R., Jambeck, J. R., & Law, K. L. (2017). Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. Science advances, 3(7), e1700782.

Gollier, C., & Treich, N. (2012). Option value and precaution.

Haas, J. C., Loft, L., & Pham, T. T. (2019). How fair can incentive-based conservation get? The interdependence of distributional and contextual equity in Vietnam's payments for Forest Environmental Services Program. Ecological Economics, 160, 205-214.

Hassanali, K. J. (2022) Participating in negotiation of a new ocean treaty under the Law of the Sea Convention–experiences of and lessons from a group of small-island developing States. Frontiers in Marine Science, 904.

Heyward, M. (2007). Equity and international climate change negotiations: a matter of perspective. Climate Policy, 7(6), 518-534.

Hugo, T. G. (2018). The case for a treaty on marine plastic pollution. Norwegian Academy of International Law. Instrument on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment

Ison, S., Pecl, G., Hobday, A. J., Cvitanovic, C., & Van Putten, I. (2021). Stakeholder influence and relationships inform engagement strategies in marine conservation. Ecosystems and People, 17(1), 320-341.

Ituarte-Lima, C., & Subramanian, S. M. (2013). Retreading negotiations on equity in environmental governance: case studies contrasting the evolution of ABS and REDD+. In Biodiversity and Climate Change (pp. 178-208). Edward Elgar Publishing.

Kawulich, B. B. (2005). Participant observation as a data collection method. In Forum qualitative sozialforschung/forum: Qualitative social research (Vol. 6, No. 2).

Kershaw, P. J. (2016). Marine plastic debris and microplastics–Global lessons and research to inspire action and guide policy change.

Lachmann, F., Almroth, B. C., Baumann, H., Broström, G., Corvellec, H., Gipperth, L., Nilsson, P. (2017). Marine plastic litter on Small Island developing states (SIDS): impacts and measures. Swed. Instit. Mar. Environ, 4, 1-76.

Law, E. A., Bennett, N. J., Ives, C. D., Friedman, R., Davis, K. J., Archibald, C., & Wilson, K. A. (2018). Equity trade-offs in conservation decision making. Conservation Biology, 32(2), 294-303.

LeBlanc, P. R. (2010). A practical approach to qualitative interviews. The Qualitative Report, 15(6), 1621-1624.

Martin, A., Gross-Camp, N., Kebede, B., McGuire, S., & Munyarukaza, J. (2014). Whose environmental justice? Exploring local and global perspectives in a payments for ecosystem services scheme in Rwanda. Geoforum, 54, 167-177.

McDermott, M., Mahanty, S., & Schreckenberg, K. (2013). Examining equity: a multidimensional framework for assessing equity in payments for ecosystem services. Environmental science & policy, 33, 416-427.

Meijer, L. J., Van Emmerik, T., Van Der Ent, R., Schmidt, C., & Lebreton, L. (2021). More than 1000 rivers account for 80% of global riverine plastic emissions into the ocean. Science Advances, 7(18), eaaz5803.

Mesquita, Y.W., Mengatto, M.F., & Nagai, R.H. (2022). Where and how? A systematic review of microplastic pollution on beaches in Latin America and the caribbean (LAC). Environmental Pollution, 314, 120231.

Osterblom, H., Wabnitz, C., Tladi, D., Allison, E.H., Arnaud-Haond, S., Bebbington, J., Blasiak, R., Boonstra, W., Choudhury, A., Cisneros-Montemayor, A., Daw, T., Fabinyi, M., Franz, N., Harden-Davies, H., Kleiber, D., Lopes, P., McDougall, C., Resosudarmo, B.P., Selim, S.A., (2020). Towards Ocean Equity. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.

Penetrante, A. M. (2011). Politics of Equity and Justice in Climate Change Negotiations in North-South Relations. In Coping with Global Environmental Change, Disasters and Security (pp. 1355-1366). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Polejack, A. 2021. The Importance of Ocean Science Diplomacy for Ocean Affairs, Global Sustainability, and the UN Decade of Ocean Science. Frontiers in Marine Science 8. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.664066.a

Post, L. A., Raile, A. N., & Raile, E. D. (2010). Defining political will. Politics & Policy, 38(4), 653-676.

PTLAS. (2023). The Plastics Treaty Legal Advisory Service. Plastics Treaty Legal Info. Retrieved February 14, 2023, from https://plasticstreatylegal.info/#:~:text=The%20Plastics%20Treaty%20Legal%20Advisory,and% 20influence%20the%20negotiating%20process.

Rakib, M., Jahan, R., Sarker, A., Ram, K., Uddin, M., Walker, T.R., Chowdhury, T., Uddin, J., Khandaker, M.U., Rahman, M.M. & Idris, A.M. (2023). Microplastic Toxicity in Aquatic Organisms and Aquatic Ecosystems: a Review. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 234(1), 1-28.

Ruoso, L. E., & Plant, R. (2021). Distributive and contextual equity in landholder participation in biodiversity offsets: a case study of biodiversity offsets in New South Wales, Australia. Ecosystems and People, 17(1), 6-24.

Schroeder, H., Boykoff, M. T., & Spiers, L. (2012). Equity and state representations in climate negotiations. Nature Climate Change, 2(12), 834-836.

Silva Filho, C. R., & Velis, C. A. (2022). United Nations' plastic pollution treaty pathway puts waste and resources management sector at the centre of massive change. Waste Management & Research, 40(5), 487-489.

Sparks, J. L., & Silva, S. M. (2019). An intersectionality-based analysis of high seas policy making stagnation and equity in United Nations negotiations. Journal of Community Practice, 27(3-4), 260-278.

Sterling, E. J., Betley, E., Sigouin, A., Gomez, A., Toomey, A., Cullman, G., ... & Porzecanski, A. L. (2017). Assessing the evidence for stakeholder engagement in biodiversity conservation. Biological conservation, 209, 159-171.

Stöfen-O'Brien, A., Ambrose, K. K., Alleyne, K. S., Lovell, T. A., & Graham, R. E. (2022). Parachute science through a regional lens: Marine litter research in the Caribbean Small Island Developing States and the challenge of extra-regional research. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 174, 113291.

Szynkowska, M. I., & Pawlaczyk, A. (2014). Environmental & health laws, Europe.

Takamura, Y. (2003). Setting the scene for a future climate change regime: assuring fairness from a broader perspective. Climate Regime Beyond 2012 "Incentives for Global Participation", 38.

The Tribune. (2019). 1.5 billion pounds of debris shows need for strong building code. Retrieved February 14, 2023, from http://www.tribune242.com/news/2019/sep/18/15-billion-pounds-of-debris-shows-need-for-strong/

UNEA 5/14. (2022). Resolution 5/14 End plastic pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument. Resolution

UNEP-CEP. (2019). Report on the status of styrofoam and plastic bag bans in the wider caribbean region. https://gefcrew.org/carrcu/18IGM/4LBSCOP/Info-Docs/WG.39_INF.8-en.pdf.

UNEP. (2022). Provisional List of Participants. Intergovernmental negotiating committee to develop an international legally binding instrument on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment. First session. Punta del Este, Uruguay, 28 November–2 December 2022.

UNEP. (2022). Provisional List of Participants. Ad hoc open-ended working group (OEWG) to prepare for the intergovernmental negotiating committee on plastic pollution. First session. Dakar, Senegal, 30 May-1 June 2022.

UNEP. (2022). Wider Caribbean https://www.unenvironment.org/explore-topics/oceansseas/what-we-do/working-regional-seas/regionalseasprogrammes/wider#:~:text=Overview,28%20island%20and%20continental%20countries

UNEP. (2022). What you need to know about the plastic pollution resolution. UNEP. Retrieved, from https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/story/what-you-need-know-about-plastic-pollution-resolution

UNEP. (2023). Bureau. UNEP. Retrieved February 14, 2023, from <u>https://www.unep.org/about-un-environment/inc-plastic-pollution/bureau</u>

UNITAR. (2023). Core Diplomatic Training. Retrieved August 9, 2023, from https://unitar.org/sustainable-development-goals/multilateral-diplomacy/our-portfolio/corediplomatic-training

Villarrubia-Gómez, P., Cornell, S. E., & Fabres, J. (2018). Marine plastic pollution as a planetary boundary threat–The drifting piece in the sustainability puzzle. Marine policy, 96, 213-220.

WWF. (2022). Laying the foundation for successful negotiations on a new plastic treaty to end plastic pollution.

Zuercher, R., Motzer, N., Magris, R. A., & Flannery, W. (2022). Narrowing the gap between marine spatial planning aspirations and realities. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 79(3), 600-608.

Figure Titles

Fig. 1. INC Meetings Timeline. Photo Credit (Geneva Environment Network)

Fig. 2 Map of Caribbean SIDS attending the Ad Hoc OEWG-1and INC-1 meetings

Fig. 3 OEWG-1 Attendance by Caribbean SIDS and G20 Countries

Fig. 4. INC-1 Attendance by Caribbean SIDS and G20 Countries

Fig. 5 Thematic framework for challenges faced in equitable participation

Fig. 6 Framework for Key Drivers Needed for Achieving Equity in Preparation, Participation and Future Implementation of a Global Plastics Treaty for Caribbean SIDS

Tables

Table 1. Semi-structured interview study participants

Role	No. Individuals
Delegate	8
Lawyers and Policy Advisors	3
NGO's	2
Regional Group Coordinator	1

Table 2. Word frequency analysis of challenges faced by delegations from Caribbean SIDS

Challenges faced by Caribbean Delegations	Frequency (n=12)
Small, delegation, one, two, delegate, size	74
Financial, finance, financing, funds, fundraising	23
Human, limited, capacity	22
Technical, expertise, knowledge	12
Time	5
Coordination	3
Equity	2

Table 3. Word Frequency Analysis of participant perceptions of equity

Perceptions of Equity	Frequency (n=12)
Equal/Equally/Equality	10
Fair/Fairness	7
Access	6
Needs	6
Participation	5
Just	5
Different	5
Ability	4
Power	2
Privilege	2
Opportunities	2

PAPER 5

Ambrose, K.K. (2023). The Caribbean Community (CARICOM) as the Coordination Mechanism For Caribbean Small Island Developing States Participating in The Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations? (Accepted). Ocean Yearbook

The Caribbean Community (CARICOM) as the Coordination Mechanism For Caribbean Small Island Developing States Participating in The Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations?

Kristal K. Ambrose

World Maritime University (WMU)-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute, Malmö, Sweden

Abstract

The specific processes involved in The Caribbean Community's (CARICOM) role as a coordination mechanism for its member states, composed of Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS), participating in multilateral environmental agreement (MEA) negotiations are sparsely documented within academic literature. CARICOM member states have increasingly suffered from the transboundary movement and deposition of plastic litter on their coastlines. The Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC) convened in November 2022 to develop an international legally binding instrument to manage plastic pollution, including in the marine environment. Known as the global plastics treaty, Caribbean SIDS face inequities in their ability to adequately prepare and participate in this negotiation forum. CARICOMs history of addressing environmental issues, notably through its participation in MEAs, has positioned CARICOM as a significant negotiating bloc in MEAs. This study classifies CARICOMs systematic coordination processes for preparing its member states for MEA negotiations and assesses opportunities, challenges and limitations for CARICOM to serve as the coordination mechanism for preparing its member states for the ongoing global plastics treaty negotiations.

Keywords: CARICOM, Caribbean Small Island Developing States, Global Plastics Treaty, Coordination, Intergovernmental Negotiating Meetings

Introduction

The Caribbean Community (CARICOM), comprises 15 Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS) as member states¹ (Fig. 1). CARICOM is an institution devoted to integration in the Caribbean region and is founded on the pillars of economic integration; foreign policy coordination; human and social development and security.² This intergovernmental organization has a long track record with respect to regional cooperation, coordination and integration on a range of challenges. In particular, CARICOM has addressed environmental issues, notably through its participation in multilateral environmental agreement meetings (MEAs), a role that has helped to make CARICOM a significant negotiating bloc in MEAs.³ Having been involved in international negotiations within the World Trade Organization (WTO), the Commonwealth, the United Nation Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), and the UN Conference on the Laws of the Sea, inter alia, CARICOM is no stranger to negotiating bloc formation as in the past they have combined their resources by negotiating as one bloc either with larger countries, various blocs and organizations in the region.⁴

Within the academic discourse, there is a limited understanding and illustration of how CARICOM functions as a coordination mechanism for its member states participating in MEAs, specifically

¹ Chakalall, Bisessar et al. "Current issues in fisheries governance in the Caribbean Community (CARICOM)." Marine Policy 22, no. 1 (1998): 29-44.; O'Brien, Derek. "CARICOM: Regional Integration in a post-colonial world." European Law Journal 17, no. 5 (2011): 630-648.; Hassanali, Kahlil. "CARICOM and the blue economy–Multiple understandings and their implications for global engagement." Marine policy 120 (2020): 104137.

² See n. 1 above; CARICOM. "Who Are We." accessed August 1 2023, available online https://caricom.org/our-community/who-we-are/.

³ See n. 1 above; Hassanali, Kahlil. "Participating in Negotiation of a New Ocean Treaty under the Law of the Sea Convention–Experiences of and Lessons From a Group of Small-Island Developing States." Frontiers in Marine Science 9 (2022): 902747.

⁴ Byron, Jessica. "CARICOM in the post-cold war era: regional solutions or continued regional contradictions?." ISS Working Paper Series/General Series 178 (1994):1-26.; Schiff, Maurice. "Small states, micro states, and their international negotiation and migration." Journal of economic integration (2014): 430-449.

the process of achieving priority for an environmental issue among its member states and further analyzing the steps and measures involved in preparing its member states for MEA negotiations. One scholar⁵ discusses some of the experiences and challenges faced by CARICOM, in the negotiation of the Biodiversity of Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction Agreement (BBNJ). However, details regarding the processes required prior to states participating in the negotiations were not examined. This work aims to illustrate the systematic processes involved with preparing CARICOM member states for MEA negotiations and will assess how CARICOM may serve as the coordination mechanism for preparing its member states for the current global plastics treaty negotiations.

CARICOM and the Need to Address Plastic Pollution

CARICOM member states experience commonalities in their reliance on the marine environment as a cultural, social and economic resource.⁶ In recent years, the emergent threat of plastic pollution to CARICOM member states have increasingly suffered from the transboundary movement and deposition of plastic litter on their coastlines.⁷ Such concentrations of plastic pollution received far outstrip the production and consumption rates of plastic among Caribbean SIDS.⁸ Excessive loads of plastic pollution produced and received by Caribbean SIDS can prove detrimental to its ocean

⁵ See n.3 above.

⁶ Diez Sylvia, et al. "Marine pollution in the Caribbean: not a minute to waste." (2019). World Bank Group.; See n. 1 above.

⁷ See n. 6 above.; Ambrose, Kristal K et al. "Spatial trends and drivers of marine debris accumulation on shorelines in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas using citizen science." Marine pollution bulletin 142 (2019): 145-154.; Ambrose, Kristal K. "Coordination and harmonization of a marine plastic debris monitoring program for beaches in the Wider Caribbean Region: Identifying strategic pathways forward." Marine Pollution Bulletin 171 (2021): 112767.; Ambrose, Kristal K., and Tony. R. Walker. "Identifying opportunities for harmonized microplastics and mesoplastics monitoring for Caribbean Small Island Developing States using a spatiotemporal assessment of beaches in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas." Marine Pollution Bulletin 193 (2023): 115140.
⁸ Lachmann, Florina et al. "Marine plastic litter on small island developing states (SIDS): impacts and measures." (2017).; See n.7 above.

dependent industries such as tourism and fisheries which serve as primary economic drivers of their gross domestic product (GDP).⁹

To address this pressing environmental concern, the St. John's Declaration of CARICOM was established and adopted during the 40th session of the CARICOM Heads of Government (HOG) meeting hosted in July 2019, addressing increasing levels of plastic pollution in the Caribbean Sea and its negative impacts on sustainable development for the region.¹⁰ The declaration established plastic pollution as an area of priority among its member states, further highlighting the need for the reduction and/or elimination of single use plastics and similar packaging materials. Additionally, the declaration included a commitment to address ecosystem damage caused by plastic pollution and recognized the need for effective policy, legislative and regulatory frameworks at the global, regional, national and local levels.¹¹

Moreover, at the global level, during the 5th session of the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA)(UNEA 5.2), in March 2022, Resolution 5/14 End Plastic Pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) (UNEA 5/14) was adopted by United Nations (UN) member states.¹² One hundred and seventy-five UN member states adopted the resolution, proposing that an Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC) be convened to develop the text

⁹ See n. 6 above; See n. 7 above.

¹⁰ CARICOM Heads adopt St. Johns Declaration to address plastic pollution in Caribbean Sea, adopted on 6 July 2019, available online <u>https://caribbeantradelaw.com/2019/07/06/caricom-heads-adopt-st-johns-declaration-to-address-plastic-pollution-in-caribbean-sea/;</u> Fortieth Regular Meeting of the Conference of Heads of Government of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM), adopted 3-5 July 2019, available online https://caricom.org/wp-content/uploads/DECISIONS-40-HGC-JUL-2019.pdf>

¹¹ See n.10 above.

¹² Walker, Tony R. "Calling for a decision to launch negotiations on a new global agreement on plastic pollution at UNEA5. 2." Marine Pollution Bulletin 176 (2022): 113447-113447.; Stöfen-O'Brien, Aleke. "The Prospects of an International Treaty on Plastic Pollution." The International Journal of Marine and Coastal Law 37, no. 4 (2022): 727-740.

of an ILBI on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment.¹³ Unofficially titled the "global plastics treaty", the ILBI intends to inclusively address the full life cycle of plastic from production to disposal through five INC sessions aimed to build the specifics of the treaty between 2022-2024¹⁴

The first INC (INC-1) commenced on November 28, 2022 in Punta del Este, Uruguay, where UN member states and stakeholders convened to discuss key features of the impending ILBI such as its potential scope, objectives and broad options for the structure of the new agreement (UNEP/PP/INC.1/14, 2023). Caribbean SIDS were welcomed to access the INC-1 negotiating forum, along with other UN member states, to have their positions heard. However, a recent study¹⁵ noted that despite their public pronouncements regarding addressing plastic pollution, attendance during the INC-1 was relatively low for CARICOM member states with less than 50% of them attending. Based on interview data with Caribbean delegates attending INC-1, the aforementioned study¹⁶ concluded that Caribbean SIDS face inequities compared to developed countries, in their ability to participate in MEAs such as the global plastics treaty negotiations. This was attributed to small delegation sizes, along with limitations in negotiation training skills, as well as adequate localized scientific data to support negotiating positions and funding to support their participation.¹⁷ Such inequities can be characterized as contextual equity, whereby equity in access to the decision-

¹³ See n. 12 above.

¹⁴ Resolution 5/14 End plastic pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument. Resolution, adopted 2 March 2022, available online

<https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/39812/OEWG_PP_1_INF_1_UNEA%2 0resolution.pdf>

¹⁵ Ambrose, K.K and Kahlil, Hassanali. "Assessing and Addressing Equity: A framework for Key Drivers Needed by Caribbean SIDS to Achieve Equity in Preparation and Participation in the Global Plastics Treaty Negotiations". World Maritime University (2023) (In review).

¹⁶ See n. 15 above.

¹⁷ See n.15 above.

making process is impeded by pre-existing imbalances such as the aforementioned experiences faced by Caribbean SIDS, further creating an unleveled playing field for participants.¹⁸

Caribbean delegates interviewed within said study¹⁹, perceived that low attendance by Caribbean member states during the INC-1 was in part to the forum not being prioritized by CARICOM, which would promote increased participation by its member states.²⁰ Though CARICOM is not the only regional integration body, as equivalent organizations such as the Central American Integration System (SICA), Organization of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS) and the Association of Caribbean States (ACS) exist to support intergovernmental arrangements for integration and functional cooperation, this study will focus on CARICOM based on their current involvement and coordination in various environmental treaty negotiations. The preceding study²¹ makes reference to CARICOMs role as the coordination mechanism for MEAs such as BBNJ, the 27th United Nations Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (COP27), and the 15th Conference of the Parties United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity (UNCBD) (COP15). Here, Caribbean delegates interviewed suggested that based on these experiences, CARICOM may be a well poised entity to orchestrate coordination for the INCs for its member states. Said study²² further found that political will is present among CARICOM governments concerning plastic pollution and the INCs. However it was suggested that this issue was potentially not considered to be as urgent a concern as climate change MEA

¹⁸ Martin, Adrian et al. "Whose environmental justice? Exploring local and global perspectives in a payments for ecosystem services scheme in Rwanda." Geoforum 54 (2014): 167-177.; Law, Elizabeth A. et al. "Equity trade-offs in conservation decision making." Conservation Biology 32, no. 2 (2018): 294-303.; See n.15 above.

¹⁹ See n. 15 above.

²⁰ See n. 15 above.

²¹ See n. 15 above.

²² See n. 15 above.

forums.²³. This, in turn, indicates that if CARICOM member states are to play a substantive role in the negotiation of a global plastic treaty, there is a corresponding and urgent need for the INCs to be prioritized from CARICOM levels as an agenda item to promote increased attendance and unified negotiating positions during the INCs.²⁴

This paper builds on the aforementioned study²⁵ and aims to a) determine the state of prioritization of the INCs within CARICOM and its member states b) understand how political will for environmental issues are translated to priority agenda items among CARICOM member states and c) assess CARICOMs preparation and participation in MEAs using a framework²⁶ to understand its implications for the INC process for Caribbean SIDS.

Methods

Data Collection

Based on the aforementioned study's findings,²⁷ specifically suggesting the lack of priority of the INC forum by CARICOM, up to the time of writing, a semi-structured interview was conducted with the CARICOM Secretariat to understand CARICOMs approach to and challenges with preparation of its member states in MEAs. This work excluded interviews with CARICOM member states and other regional organizations considering a) CARICOMs participation in multiple MEA forums, b) its role as the primary coordination mechanism for its member states participating in MEAs and c) its positioning as an important negotiation bloc in MEAs.²⁸ The Secretariat, also

²³ See n. 15 above.

²⁴ See n. 15 above.

²⁵ See n. 15 above.

²⁶ See n.15 above

²⁷ See n. 15 above.

²⁸ See n. 3 above.

referred to as study participant, was asked questions related to a) challenges faced in coordination; b) achieving priority among member states, funding, MEA preparation and c) participation, capacity building, stakeholder engagement, science and crafting negotiating positions.

Data Analysis

Following a modified social science methodology²⁹ the interview was transcribed using the Otter.ai software. Nvivo 13, a qualitative data analysis software, was used to analyze interview transcripts and a three step process was used to identify codes, subcodes (categories) and themes. Codes, a unit of analysis by way of labelling, summarized key aspects from each interview question and were derived from the focal points of challenges, prioritization and capacity building among others. From here subcodes, more specific categories of the codes, were created, before themes, relevant connections to the research question, were extracted.³⁰

Framework for Key Drivers Needed for Achieving Equity in Preparation, Participation and Future Implementation of a Global Plastics Treaty for Caribbean SIDS³¹

The INC negotiating process offers conflicting positions on equity regarding participation. On one hand, the UN promotes equal access to the negotiating forum by all its member states.³² However, on the other hand, Caribbean SIDS face inequities in their ability to adequately prepare and participate in the INC negotiation forum. The aforementioned study³³ yielded a framework (Fig. 2) highlighting five major factors impeding equity as experienced by Caribbean SIDS in their

²⁹ Ison, Sierra et al. "Stakeholder influence and relationships inform engagement strategies in marine conservation." Ecosystems and People 17, no. 1 (2021): 320-341.

³⁰ LeBlanc, Patrice R. "A practical approach to qualitative interviews." The Qualitative Report 15, no. 6 (2010): 1621-1623.

³¹ See n. 15 above.

³² See n. 15 above.

³³ See n.15 above.
preparation and participation for the INC-1 and details the key drivers needed to achieve the core dimensions of equity for the remainder of the INC process. The five factors include prioritization, funding, capacity building, stakeholder engagement and scientific research. Using interview data, this study will assess CARICOMs application of the key drivers to preparation and participation in negotiating processes. This will assist in determining their capabilities for serving as the coordination mechanism for their member states for the INCs.

Results

The results presented here are based on interview data garnered from the CARICOM Secretariat. It is laid out in 6 sections based on the topical area of the interview questions and its association to CARICOMs role as a coordination mechanism for its member states. Starting with the first section the role and responsibilities of the CARICOM Secretariat are clearly outlined. The second section evaluates the prioritization and coordination of the INCs by CARICOM and its member states and documents challenges faced in participating in the INCs. The third section details a framework analysis of MEA negotiations preparation and participation done by CARICOM using the aforementioned framework³⁴ and is further divided into subsections based on factors of the framework which include :-Achieving Prioritization and Political Will for MEA negotiations; Capacity Building and Stakeholder Engagement; and Scientific Research as the basis to Formulating Negotiating Positions.

CARICOM Secretariat

³⁴ See n. 15 above.

The CARICOM Secretariat serves as a support and coordination mechanism for its member states to improve the quality of life of its people and communities and promote the development of innovative and productive societies in partnership with institutions and groups working toward a people-centered, sustainable and internationally competitive community.³⁵ According to the study participant, the Secretariat primarily serves in an administrative role and has the duty of convening, coordinating, facilitating and supporting the decision-making arms of its community. This includes Ministerial Councils, the Community of Ambassadors and HOG.

The study participant was asked to define the role, responsibilities and composition of the Secretariat. They further noted that the Secretariat comprises two (2) individuals who cover various aspects of the organization's mandate, including all environmental and ocean issues such as climate change, disaster management, natural resources, water resources, biodiversity, plastics and pollution. Such responsibilities include serving simultaneously as Project Officers for Sustainable Development, Natural Resources and Environment; Director of Economic Integration and Innovation and newly developed projects and programmes.

With at least seven environmental thematic areas shared between two persons, each area is implemented through a dedicated process in the form of meetings or negotiations, with the study participant further stating that,

"This creates challenges regarding human capacity as the work obligations may outweigh the labour force. In some instances, the Secretariat may hire technical consultants and

³⁵ See n. 2 above.

project coordinators to support ongoing projects and initiatives, however, this is based on available funding."

Prioritization and Coordination of the INCs and Challenges Faced

When asked about CARICOMs awareness and prioritization of the INCs, the study participant stated that,

"The space or the capacity to deal with and fully coordinate does not preclude or indicate that it's not a priority. It is hard to say that it (INC-1) wasn't prioritized but it is an issue of priority based on things like the St. John's declaration. We (CARICOM Secretariat) were aware of the INC-1 but with limited political machinery, I don't think we (CARICOM Secretariat) ever had a council agenda item on it. So if we didn't have a decision on it, particularly with the date of the meeting sneaking up on us as we (CARICOM Secretariat and member states) were deep in climate change (COP27), BBNJ and COP 15 negotiations, there was no way to even think about going to INC-1, even INC-2 in May, 2023, I don't see how we are going to be able to attend that one (INC-2) either."

The study participant noted that there is an appetite for some level of coordination as some member states informally engaged with the Secretariat to propose that a coordination mechanism for the INCs be established by CARICOM. However, it was further stated that there is not always a one to one equivalency of prioritization, coordination and participation for the INCs due to challenges faced by the Secretariat.

Regarding challenges faced by the Secretariat in coordinating participation in the INCs among CARICOM member states, the study participant noted that scheduling time for the forum proved to be a major hindrance in the face of an overwhelming environmental meeting calendar for 2022, stating:

"It is hard now to find space on the calendar to do a lot else. So we had already decided for plastics INC that we can't even look at that until BBNJ was finished and that went on longer than anticipated but we had already agreed that we wouldn't be able to turn our attentions to the plastic INC while juggling COP 15, COP 27 and BBNJ. So now it's going to be a quick pivot to see how we can support countries with the plastics INCS. It's not going to be easy."

Additionally, the study participant noted that both human and financial capacity were a big challenge in terms of coordination and participation in the INC, further limiting full engagement in the meetings by CARICOM and its member states.

Framework Analysis for MEA Negotiation Preparation and Participation

Achieving Prioritization and Political Will for MEA negotiations among CARICOM Member States

Within recent years, the CARICOM HOG agreed to prioritize climate change as an area of immediate action leading to its inclusion on every agenda item for HOG (Study participant). The prioritization of climate change and its associated MEA meeting COP 27 (held in Sharm El-Sheikh, Egypt in November, 2022) by CARICOM HOG, was reflected in the attendance of CARICOM member states present during COP 27. Based on the timeline of COP 27 and INC-1 occurring

successively, this study only analyzed attendance for COP 27, hosted in November 2022. It is acknowledged that attendance for the climate COPs, beginning with the first meeting held in 1995, could have possibly began with low attendance by CARICOM member states before experiencing a notable increase. Though a valuable consideration, this study is framed around the active participation of the COP 27 MEA and its prioritization by CARICOM HOGs. Data gathered from UNFCCC and United Nations Environment Program (UNEP) List of Participants data for COP 27 and INC-1 was examined to assess in person attendance by CARICOM member states. As compared to INC-1, the average delegation size for CARICOM member states attending COP 27 was 19 delegates, with the largest delegation being The Bahamas with 57 delegates³⁶ (Fig. 3). Conversely, the average delegation size for Caribbean member states attending INC-1 was roughly 1 delegate with Antigua and Barbuda having the largest delegation composed of 6 delegates³⁷ (Fig. 3).

For an issue of importance to be prioritized as an agenda item for CARICOM HOG, it must be translated to a mandate that is supported by unified political will on behalf of the HOG (Fig. 4). This begins with a topical issue for example climate change, plastic pollution and biodiversity loss among others being recognized by CARICOM and its institutions such as Caribbean Regional Fisheries Mechanism (CRFM) and Caribbean Community Climate Change Center (5Cs). These topical issues of priority are then transferred to senior environmental officials within a member state or from regional institutions who liaise with the chair of the Bureau of the Council of Ministers

³⁶ UNFCCC Provisional List of Registered Participants. Conference of Parties. Twenty-seventh session, adopted 6-8 November 2022, available online https://unfccc.int/documents/622327; Provisional List of Participants. Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee to Develop An International Legally Binding Instrument on Plastic Pollution, Including in The Marine Environment-First Session, adopted on 28 November, 2022, available online
 https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/41848/INC1FinalListofParticipants.pdf

from member states who present the topical issue to the Ministers. Following this, Ministers will engage in a full discussion of the issue and will classify the issue as an agenda item. Once the topic is on the agenda, HOG will discuss the matter and will further produce a political mandate on the issue which establishes political will and supports the prioritization of the issue (Fig. 4). The political mandate is then returned to CARICOM Institutions and shared at the national level for implementation. The mechanical flow of issue prioritization was illustrated by the study participant who also stated that,

"All support offered by CARICOM to its member states in terms of international negotiations, support and coordination have gone through this process."

This process was completed for the BBNJ, COP 27 and COP 15 negotiations, however the INC process failed to have a political mandate established among HOG. Despite this, the study participant noted that,

"If CARICOM didn't specifically coordinate for the INCs, there would still be some level of organization and coordination in the region by 'somebody', but it would be important for the CARICOM grouping to begin conversations on this matter before it gets lost in the larger Latin American Caribbean structure."

Funding to Support Participation in MEA Negotiations

In regard to CARICOMs role in providing funding for its member states to attend negotiating meetings, this is not usually an option as the Secretariat relies on securing funds through projects

and grants to support its work, meaning unless a project or project funds are available, the Secretariat is unable to assist. The study participant stated that,

"For negotiations it is normally a voluntary trust fund that the Global North would put money into that would support maybe one or two delegates from each developing country. So there's some support for every country to be able to access the negotiating room like at the COP, but beyond that, member state countries usually fund those things themselves."

The study participant also noted that there is supposed to be a CARICOM Development Fund that aims to support member states but it was unclear if that fund was capitalized. It was also stated that the Caribbean Development Bank (CDB) offers loans and grants to member states, potentially serving as a source to support participation in negotiations. Additionally it was mentioned that CARICOM has engaged in discussions with Global Affairs Canada and USAID to discuss committing funds towards various projects.

Capacity Building and Stakeholder Engagement

Through its administrative role, the Secretariat is also responsible for supporting capacity building among its member states. The study participant stated that,

"If member states were to say CARICOM Secretariat, we really need capacity in this regard, then that's a mandate we (CARICOM Secretariat) have to fulfill and find the capacity somehow."

This was notable during member states preparation for the BBNJ negotiations where states requested support. The Secretariat hosted capacity building workshops for New York based negotiators from member states Permanent Missions to the UN, as well as capital experts, stakeholders, universities, fisheries and legal experts on marine genetic resources as that was an area of the BBNJ negotiations that the region had the least capacity on. Here, workshop participants got a sense of the technical issues at its core to understand the fundamentals of it and then understand the reasons for the positions established and taken by the negotiating bloc.

Similarly, capacity building was offered to delegates from member states participating in COP 15 where the Secretariat offered support in the global biodiversity strategy. Led by a hired consultant, this extended to a full suite of capacity building workshops, in the form of both in-country and regional workshops that supported the coordination of technical briefs, caucuses, bilaterals with third state parties and other negotiating blocs. This also occurred for COP 27 as a workshop on Article Six for climate finance was held as issues with climate finance, including carbon trading and carbon credits was an area where negotiators lacked a thorough understanding.

In preparation for various negotiating fora, the Secretariat orchestrates stakeholder engagement between member states, academia, regional institutions as well as external partners and donors to prepare for negotiations.

Scientific Research as the Basis to Formulating Negotiating Positions

For COP 27 negotiations, a well-established contingent of Caribbean scientists exist to both contribute to scientific reports such as the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) or to formulate relevant localized data to support negotiating positions for CARICOM member states.

For example, University of the West Indies (UWI)-Mona, hosts a climate sciences group composed of researchers who take reports like those of the IPCC and translate it into relevant models that reveal the implications of climate change at national and regional scales. This is paired with localized monitoring data on meteorological trends and sea surface temperatures. However the study participant noted that more human capacity is needed to support monitoring, suggesting that,

"So to have a network of sea level stations, monitoring of coral reef temperatures and monitoring the climate to produce our own models, that capacity building in those areas for us is very important because we need to be able to understand for ourselves what the climate situation is, and not rely solely on global reports. It will be the same thing for any environmental agreement. If it's biodiversity, we have to measure our own biodiversity. We can't just rely on a global report that says that biodiversity has declined by 50%, we have to know what our situation is and the same goes for plastic pollution."

Data from scientific reports and outcomes from prior COPS and its subsidiary bodies are translated into policy language by the CARICOM Secretariat and 5Cs while simultaneously a draft road map of engagement and negotiation positions are presented to the HOG for endorsement before going to the Council of Ministers for approval before being disseminated to member states (Fig. 5).

CARICOM can hold a position on several issues, but will collaborate with the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) to identify commonalities in negotiating positions before aligning with G77 with the study participant noting that, "It is really just a series of preparatory and refinement of positions but ultimately, the majority of our positions would be aligned with G77 and aligned with AOSIS for SIDS specific things."

The study participant further explained the rationale behind the alignment of positions, stating that,

"Ultimately it's one vote for one party. So the more you can pool votes on a position, then the stronger your position would be across any UN platform, but really one of the things is avoiding inadvertently conflicting with other small states. So if the EU says I want to have a meeting with Barbados about this particularly contentious position, it will be very useful for Barbados to know the position of CARICOM because there's always going to be a strategy of divide and conquer. So the more united and coordinated we are then the smoother the negotiating process."

Discussion and Recommendations

Results from this study clearly indicate that CARICOM has created a viable framework for prioritizing MEA forums, establishing its negotiating blocs and positions and preparing its member states for MEA meetings such as COP 27, COP 15 and the BBNJ (Fig. 4 and 5). Such involvement in these negotiations have involved strategic coordination and preparation on behalf of CARICOM to establish a political mandate among its HOG; facilitation of capacity building workshops among its state's delegations and negotiators; identification of funding opportunities through available project resources; the application of relevant localized scientific data to inform negotiating

positions and engagement with a diversity of relevant stakeholders. The aforementioned factors are all components of the Framework for Key Drivers Needed by Caribbean SIDS to Achieve Equity in Preparation and Participation in the Global Plastics Treaty Negotiation.³⁸ Here, CARICOM demonstrates both the applicability of its coordination approach and its capabilities to effectively promote preparation and participation among its member states for the INCs. Be that as it may, unified coordination and prioritization of the INCs remain a challenge for CARICOM and its member states. Prioritization of the INC forum by CARICOM and its member states requires a clearly defined political mandate by its HOG to influence decision-making, goal setting, time, resources and funding allocations needed from governments to participate in the global plastics treaty negotiations.³⁹ However, actualizing a political mandate to support member states preparation and participation in the INC forum has been neglected due to the recurring issues of limited human capacity and funding that plague Caribbean SIDS.⁴⁰

Perpetual gaps in capacity continue to limit the full potential of Caribbean SIDS to undertake, inform and utilize ocean science that supports global goals and policy development for plastic pollution.⁴¹ Capacity building is a broad term whose definition requires framing based on the context it is used in. Generally, it can be defined as "the process by which individuals and organizations obtain, strengthen, and maintain the capabilities to set and achieve their own development objectives over time".⁴² For Caribbean SIDS, considerations for capacity building

³⁸ See n. 15 above.

³⁹ See n. 15 above.

⁴⁰ See n. 15 above.

⁴¹ Polejack, Andrei, and Luciana Fernandes Coelho. "Ocean science diplomacy can be a game changer to promote the access to marine technology in Latin America and the Caribbean." Frontiers in Research Metrics and Analytics 6 (2021): 637127.; Harden-Davies, Harriet et al. "Capacity development in the Ocean Decade and beyond: key questions about meanings, motivations, pathways, and measurements." Earth system governance 12 (2022): 100138.
⁴² See n. 37 above.

must include human, technical, institutional, scientific, financial, social, legal and technological forms of capacity to support engaging in unified scientific monitoring or actively participating in negotiations.⁴³ UNEA Resolution 5/14, does not directly address the need for capacity building to precede the negotiation process to promote contextual equity among developing countries participating in the treaty negotiations. However, it acknowledges that some legal obligations arising out of a new international legally binding instrument will require capacity building and technical and financial assistance in order to be effectively implemented by developing countries and countries with economies in transition.⁴⁴ As the INCs progress, Caribbean SIDS should outline their specific capacity building needs, aligned with Resolution 5/14 to support obligations associated with implementation and monitoring for the treaty.

The diversity of issues within the international arena will continue to expand along with the need for regional cooperation among states.⁴⁵ With an expected rise in negotiating fora of various interests, the lack of human and financial resources will continue to constrain Caribbean states from achieving equitable and optimal results based on regional needs if left unaddressed.⁴⁶ Given the growing trend of regionalization within international negotiations, the role of CARICOM as a negotiating bloc within the INCs can pool resources together, support clearly defined positions,

⁴³ Harden-Davies, Harriet et al. "How can a new UN ocean treaty change the course of capacity building?." Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 32, no. 5 (2022): 907-912.
 ⁴⁴ UNEA Resolution 5/14 entitled End plastic pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument, adopted 10 May 2022, available online

<https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/39812/OEWG_PP_1_INF_1_UNEA%2 Oresolution.pdf1>

⁴⁵ See n. 4 above.

⁴⁶ See n. 3 above.

increase bargaining power, visibility and lower international negotiating costs among its member states.⁴⁷

Though long-term sustainable solutions are needed to address issues of human capacity and funding to support negotiations for Caribbean states, CARICOM demonstrated its ability to secure funding, build human capacity among its negotiators, engage stakeholders and develop a common position and negotiation strategy for its member states during the recent BBNJ negotiations, which were finalized in February 2023.⁴⁸ The historic BBNJ agreement saw a strong negotiation team on behalf of CARICOM. This comprised of representatives from the region's Permanent Missions to the UN and capital based experts supported by scientific and legal experts drawn from the regional institutions such as CRFM and UWI, with the CARICOM Secretariat providing technical, logistical and administrative support as needed.⁴⁹ During this time, its delegates not only participated in the BBNJ negotiations but also served as leads within key thematic areas of the treaty on behalf of CARICOM and its member states.⁵⁰ It is important to note that despite its success, during the BBNJ negotiations CARICOM still faced copious challenges with negotiator turnover and securing reliable consistent funding to support the critical participation of its delegates throughout the remainder of the negotiations.⁵¹

⁴⁷ See n. 4 above; Panke, Diana et al. "State and regional actors in complex governance systems: Exploring dynamics of international negotiations." The British Journal of Politics and International Relations 19, no. 1 (2017): 91-112.; See n. 3 above.

⁴⁸ See n. 3 above. ⁴⁹ See n. 2 above.

⁵⁰ CARICOM had Strong Team at ocean Biodiversity Treaty Negotiations, adopted on 23 March 2023, available online https://today.caricom.org/2023/03/10/caricom-had-strong-team-at-ocean-biodiversity-treaty-negotiations/?fbclid=lwAR3E1Hs-

SJAirVx9qIF9OINgd4rReYqCvbZ0QqRvEhODs-cmzPkE8P1M-ck> ⁵¹ See n.4 above.

With roughly 16 negotiating days (up to the time of writing) left to ambitiously complete treaty negotiations for the ILBI on plastic pollution, CARICOM and its member states will continue to face the same challenges if contextual barriers remain unaddressed. The risk of getting this on the political radar prior to 2024 for CARICOM member states looms, reducing critical time necessary for CARICOM to coordinate and prepare its member states for the negotiations, further increasing the likelihood of all member states not attending the remaining INC meetings. In this regard, attendance during the remaining INCs by its member states cannot stand alone as the sole metric of level of participation by CARICOM. In the interim of a political mandate being established for the INCs, functional cooperation between CARICOM and its member states, institutions and organizations will be required to organize its positions. For example, once CARICOM outlines its areas of priority for the treaty negotiations, member states can be briefed on them and for those states attending the INCs, the CARICOM Secretariat can furnish them with coordinating positions so that they are able to speak on behalf of the other member states. Additionally, member states in attendance would be able to disclose information on the state of discussions, trending directions of developed countries, areas of concerns, etc, which can be used to develop the CARICOM position. In the absence of CARICOM as a coordination mechanism for its member states, each country still has sovereign rights to pursue other goals that may not align with that of the CARICOM position. Further, should Caribbean SIDS belonging to CARICOM wish to align themselves with various groupings and blocs, AOSIS and Group of Latin America and Caribbean Countries (GRULAC) remain as options as they recognize the special circumstances and needs of SIDS to ensure that they have the capacity to contribute to the treaty's development and implementation.52

⁵² Opening Statement on behalf of the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) at the First Session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee to develop a legally binding instrument to end plastic pollution, including in the marine environment, adopted 27 November 2022, available online

Several weeks following the study interview, the CARICOM Secretariat made progressive steps toward coordination for INC-2 by way of the virtual preparatory meeting: Sav. No. 181/2023-Convening-CARICOM Meeting Preparatory to the INC-2 to Develop an International Legally Binding Instrument on Plastic Pollution, Virtual, 24 April 2023. Meeting participants included 8 member states, 2 regional and 2 international organizations.⁵³ Discussion points of the meeting included a) a detailed briefing on the impacts of plastic pollution, b) national, regional and international responses to the issue, c) a timeline of the plastics treaty negotiations, d) SIDS priorities in a global plastics regime, e) challenges and limitations facing SIDS and f) considerations needed leading into INC-2, up to the time of writing.54 The CARICOM Secretariat encouraged its member states to participate in the INC-2 meeting where possible and indicated that member states are calling for a political mandate to be established for the INCs. However, for any formal coordination to occur on CARICOMs behalf, meetings with ministers and HOG must be established to determine the extent and function of a coordination mechanism at this stage of the INCs. Additionally, the need for CARICOM to have its regional priorities outlined independent of AOSIS was suggested to ensure that the region's needs are adequately reflected in AOSIS's position and to support establishing CARICOMs negotiating bloc for the INCs.⁵⁵ Coordination activity was noted on behalf of UNEP-Caribbean Environment Project (UNEP-CEP), who have established and implemented various initiatives for marine plastic pollution in the Wider Caribbean Region (WCR). They are currently developing a regional appraisal of all marine plastic pollution data and relevant reports to support Caribbean delegations in building negotiating positions⁵⁶.

https://resolutions.unep.org/resolutions/uploads/all_statements_made_by_aosis_during_inc1.pdf; See n. 15 above.

⁵³ Author's Meeting Observations from CARICOM Meeting Preparatory to the INC-2 to Develop an International Legally Binding Instrument on Plastic Pollution, convened, 24 April 2023.

⁵⁴ See n. 49 above.

⁵⁵ See n. 49 above.

⁵⁶ See n. 49 above.

The Second Session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC-2), was held in Paris, France from May 29-June 2, 2023. Here the propulsion of negotiations increased based on discussions of the main proposed elements of the treaty.⁵⁷ CARICOM member state attendance for INC-2 in comparison to INC-1 was maintained as nine member states attended INC-2, one more than INC-1.58 During the meeting, Antigua and Barbuda was selected as vice chair and SIDS representative for the INC Bureau, whose role is to assist the chair with general conduct of business and discussions at the INC meetings along with approving draft provisional agendas for each session.⁵⁹ Such an appointment grants Caribbean SIDS an opportunity to liaise among each other as the information regarding the INCs are received from the UNEP INC Secretariat and President and shared among the Bureau, who then transfers pertinent information to their regional group for discussion.⁶⁰ Sharing of information occurred following INC-2 in June 2023, whereby the CARICOM Secretariat, in collaboration with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda as the SIDS Representative on the Bureau, convened Sav. No. 330/2023-CARICOM Debriefing Meeting Of The Second Session Of The Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC-2) To Develop An International Legally Binding Instrument On Plastic Pollution. Though absent from INC-2, CARICOM orchestrated this meeting for its member states to discuss the outcomes of INC-2 and continue technical discussions.⁶¹ Discussions regarding CARICOMs coordination and capacity needs for the third session of the intergovernmental negotiating committee (INC-3) and beyond,

⁵⁸ See n. 32 above; Provisional List of Participants. Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee to Develop An International Legally Binding Instrument on Plastic Pollution, Including in The Marine Environment-Second Session, adopted on 29 May 2023, available online

⁵⁷ Second Session INC-2, adopted on 29 May 2023, available online < https://www.unep.org/incplastic-pollution/session-2>

https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/42899/ListofParticipants.pdf> ⁵⁹ See n. 53 above.

⁶⁰ See n. 15 above.; See n. 53 above.

⁶¹ CARICOM Secretariat, pers. comm. (14 June 2023).

were discussed within the meeting.⁶² Here, the CARICOM Secretariat reiterated the need for member states to decide and formally declare if coordination on behalf of CARICOM for the INCs is something that is desired so that efforts towards prioritizing the event as an agenda item for its HOG's can be established.⁶³

CARICOM can serve as the coordination mechanism for its Caribbean SIDS for the global plastics treaty negotiations as they have the experience, expertise and a well-crafted model whereby its elements can be applied to the INC process. However, this process is not without its complexities as the INCs have convened in a relatively condensed time frame.⁶⁴ UNFCC COP 27, UNCBD COP 15 and BBNJ are well established negotiating forums that have been ongoing for decades, providing significant time for states to prepare and offering multiple funding opportunities to support training and attendance and substance to formulate robust positions based on the provisions of treaty text, which up to the time of writing has not yet been provided for the INCs. With climate change negotiations continuing in parallel to the INCs, priority in regard to preparation and coordination is given to that forum as CARICOM and its member states begin preparations for the climate COP at least nine months in advance of each meeting.⁶⁵ Scholars⁶⁶, argue that threats of both climate change and plastic pollution on Caribbean SIDS require prioritization and urgent action by its governments as both issues are fundamentally linked. For example, from its production to disposal, plastic contributes to greenhouse gas emissions and contrary to this extreme weather events

⁶² Author's Meeting Observations from CARICOM Debriefing Meeting of the Second Session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC-2) To Develop An International Legally Binding Instrument On Plastic Pollution, convened, 15 June 2023.

⁶³ See n. 58 above.

⁶⁴ See n. 15 above.

⁶⁵ See n. 57 above.

⁶⁶ See n. 15 above.

influenced by climate change are known to drive plastic debris into the marine environment.⁶⁷ However, adequate prioritization and coordination of the INC forum without sufficient human capacity and financial resources to support member state attendance will be inefficacious. Moving forward, CARICOM must determine what level of coordination is needed at this stage of the INCs to support its member states either through meetings, briefs or technical workshops. Collaboration with other regional organizations such as the OECS, which consists of states within the Eastern Caribbean, most of which are also members of CARICOM and UNEP-CEP, must be pursued. Such partnerships can support coordination activities, funding development and capacity building that aids in strengthening the policy making interface of MEA negotiations. Funding to support preparation and participation in this fora must also be identified and pursued by governments within member states to support the pooling of resources that uphold the negotiating bloc. Additionally, its negotiating positions must advocate for clearly defined capacity building, financing and monitoring schemes to be included within the treaty to support its implementation. CARICOMs notoriety as both an important and symbolic negotiating bloc for the region can serve as an ideal mechanism for advocating for its member states and influencing the multilateral processes of the INC to work in the regions favor. However, contextual issues that hinder its ability to participate in the treaty negotiations must be addressed in an effort to effectively participate in the negotiations. As discussions regarding coordination efforts have already begun between CARICOM and its member states, studies must continue towards documenting the challenges, limitations and successes that Caribbean SIDS may face throughout the INC negotiation process.

Acknowledgements

⁶⁷ Ford, Helen V. et al. "The fundamental links between climate change and marine plastic pollution." Science of the Total Environment 806 (2022): 150392.

Thank you to the CARICOM Secretariat for participating in this research. Gratitude is also extended to Professor Aleke Stöfen-O'Brien and Professor Clive Schofield for their supervision, revisions and support of this research and to Sarah Mahadeo for generously supporting the map production of this study and the Grace of God and our Lord Jesus Christ. Lastly, the authors would like to acknowledge the generous funding by The Nippon Foundation of the World Maritime University (WMU) - Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute as well as for The Nippon Foundation & WMU-Sasakawa Global Ocean Institute's 'Closing the Circle Programme: Marine Debris, Sargassum and Marine Spatial Planning' in the Eastern Caribbean.





Fig. 2. Thematic Framework for challenges faced in equitable participation (Ambrose and

Hassanali, 2023, under review).



Fig. 3.COP 27 vs INC-1 attendance by CARICOM Member States.



Fig. 4 Flowchart of Achieving Prioritization of Environmental Issues onto the CARICOM agenda.



Fig. 5 Flowchart of Formulating Negotiating Positions for CARICOM States Participating in Climate Change COPs.



Appendix

Appendix 1: Consent forms for participants



Dear Participant,

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this research questionnaire, which is being used in connection with a Dissertation which will be written by the PhD candidate, Kristal Ambrose in partial fulfilment of the requirements for her PhD in Maritime Affairs at the World Maritime University in Malmo, Sweden.

The topic of the Research is "Assessing Preparation and Participation of Caribbean Small Island Developing States in the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee's (INC's) negotiations to develop an international legally binding instrument on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment."

The information you provide during this interview will be used for research purposes, and the results will form part of a dissertation, which will be published online and made available to the public. Your personal information will not be published. You may withdraw from the research at any time, and your personal data will be immediately deleted.

Anonymised research data will be archived on a secure virtual drive linked to a World Maritime University email address. All the data will be deleted 10 years after the degree is awarded. Participation in this research is voluntary and unpaid.

Your participation in the interview is highly appreciated.

Student's name	Kristal Ambrose
Specialization	PhD Candidate in Maritime Affairs at WMU
Email address	w2005277@wmu.se

I consent to my personal data, as outlined above, being used for this study. I understand that all personal data relating to participants is held and processed in the strictest confidence, and will be deleted 10 years after the degree is awarded.

* * *

Name:	
Signature:	
Date:	

Appendix 2: Interview questions for INC-1

WMU-GOI Closing the Circle Programme

Semi-Structured Interviews For Marine Debris Governance PhD Research

Aim: In March 2022, United Nations member states adopted Resolution 5/14 End Plastic Pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument (INC) (UNEA 5/14), intended to combat plastic pollution with a global and legally binding plastics treaty by 2024. Informally known as the "Global Plastics Treaty", this instrument was designed to comprehensively address the full life cycle of plastic, potentially from production to disposal.

This research seeks to examine how equitable preparation and participation can be achieved for and by Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS) leading up to the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC's), negotiations towards an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) on plastics. This work will focus on *procedural equity*, which is concerned with inequities of negotiating powers of vulnerable communities and their right to participate in the decision making processes.

Interview Date: Interviewee Code:

Demographics

Name:

Gender:

Country of origin:

Organisation and role:

Have you attended a multilateral environmental meeting before? (Y/N)

If yes, please specify which.

Are you a part of your country's or a regional delegation for the upcoming negotiations towards an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) on plastics? (Y/N)

Questions

- 1. How would you conceptualise the term equity?
- 2. What would you consider as the main elements of equity?
- 3. What is your understanding of the role of procedural equity in international decision-making processes?
- 4. What challenges related to procedural equity do Caribbean SIDS face ahead of the upcoming negotiations towards an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) on plastics?
- 5. Can you specify the composition of a typical Caribbean delegation that would participate in the upcoming negotiations towards an ILBI on plastics, and the responsibilities of the delegates therein? For example, Ministry of Environment, lead negotiator...
- 6. What challenges may Caribbean delegations face when preparing for meetings such as the upcoming negotiations towards an ILBI on plastics?
- 7. Which current funding schemes, both internal (national) and/or external (international), exist to support Caribbean delegations participating in past and upcoming meetings and events related to the ILBI on plastics?
- 8. What type of negotiation training opportunities are available for delegates participating in meetings and events related to the ILBI on plastics?
- 9. What current stakeholder engagement activities have been undertaken either nationally or regionally to support the development of the national/ regional position leading up to the ILBI negotiations on plastics?
- 10. Is there anything you would like to add that may be relevant for the research project?
- 11. Has your delegation and or state prepared negotiation positions prior to INC-1?

Appendix 3: Interview questions for CARICOM Secretariat

WMU-GOI Closing the Circle Programme

Semi-Structured Interviews for Marine Debris Governance PhD Research

Aim: In March 2022, United Nations member states adopted Resolution 5/14 End Plastic Pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument (INC) (UNEA 5/14), intended to combat plastic pollution with a global and legally binding plastics treaty by 2024. Informally known as the "Global Plastics Treaty", this instrument was designed to comprehensively address the full life cycle of plastic, potentially from production to disposal.

In November 2022 the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC), commenced INC-1 negotiations towards an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) on plastics. With INC-2 on the horizon in May 2023 and three others to follow in the next two years, this research was designed to examine how equitable preparation and participation can be achieved for and by Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS) leading up to the INCs, and will assess Caribbean SIDS' involvement in the INC process. For this interview, I will examine your organisation's role in preparing for the Conference of Parties for Climate Change (COP 27) hosted in November 2022, to examine your approach to preparation and participation to the INC process. Additionally, I will be discussing the role of equity in Caribbean SIDS ability to prepare and participate in the forum.

Interview Date: Interviewee Code:

Demographics	

Name:

Gender:

Country of origin:

Organisation and role:

Have you attended a multilateral environmental meeting before? (Y/N)

Questions

- 1. What challenges related to equity has CARICOM and its member states faced in preparation for and participation in environmental intergovernmental negotiating meetings?
- 2. What are CARICOM's priority areas regarding environmental issues that affect its member states?
- 3. How are environmental issues prioritised among CARICOM's member states? For example, how do you ensure political capital or uptake of these issues?
- 4. How does CARICOM prioritise multilateral environmental agreement meetings among its member states?
 - a. How is political will for participation in these forums by member states measured?
- 5. Was CARICOM aware of the INC-1 negotiating meeting for the proposed global plastics treaty which was held in Uruguay in November 2022?
 - a. It was noted that CARICOM representation was absent along with a majority of its member states. What are some reasons for this?
 - b. Will there be representation by CARICOM at the INC-2 hosted in Paris in May 2023?
 - c. Is this forum being prioritised within CARICOM? If so, what are some barriers to promoting participation among member states?
 - d. Does CARICOM have a negotiating bloc for the COP 27? How does the bloc work?
 - e. What are some advantages of CARICOM acting as a negotiating bloc for Caribbean member states during the INC negotions?
- 6. What is the status of CARICOM's St. Johns Declaration on plastic pollution, and how may that support CARICOM and member state participation in the INCs?
- 7. There was significant representation from Caribbean SIDS and CARICOM during COP27 than for INC-1. Why do you think this is?
- 8. What level of political will was there among CARICOM member states participating in COP 27?
 - a. How was this made a priority among members?

- 9. Which broad negotiating positions on climate change were presented by CARICOM and its member states during COP 27?
 - a. How were these positions formulated?
 - b. What scientific research guided the positions?
- 10. Which preparation activities were used to prepare CARICOM and its member states for COP 27?
 - a. What current preparation activities exist within CARICOM to prepare member states for the INCs?
- 11. What stakeholder engagement activities were undertaken by CARICOM and its member states to prepare for COP 27?
 - a. Who were key stakeholders engaged leading into COP 27?
 - b. Are any stakeholder engagement activities currently being undertaken by CARICOM or its member states to prepare for the INC-2?
 - c. Which key stakeholders should be considered for the INC process?
- 12. What funding schemes, either internal (national) and/or external (international), supported CARICOM and Caribbean delegations participating in COP 27?
 - a. What are some of the funding challenges facing CARICOM and its member states related to attending MEA meetings?
 - b. What funding sources are available to support CARICOM and its member states to attend the INCs?
- 13. What type of negotiation training or capacity building opportunities were available for CARICOM and Caribbean delegates participating in COP 27 meetings?
 - a. How can this be applied to the INC process?